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Strategic Report 
The Directors present their Strategic Report on the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.  

Business Review              

Activities           

The principal activity of Ageas Insurance Limited (‘the Company’) is the provision of general insurance in the United Kingdom, 
with a small proportion written in the Channel Islands. The core products that are sold by the Company are: 

 Motor related insurance; and 
 Property related insurance. 

The Company adopts a multi-channel distribution model focusing on direct and intermediated channels, supported by 
technical excellence.   

Financial Performance during the year 

In these financial statements, the Company has applied IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts (‘IFRS 17’) and IFRS 9: Financial 
instruments (‘IFRS 9’) for the first time, which has resulted in significant changes compared to the previously applied 
accounting policies. Prior year comparatives have been restated where applicable and the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 
and IFRS 17 is detailed within note 2. 

Insurance revenue totalled £1,109.3m (2022: £1,159.6m) decreasing by 4.3% compared to 2022. This reflects the reduction 
in earned revenues following the sale of the Commercial Lines business in 2022. 

In the prior year, the Company announced the sale of its Commercial Lines business to AXA Insurance UK PLC (‘AXA’), 
recognising an initial consideration of £47.5m and contingent deferred consideration of £5m, realising a profit of £52.5m in 
2022. During 2023, the estimated net consideration receivable in respect of this transaction was reduced by £4.3m to £0.7m, 
which was received during the year. See note 9. 

Profit after tax for the year was £36.1m (2022 restated: profit of £47.0m, which includes the proceeds of the sale of the 
Commercial Lines business). During the year, the Company’s underlying result benefitted from increased competitiveness, 
favourable prior year claims movement and favourable returns on investments. 

Under its reinsurance agreements with ageas SA/NV, the ultimate parent holding company, the Company transfers 40% of 
both prior and future claim liabilities under a loss portfolio transfer (‘LPT’) agreement and quota share treaties. See note 32 
for further details. 

The Combined Operating Ratio (‘COR’) for 2023 was 96.2% (2022 restated: 99.2%). The improvement reflects a reduction 
in severe weather events from the previous year and lower expenses. 

Other Comprehensive Income (‘OCI’) reflects the movements in the defined benefit pension surplus net of tax, the change 
in fair value of financial assets and the change in fair value of insurance and reinsurance contracts. Remeasurements of the 
net defined benefit pension scheme assets and liabilities has led to a net negative contribution of £1.8m after tax to 
shareholders’ equity (2022: negative £12.9m) due to overall impact of yield curve movements and a reduction in inflation. 
The change in fair value of financial assets and insurance and reinsurance contracts saw an increase to shareholders’ equity 
of £11.9m after tax (2022 restated: a reduction of £26.0m) due to overall impact of yield curve movements and a tightening 
of credit spreads.  
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Strategic Report (continued) 
Key Financial Performance Indicators            

Key performance indicators have been reviewed and restated where applicable following the Company’s application of IFRS 
17: Insurance Contracts and IFRS 9: Financial instruments for the first time. 

The Board considers that the key indicators that will communicate the financial performance and strength of the Company 
are:  

 Shareholders’ equity 
 Insurance revenue 
 Profit/(loss) before taxation 
 Combined operating ratio 
 Return on equity   

 

2023  2022  Change 
£m  £m  % 

   Restated   

Shareholders’ equity 432.4 
 

386.2  
 

12.0 

Shareholders’ equity is the value of the Company’s assets minus its liabilities.  

 

2023  2022  Change 
£m  £m  % 

      

Insurance revenue 1,109.3 1,159.6  (4.3) 

Insurance revenue drives the size of the business, and reflect actions to ensure that business is underwritten at the 
appropriate rates for the risks undertaken.      

 

2023  2022  Change 
£m  £m  % 

   Restated   

Profit before taxation 48.1  61.0  (21.1) 

The Company aims to deliver sustainable profits over the insurance cycle by risk selection at appropriate rates, rigorous 
expense control and the delivery of superior customer service to its policyholders and intermediaries.  

 

2023  2022  Change 
%  %   

   Restated   

Combined operating ratio 96.2  99.2  (3.0) 

The combined operating ratio is a measure of the Company’s efficiency. It is calculated by combining a number of key 
performance indicators which include the total of incurred claims, commissions, expenses, other operating income and 
reinsurance, as a percentage of insurance revenue.   

 

2023  2022  Change 
%  %   

   Restated   

Return on equity  8.8   11.2   (2.4) 

The return on equity after tax is a key measure of the total return the Company generates for its shareholder. Return on 
equity is measured by taking the profit after tax over average shareholders' equity. 
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Strategic Report (continued)    
Year End Position 

Shareholders’ equity 

Shareholders’ equity increased in the year by £46.2m to £432.4m, from a restated opening position of £386.2m. This was 
driven by an increase in fair value of investments and insurance and reinsurance contracts of £11.9m (2022 restated: a 
reduction of £26.0m) and an increase in retained earnings of £34.1m (2022 restated: decrease of £42.2m) as a result of 
profit after tax in the year of £36.1m (2022 restated: profit of £47.0m). 

Assets 

Total assets have increased by £103.9m in the year to £2,789.7m (2022 restated: decrease of £364.9m). The increase has 
been driven by an increase in the fair value of financial assets and in other receivables, offset by a reduction in reinsurance 
contract assets. 

Liabilities  

Total liabilities have increased by £57.7m in the year to £2,357.3m (2022 restated: decrease of £296.6m) mainly as a result 
of an increase in insurance contract liabilities as a result of business growth. See note 21.  

Cash and cash equivalents and financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents have increased by £29.2m (2022: decrease of £0.4m). Financial assets have increased by 
£69.3m (2022 restated: decrease of £177.2m) following an increase in the fair value of investments. Debt securities are liquid 
and can be converted to cash in a normal market at short notice. Financial assets valued at fair value through profit or loss 
can be converted to cash subject to the fund manager’s terms and conditions on notice. 

Non-Financial and Sustainability Information Statement   

Following the implementation of The Companies (Strategic Report) (Climate-Related Financial Disclosures) Regulations 
2022, which amended sections 414C, 414CA and 414CB of the Companies Act 2006, Ageas Insurance Limited is required 
to provide additional disclosures regarding climate change related risks and opportunities, the following disclosures have 
been included for the first time.  

The following section outlines the key non-financial matters of the Company: 

Climate Related Risks and Opportunities 

The Ageas UK Boards (which includes the Board of Ageas Insurance Limited) are responsible for perpetuating the long term, 
sustainable success of the Ageas UK companies, and has ultimate oversight of climate change related risks and 
opportunities. In addition to considering the impact of Ageas UK companies on the environment, the Ageas UK Boards also 
consider the impact of climate change on the business, specifically within the context of Ageas UK strategy and risk 
management, including supporting policies. The Ageas UK Boards are supported by a number of committees including the 
Ageas UK Board Risk Committee, Investment Committee, Reinsurance Committee and Remuneration Committee. 
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Strategic Report (continued)           
Non-Financial and Sustainability Information Statement (continued) 

In February 2022 the Ageas UK 2022-2024 Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG’) strategy and supporting targets 
were approved by the Ageas UK Boards, which sought to ensure ESG considerations are integral to the way the Company 
works, including by ensuring we have robust governance measures in place, deliver the best possible service and products 
for Ageas customers, reduce the impact of the Company on the environment and supporting employees and communities. 
The Ageas UK Boards oversee implementation of the ESG strategy on a quarterly basis by tracking progress against an 
ESG scorecard. In addition, the Ageas UK Boards, supported by the Board Risk Committee, set risk appetite in respect of 
climate related risks, approving the Ageas Insurance Limited (‘AIL’) Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (‘ORSA’) report, 
which includes the consideration of climate related risks, alongside the forward looking risk and capital assessment of the 
Ageas UK strategy and plans, together with supporting stress and scenario analysis. 

Senior Management from across the Ageas UK business have different ESG related responsibilities, whereby the Ageas UK 
Boards have allocated responsibility for managing climate change financial risks to the Chief Underwriting Officer who, 
throughout 2023, reported on ESG related matters to the Boards on a quarterly basis. To support him with the discharge of 
responsibilities he attended the People & ESG Forum, which oversees and supports the implementation of the ESG Strategy 
set by the Ageas UK Boards, together with an ESG Working Group established to co-ordinate ESG activities across the 
business. In addition, the Ageas UK Chief Financial Officer, supported by the Ageas UK Investment Committee, is 
responsible for investments, which includes responsible investment and climate change considerations. 

The Ageas UK Boards are supported by the Risk Function, whereby assessment of climate related risks and opportunities 
have been integrated into the overall approach to risk management, with the output reported to Executive and Board Risk 
committees and incorporated within the ORSA report. The Risk Function also supports the production of an Emerging Trends 
report that is provided to the Board Risk Committee bi-annually, providing the latest view of the matters that could impact the 
business on a 0-3 year; 3-5 year; more than 5 year basis, and the changing environmental landscape and the impact on the 
business incorporated. During 2023, the Ageas UK Board Risk Committee also received focussed sessions on Weather & 
Climate risks and also on Investments, where further details of the approach taken to ensure ESG investment targets are 
met were provided. 

As a General Insurance group, Ageas UK has limited involvement in activities that give rise to substantial direct emissions, 
with the bigger potential climate change impact being through the delivery of general insurance products, and by seeking to 
introduce products that encourage environmentally responsible actions by Ageas UK customers. From a risk perspective, 
the general adoption of annual insurance policies means Ageas UK is able to adjust portfolios in response to climate changes. 
The primary insurance impacts are therefore expected to be: 

 Physical Risks – risks arising from the physical effects of climate change; and 

 Transition Risks – risks arising from a transition to a low-carbon economy. 

The primary physical risk to the Company arises from higher than expected losses because of climate driven changes in the 
frequency and/or severity of weather events. In addition, a high prevalence of future physical risk has the potential to 
adversely impact on reinsurance market capacity, affecting the availability and/or pricing of reinsurance.  

The primary transition risks to the Company arise through strategic risk, as the transition could lead to a fall in demand for 
traditional motor insurance products and services; and investment risk, with the transition leading to volatile asset values, 
credit rating, and default activity. 

The ongoing execution of Ageas UK’s wider ESG strategy serves as the over-riding mitigation to climate risk. The importance 
of understanding and managing climate impacts is recognised and therefore climate risk considerations have been 
incorporated into our decision-making, for example by actively seeking to innovate Ageas products to support a climate-
resilient future and a commitment to growing profitably through ethical and responsible investments that support a sustainable 
future. 
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Strategic Report (continued)           
Non-Financial and Sustainability Information Statement (continued) 

We recognise that with the risks posed by climate change, there are also significant opportunities that could ultimately impact 
the future success of the business, examples of which include:   

  The introduction of initiatives to improve sustainability, strengthen resilience and reduce reoccurrence (e.g., through 
supporting the Build Back Better initiative, a ‘repair over replace’ philosophy, and an award-winning green parts 
programme). 

  The potential to develop new products and grow our existing product offering which supports the transition to a low 
carbon economy by incentivising climate-positive behavioural change (e.g. use of electric/hybrid vehicles, pay-per-
mile and telematics). 

  Increasing exposure to a wider range of ‘positive impact investments’ which support the transition (e.g. sustainable 
infrastructure equity and certified real estate funds with a high Global Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark (GRESB) 
rating). 

In recognition of the importance of understanding and managing climate impacts, the Company has undertaken stress and 
scenario analysis to help better understand the impacts of climate change on AIL assets and liabilities over an extended time 
horizon. The scenario analysis undertaken has involved considering various climate pathways based on a different range of 
global mean temperature increases over the 21st century, resulting in a varying degree of physical and transition risk, and 
the outcomes shared with the Ageas UK Board Risk Committee and the Ageas UK Boards. 

It is not considered that climate related physical or transitional risks will pose a material threat to the Company’s solvency 
and therefore, the Directors do not consider that it is necessary for an understanding of the Company’s business to include 
here a description of the actual or potential impacts on the business model and strategy, or their resilience, under different 
climate related scenarios, or the targets or key performance indicators used. Further details of the Company’s energy use 
and associated greenhouse gas emissions have been included on page 14. 

Employees 

For an overview of employee numbers and how the Company engages with its employees, see the Report of the Directors 
on pages 11 to 15. 

Human rights 

The respect for human rights, as described in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights of the United Nations of 1948, is a 
condition for maintaining a sustainable society. The Company applies the relevant human rights principles in relationships 
with employees and suppliers and acknowledges responsibility for promoting the application of human rights whenever the 
Company, as a private enterprise, is in a position to make a meaningful contribution to this cause. 

Social matters 

The Company instils a culture which is inclusive and supports diversity, which is essential to the long-term success of the 
business and better enables the Company to respond to customer and wider stakeholder needs. This is reflected in the 
Company’s diversity and inclusion strategy and policy, which applies to the Company as a whole. Further details are given 
in the Report of the Directors on pages 11 to 15. 

Anti-corruption and anti-bribery 

The Company’s reputation as a market leading insurer is important to the directors and is maintained and enhanced by 
proper business conduct. The Company operates a policy of zero-tolerance to any form of bribery or corruption whether 
through direct or indirect contact with third parties. The appropriate policy defines this stance in accordance with the Bribery 
Act 2010 and Financial Conduct Authority ('FCA') requirements to avoid any acceptance or offering of bribes or sales 
inducements. 



Ageas Insurance Limited 
Company registration number 354568 

7 

Strategic Report (continued)           
Non-Financial and Sustainability Information Statement (continued) 

The Company has procedures in place to ensure ongoing compliance with the policies referenced above. Adherence to the 
policies and applicable legislation and guidance is monitored by Ageas UK’s Compliance department. 

Section 172(1) statement    

The Ageas UK directors continue to be aware of and attentive to all of their duties and responsibilities, including those as set 
out under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006, when setting and embedding Ageas UK’s culture and values in line with 
its purpose to ‘Understand People + Simplify Insurance’. The Ageas UK Boards (including the Board of Ageas Insurance 
Limited) recognises that the long-term success of the Company is only possible through engagement with, and having regard 
to, the interests of key stakeholders, which for Ageas UK includes customers, employees, shareholders, suppliers, the 
community, environment, and regulators. 

The Ageas UK Boards’ role is to perpetuate the long term, sustainable success of the Ageas UK business; providing strategic 
leadership within a framework of prudent and effective controls, setting the strategy, ensuring the direction and performance 
of the business is aligned to Ageas Group objectives, that obligations to all stakeholders are understood and met, including 
through the delivery of good customer outcomes. A range of mechanisms have been established to support directors in the 
discharge of their duties, and for each matter which comes before the Boards, stakeholders who may be affected and their 
interests, are carefully considered as part of the decision-making process. Further detail has been incorporated within the 
Corporate Governance and Stakeholder Engagement statements set out in this report and in the Report of the Directors on 
pages 11 to 15.  

Corporate Governance Statement 

Ageas UK considers a strong culture of corporate governance and ethical behaviour is fundamental to the way it does 
business, and therefore a governance framework that complies with the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for Large 
Private Companies (Wates Principles) has been adopted by the Ageas UK Boards. An Ageas UK Governance Manual has 
been established which incorporates these principles, together with those as set out within the PRA Rulebook, the FCA 
Handbook and the UK Corporate Governance code (where relevant), which explains how these principles are reflected in 
the organisation and operations of the Ageas UK businesses. The corporate governance framework is reviewed at least 
annually by the Ageas UK Boards to confirm that governance arrangements remain effective.  

The Company complies with the Wates Principles as follows: 

Principle one: Purpose and Leadership    

The purpose of Ageas UK is to ‘Understand People + Simplify Insurance’. The Ageas UK Boards develop and promote this 
purpose, and ensure that its vision, values, strategy, and culture align with it. This purpose, as well as the Ageas Group wide 
values of ‘Care, Dare, Deliver and Share’, form the basis of the Ageas UK Strategy set by the Ageas UK Boards and are 
embedded into Ageas UK’s way of working. The purpose and values underpin Ageas UK’s strategy to have ‘a sharp focus 
to deliver better results, with brilliant service where it matters’. Details have been cascaded to employees by the UK Executive 
Team at a series of employee briefings, with functional and individual priorities and objectives aligned to the values and 
strategy, and recognition schemes reflecting the values and these strategic priorities. 

The Ageas UK Boards set the tone from the top, they have articulated the desired culture within the Ageas UK values & 
behaviours framework and the UK strategy, and act in a manner consistent with this framework, including building positive 
relationships with all stakeholders. Formal responsibility for leading the development of culture, and for overseeing the 
adoption of Ageas UK’s culture on a day-to-day basis has been apportioned by the Ageas UK Boards to the Chair and CEO, 
with quarterly reports providing information to support oversight. 
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Strategic Report (continued)     
Principle two: Board Composition   

Ageas UK is committed to attracting and retaining Boards of Directors whose composition reflects a diversity of backgrounds, 
skills, knowledge, abilities, and experience necessary for the Boards to be effective, including the appointment of 
Independent Non-Executive Directors (‘INEDs’) with the capacity and capabilities to make a valuable contribution, and 
provide independent and informed challenge both from an external perspective (via INEDs) and from an Ageas Group 
perspective (via Ageas Group Executive and Non-Executive Directors). Appointments are based on merit, and also consider 
diversity and the mix of skills required. A copy of the Ageas UK Boards’ diversity and inclusion statement is available on the 
Ageas UK website (www.ageas.co.uk) and further information regarding Ageas’ approach to diversity and inclusion can be 
found in the Stakeholder Engagement statements on page 11. The current composition of the Ageas Insurance Limited 
Board is set out on page 1. 

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chair of the Boards and the CEO, whereby the Chair is responsible 
for the leadership of the Boards, and the CEO is responsible for the day-to-day leadership of the business operations. The 
Chair is an INED and has a pivotal role in setting the Boards’ cultural tone, facilitating positive behaviours, and creating the 
conditions for the overall effectiveness of the Boards and individual directors. 

A formal review and assessment of the performance of the Board and its directors is undertaken on a regular basis. Having 
undertaken externally facilitated Board performance reviews for the last three years, in 2023 an internal Board effectiveness 
assessment was performed that confirmed the Ageas UK Boards continue to be well functioning, with some identified 
opportunities for further improvement that are being tracked through an action plan agreed with the Boards. 

Ageas UK is committed to the ongoing professional development of the Board, and the training and the development needs 
of each director are regularly reviewed. To support Board development, a series of focus sessions are organised throughout 
the year and directors engage with all training opportunities provided. 

Principle three: Director Responsibilities    

The decision-making framework within Ageas UK is defined by the Ageas UK Boards using high-level parameters agreed 
with Ageas Group. It reflects the principle of delegated authority based on competence and appropriate mechanisms and 
triggers for escalation. The framework is a tiered approach with ultimate authority in the UK resting with the Ageas UK Boards. 
Guiding principles have been established by the Ageas UK Boards within the Ageas UK Governance Manual, and roles and 
responsibilities are clearly articulated in the Boards’ Terms of Reference. The Boards delegate authority to certain key 
governance committees and the scope and responsibilities of each committee is set out in separate Terms of Reference 
which are agreed by the Boards. 

The corporate governance framework also operates effectively through individuals fulfilling their responsibilities. These are 
outlined within specific job descriptions, role profiles and the Ageas UK Management Responsibilities Map. Accountabilities 
are further recorded within policies and processes where relevant. 

The Ageas UK Boards receive timely, accurate, complete, and relevant management information, in a form and of a quality 
appropriate to enable it to discharge its duties. In particular, the Board receives a balanced and understandable assessment 
of the Company’s performance, strategic position, stakeholders, and prospects consistent with the values and standards set. 
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Strategic Report (continued)      
Principle four: Opportunity and Risk    

The role of the Ageas UK Boards is to perpetuate the long term, sustainable success of the Ageas UK business. Ageas UK 
strategy is set by the Boards, balancing entrepreneurship with sound control and risk management.   

The Ageas UK Boards are supported by the Board Risk Committee, which is comprised of INEDs and a Group Executive 
Director. This Committee assists the Boards in fulfilling their responsibilities for the oversight of the adequacy and 
effectiveness of risk governance and the capital allocation models and, in particular, the risk profile relative to the risk appetite 
determined by the Ageas UK Boards. The Committee reports to the Ageas UK Boards on its activities, and the principal risks 
and uncertainties have been documented within the strategic report 

Ageas UK is organised within a ‘three lines of defence’ model of operation consistent with that established across the Ageas 
Group. Management and staff within each Ageas UK function have the primary responsibility for owning and managing risks 
(first line of defence). Oversight of the effective operation of the internal control framework is supported by the Risk 
Management and Compliance functions (second line of defence). The third line of defence is provided via independent 
verification and challenge of the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal risk and control management framework by the 
Internal Audit Function. Both the Audit Committee and the Board Risk Committee oversee the adequacy and effectiveness 
of internal controls, receiving reports from the Risk Management, Compliance and Internal Audit Functions and track actions.  

Principle five: Remuneration    

The Ageas UK Boards have established a Remuneration Committee, comprised of Group Executive and Non-Executive 
Directors, to consider and ensure that the framework and arrangements that govern the remuneration of the executive and 
senior management are appropriate, transparent, and aligned with Ageas UK’s long term business strategy, risk appetite 
and values. The Terms of Reference of the Remuneration Committee make it clear that the pay and employment conditions 
of all Ageas UK employees and the delivery of good customer outcomes is considered when reviewing the structure of the 
Executive remuneration package. Employees of work level 6 and above are invited to participate in the Ageas Group Share 
Linked Incentive Plan.  

Principle six: Stakeholder Relationships and Engagement    

The Ageas UK Boards have a responsibility to set and maintain a culture, values and standards that have customers at the 
heart of how the Company’s business is conducted and to ensure that the Company’s obligations to its shareholders and 
other stakeholders, including customers, employees, suppliers, the community, the environment, and regulators, are 
understood and met. 

A range of mechanisms have been established to support directors in the discharge of their duties and obligations to key 
stakeholders are understood and met, and further detail, including the Company’s approach to diversity and inclusion, and 
environmental social and governance matters has been included within the Stakeholder Engagement statements on pages 
11 to 15.   
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Strategic Report (continued)       
Strategic direction    

During 2023, the Ageas UK Executive continued to execute the three-year strategy set by the Ageas UK Boards in 2021. 
Regular updates as to the progress of the strategy are reported to and considered by the Ageas UK Boards quarterly. The 
strategic purpose of the Company is aligned to that of the Ageas UK Group, which is to Understand People + Simplify 
Insurance, this is supported by focusing on four key areas:   

 Competing where we can win 
Ageas remains committed to becoming market leaders in Broker and Direct personal lines insurance. 
 

 Maximising Commercial Value 
Ageas continues to apply sharp focus to everything we do, reinvesting in efficiencies to sharpen our competitive 
position.  
 

 Investing in the Best 
Ageas is committed to investing in key areas and technologies to support the business growth ambitions. 
 

 Pride in Low Cost 
As well as investing, Ageas continues to build genuine pride in being a truly low-cost business by working and buying 
smarter.  

Principal risks and uncertainties      

The Company has identified the following principal risks and uncertainties:    

 Inflation; 
 Insurance; 
 Regulation; 
 Market; 
 Credit;  
 Liquidity; 
 Operational; 
 Sustainability and climate change; 
 Pension; and  
 Capital management. 

A review of these principal risks and uncertainties and the way in which they are managed is detailed in note 4 to the financial 
statements, and details regarding climate related risks are provided on pages 4 to 6. In addition, details of energy and carbon 
emissions in connection with Ageas UK activity has been provided on page 14. 

This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 4 April 2024 and signed on behalf of the board by:  

 

Jonathan Price 
Chief Financial Officer 
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Report of the Directors     
The directors submit their report, together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.   

Results   

The results of the Company are contained in the financial statements on pages 17 to 101. The 2023 profit before tax was 
£48.1m (2022: £61.0m restated following the adoption of IFRS 17: Insurance contracts. See note 2 for further information). 

Business review and future direction 

The business review and future direction of the Company is set out in the Strategic Report on pages 2 to 10.   

Dividends   

The Company did not declare or pay dividends during the year (2022: £76.3m).   

Use of financial instruments   

Further information on the Company's risk management process and the policies for mitigating certain risks are set out in 
note 4.  

Directors   

The Members of the Board are shown on page 1. All directors served throughout the year and to the date of this report except 
as highlighted on page 1.   

Employees   

The average number of persons employed in the United Kingdom by the Company during the year was 1,830 (2022: 1,898). 
The full-time equivalent number of employees adjusted for part time staff was 1,719 (2022: 1,784). Their annual aggregate 
remuneration was £79.5m (2022: £77.8m). An analysis is shown in note 28.   

Stakeholder Engagement Statements   

Ageas UK Shareholder, ageas SA/NV   

Given ageas SA/NV’s 100% ownership of the Company, the promotion of the long-term success of Ageas UK, including the 
development of a clear UK purpose and strategy, is fully aligned to and supportive of Ageas SA/NV’s strategy, Impact24. 
During 2023, Ageas SA/NV was represented on the Ageas UK Boards by Ageas Group Executive and Non-Executive 
Directors.  

Customers, Brokers and Partners and Suppliers     

Customers are at the heart of how Ageas UK’s business is conducted, supported by its purpose which is set by the Boards 
and articulated with the Ageas UK Strategy. During the year the Ageas UK Boards, supported by the Board appointed 
Consumer Duty Champion (an INED), focussed on ensuring the FCA’s Consumer Duty was properly embedded across the 
business and approved an assessment that confirmed the Company to be delivering good outcomes for customers. 

Ageas UK maintained the Institute of Customer Service ‘Service Mark’ accreditation in 2023 having continued to uphold 
customer satisfaction scores above the all-sector average. As part of Ageas UK’s ongoing relationship with the Institute of 
Customer Service, the Ageas UK CEO spoke at an All-party Parliamentary Group for customer service, discussing the role 
of customer service in retail finance, and how organisations like Ageas UK were supporting positive customer outcomes.  

To support oversight, quarterly customer reporting continued to be provided to the Ageas UK Boards, and Board Members 
have participated in a customer immersion programme throughout the year, which has provided them the opportunity to 
experience first-hand the experience of Ageas UK customers. Output from the sessions, together with customer metrics and 
feedback had been incorporated into Board discussions that ultimately shaped Ageas UK strategy. 
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Report of the Directors (continued)   
Customers, Brokers and Partners and Suppliers (continued)   

Several initiatives were implemented throughout 2023 to improve the customer experience and to ensure customers 
continued to receive good outcomes. The Board received regular updates on actions being undertaken by a Weather 
Taskforce, established by the business to proactively support Ageas customers before, during and after severe weather 
events, including enhanced customer communications and digital capabilities. A new Ageas Care programme was also 
launched during 2023 that aimed to strengthen existing practices and processes for vulnerable customers who may require 
additional, tailored support when managing their insurance. The Ageas UK Boards also oversaw the deployment of the 
customer digital transformation programme, increasing online functionality, making it easier for Ageas customers to manage 
their insurance policies as they choose.  

Ageas UK’s relationships with brokers and intermediaries are fundamental to its distribution, because over 80% of business 
is conducted through this channel. A focus of the Ageas UK strategy continues to be to grow personal lines business via 
brokers and, throughout 2023, the Ageas UK Boards were provided with details of the new arrangements established in 
support of the strategy. To support broker engagement and to understand their experiences working with Ageas, a feedback 
tool ‘Your Platform’ has been provided to them, and the high-level results shared with the Ageas UK Boards. 

Ageas UK uses a wide variety of suppliers. Like most large businesses, it engages with suppliers to support the provision of 
core business activities (e.g. IT), the supply of commodities or maintenance service contracts. As an insurer we also engage 
with suppliers of goods and repair services when customers’ property has been lost or damaged, and medical and assistance 
services when customers have suffered accident or injury. Ageas UK is committed to high standards of business conduct 
and has policies and procedures in place to define the way in which Ageas wants to do business and the standards of 
conduct required. During 2023, suppliers were asked to complete a questionnaire which sought to understand whether their 
environmental, societal and governance standards were aligned to those of Ageas UK. 

Employee engagement   

Attracting, developing, retaining and engaging our people is central to our success as a business, enabling Ageas UK to 
achieve its strategy by building ‘Podium People’. Throughout 2023 the Ageas UK Boards have overseen a number of 
activities that have sought to: develop a strong people culture, drive engagement, commitment and strong leadership; create 
a positive working environment in which people have the tools and resources to give their best; grow and attract strong 
technical skills and capabilities; and improve efficiency and effectiveness.  

The Ageas UK Boards receive a quarterly ‘People and Property’ report from the HR Director that provides a summary of the 
key developments and activities; and they are kept apprised of the feedback from employees via ‘Peakon’ the digital 
employee engagement tool which enabled the business to monitor employee sentiment on a real time basis and respond 
accordingly. A focus session on People strategy was provided to the Ageas UK Boards, providing an opportunity to 
understand in greater depth the actions being taken to respond to a more challenging external labour market and to improve 
employee experience. In response to employee feedback and market analysis, in 2023 the Ageas UK Boards oversaw the 
implementation of an enhanced employee reward proposition, with the aim of strengthening the employee proposition and 
to support employees through the cost-of-living crisis. 

Board directors have participated in a number of employee events throughout the year, including leadership events, 
employee townhalls, strategic briefings and attendance at the Employee Forum, with the direct engagement providing them 
with vital insight into the culture of the Company. The Employee Forum has continued to perform an important role supporting 
the engagement of employees, attended by the Ageas UK CEO and HR Director, it provides an opportunity for employees 
to raise questions and concerns directly with Board directors and facilitates the escalation and cascade of key messages, 
from and to the Executive team and the Ageas UK Boards. In addition, the Chair of the Remuneration Committee, an INED, 
is invited to attend the Employee Forum, and to meet the Chair of the Forum, an employee, without the Executive present, 
in order to enhance further engagement between the Ageas UK Boards and employees.  
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Report of the Directors (continued)   
Employee engagement (continued) 

To reinforce a strong people culture, Ageas UK continues to provide employees with timely and regular communications 
issued via a digital platform ‘Viva Engage’, whilst an online ‘People Hub’ provides online learning and development tools. 
Health and wellbeing of our people has continued to be a priority throughout 2023, with campaigns focussing on financial, 
physical, and mental wellbeing. The Ageas UK Boards have also received details of the actions being taken to invest in the 
talent and skills across the business, specifically through the building of technical excellence, supporting career mobility and 
the deployment of apprenticeships in key business areas. Employee engagement scores remained positive throughout 2023, 
with Ageas UK certified as a Top Employer by the Top Employer Institute for the second year and rated a 5* employer by 
the Insurance Post following a voluntary survey of industry wide employees.   

Ageas UK has established and promotes a culture where employees have the confidence and ability to raise their concerns. 
The Ageas UK Boards approved a ‘Speak Up’ policy and process, providing clear principles and guidance on the action to 
take in the event of bullying, harassment, or victimisation or in the event of a financial crime such as Internal Fraud, Money 
Laundering or if Data Theft was identified. Ageas Directors and managers have a responsibility to ensure that mechanisms 
are in place to encourage such concerns to be raised and any wrongdoing dealt with. The Chair of the Audit Committee has 
responsibility for the maintenance of the independence, autonomy and effectiveness of Ageas UK whistleblowing policies 
and procedures; he reported to the Ageas UK Boards and Audit Committee in 2023 stating his view that the systems and 
controls in place were satisfactory. 

Diversity and Inclusion     

The Company is committed to a culture which is inclusive and supports diversity, helping Ageas achieve the combined 
purpose to Understand People + Simplify Insurance. Recruitment, promotion, career development, selection for training and 
all other aspects of people management are regularly reviewed and monitored to ensure they are free from discrimination, 
including all protected characteristics as set out in the Equality Act 2010. The Ageas UK Boards have set the policies and 
standards within which the Company will operate, and the Boards’ approach to diversity and inclusion is monitored regularly.  

An inclusion steering group known as ‘Momentum’, chaired by the Ageas UK CEO, has been established comprising senior 
representatives from each area of the business who are held accountable for progress against the diversity targets. During 
2023, the Ageas UK Boards received regular updates on progress to deliver the inclusion plan which included: meeting the 
Women in Finance target of 40% women in senior management, receiving Disability Confident Leader status; and 
undertaking a deep dive review to understand the experiences of ethnic minority applicants and employees with a view to 
improving overall representation. 

The gender pay gap report is provided to the Ageas UK Boards annually, together with progress against agreed targets. 
Since 2021, Ageas UK has published data on ethnicity, disability and LGBTQIA+ pay gaps, as well as the gender pay gap.  

Ageas UK policies and standards are aligned to legislation relating to discrimination in employment, including the employment 
of people with disabilities. Ageas UK has continued to focus on raising awareness of autism in partnership with GAIN, an 
organisation working across the insurance industry, and has run several educational sessions for employees. Employees 
with disabilities are treated fairly and can compete on equal terms for career progression, an applicant with a disability who 
meets the minimum criteria is guaranteed an interview. Ageas UK is committed to continuing the employment of, and for 
arranging training for, employees who have become disabled while employed by Ageas. 

Community and Environment   

Details on the identification, process and governance arrangements of the Company in relation to ESG oversight, specifically 
climate-related risks and opportunities, have been included within the Non-Financial and Sustainability Information Statement 
on page 4. In terms of the wider society, the Ageas UK Boards receive quarterly updates on progress against the ESG 
strategy and associated targets, together with updates on the environmental and community initiatives undertaken by the 
Company, such as the green parts initiative to make the repair of vehicles more sustainable. This award-winning initiative 
reduced plastic and metal waste, giving a second life to car parts that would have otherwise been scrapped, whilst alleviating 
supply chain challenges. Ageas UK also continued to support the ‘Build Back Better’ scheme, designed to help those most 
at risk from flooding by offering homeowners the chance to have good resistance and resilience measures installed if their 
home had been damaged by flood waste. 
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Report of the Directors (continued) 
Community and Environment (continued) 

The Company supports a ‘Charity of the Year’ as nominated by the employees which, for 2023, continued to be the Air 
Ambulance UK, whereby employees raised funds through sponsorship, fundraising and donations. Ageas UK also agreed 
to match employee donations made to the Disaster Emergency Committee appeal in response to earthquakes in Turkey and 
Syria. Employees are also supported to help the community, with paid absence available for staff choosing to volunteer, with 
a significant increase in volunteering reported to the Ageas UK Boards, following a change in volunteering policy.  

Following the implementation of the Companies (Directors’ Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon 
Reporting) Regulations 2018 (the Regulations), which resulted in additional disclosures for quoted companies and new 
disclosures for all large unquoted companies and large LLPs, the Company is required to disclose its energy and carbon 
emissions in the year. 

The following table shows the Company’s energy use and associated greenhouse gas emissions: 

 
  2023 

 
2022 

Energy consumption in kilowatt hours (‘kWh’)   4,308,000  5,055,000 

Total gross emissions in metric tonnes of carbon dioxide 
equivalent (‘tCO2e’)   292.6  310.4 

Intensity metric   0.15  0.16 

 
The 2022 energy consumption in kWh has been restated to include scope 2 emissions in line with the total gross emissions 
in metric tCO2e. 

UK energy use covers the Company’s consumption of electricity and gas across all office sites, together with energy 
consumed through reimbursed company mileage and pool cars. Total emissions have been calculated using the latest 
applicable UK Government emission conversion factors for greenhouse gas reporting. 

Ageas UK continues to investigate opportunities to reduce energy consumption. Through monitoring office occupancy, 
workspaces have been consolidated to occupy less floor space and enabling reduced run-times of plant equipment and 
lighting in unused office areas. In addition, through migrating services to the cloud we have consolidated our data centre 
activity and continue to adjust the levels of cooling as demand increases. 

All emissions are from the UK. 

The Company is required to calculate and disclose an intensity metric. The intensity metric has been calculated as the tCO2e 
per employee.  
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Report of the Directors (continued)   
Regulatory  

The Company and the Ageas UK Boards maintain an open and constructive dialogue with the PRA and FCA alongside the 
provision of routine regulatory reporting. Throughout 2023 we maintained regular contact with the PRA and FCA, including 
in relation to the progress of Consumer Duty implementation, our response to inflation, and updates on operational resilience 
activities.   

Donations   

No political donations (2022: £Nil) were made during the year. The Company made charitable donations of £21,683 in the 
year (2022: £122,850). 

Disclosure of information to auditor   

Each of the persons who are directors at the date of approval of this report confirm that, so far as each director is aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor are unaware; and each director has taken all the steps 
that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the Company’s auditor are aware of that information.   

Independent Auditors  

Pursuant to section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and BDO LLP will therefore 
continue in office. 

 
This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 4 April 2024 and signed on behalf of the board by: 

 

 

Jonathan Price 
Chief Financial Officer 
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the 
financial statements 
 
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and regulation. 
  
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have 
prepared the financial statements in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards and the requirements 
of the Companies Act 2006. 
  
Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing the 
financial statements, the directors are required to: 
 

 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
 state whether applicable international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 

2006 have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 
 make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company 

will continue in business. 
 
The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
  
The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. 
  
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
For the year ended 31 December 2023           

               Note 2023  2022 

                £m £m 

                Restated 

Insurance revenue  1,109.3 1,159.6 

Insurance service expense 5 (926.5) (1,114.7) 

Net result from reinsurance contracts 6 (111.6) (9.1) 

Insurance service result  71.2 35.8 

Net investment income 7 38.9 19.8 

Insurance finance income/(expenses) from insurance contracts issued  (38.0) (19.8) 

Reinsurance finance income/(expenses) from reinsurance contracts held  20.2 11.2 

Net insurance finance result 8 (17.8) (8.6) 

Net finance result  21.1 11.2 

Net insurance and finance result  92.3 47.0 

Other income and charges  1.0 2.1 

Other operating expenses 10 (29.6) (33.3) 

Other finance costs 11 (11.3) (7.3) 

Total other income and expenses  (39.9) (38.5) 

(Loss)/profit on sale of line of business 9  (4.3) 52.5 

Profit before tax  48.1 61.0 

Tax income/(expense) 12 (12.0) (14.0) 

Profit for the year  36.1 47.0 

Other comprehensive income      

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss      

Debt securities - net change in fair value   33.0 (82.4) 

Debt securities - reclassified to profit or loss 7  (0.1) - 

Related tax 12  (7.1) 18.8 

                   

Net finance (expense)/income from insurance contracts 8  (37.4) 241.6 

Net finance income/(expense) from reinsurance contracts held  8  19.6 (192.0) 

Related tax 12  3.9 (12.0) 

                 11.9 (26.0) 

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss      

Remeasurements of defined benefit pension scheme 30  (2.7) (19.8) 

Related tax 12  0.9 6.9 

                 (1.8) (12.9) 

Other comprehensive income/(expense), net of tax   10.1 (38.9) 

Total comprehensive income   46.2 8.1 

 

The notes on pages 21 to 101 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
                    

Further details on the restatement required upon adoption of IFRS 17 are included in note 2. 
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Statement of financial position      

As at 31 December 2023     1-Jan 
             Note  2023  2022  2022 
               £m  £m  £m 
               Restated Restated 

Assets           
Investment in group undertakings    13  -  -  - 
Investment property    14  18.5  18.8  19.1 
Property, plant and equipment    15  36.9  39.9  41.6 
Intangible assets    16  70.3  33.0  15.3 
Employee benefits    30  27.7  29.4  48.3 
Deferred tax assets    17  39.7  53.0  58.7 
Financial assets    18  1,147.6  1,078.3  1,255.5 
Reinsurance contract assets    21  888.7  975.6  1,106.6 
Current tax asset    25  1.6  2.9  2.0 
Other receivables    19  428.9  354.3  402.6 
Cash and cash equivalents    20  129.8  100.6  101.0 
Total assets      2,789.7  2,685.8  3,050.7 

                    
Shareholders’ equity           
Share capital    27  277.8  277.8  277.8 
Share premium      3.9  3.9  3.9 
Retained earnings      166.8  132.7  174.9 
Other reserves      (16.1)  (28.2)  (2.1) 
Total shareholders’ equity      432.4  386.2  454.5 
                    
Liabilities           
Insurance contract liabilities    21  2,127.3  2,077.3  2,333.1 
Reinsurance contract liabilities    21  0.1  2.0  0.2 
Financial liabilities:           
 - Loans and borrowings from group companies    22  119.6  119.5  119.4 
 - Other     23  1.8  5.4  5.1 
Other provisions    24  19.0  19.9  19.8 
Deferred tax liability    17  9.7  10.3  16.9 
Other payables and deferred income    26  79.8  65.2  101.7 
Total liabilities      2,357.3  2,299.6  2,596.2 
Total equity and liabilities      2,789.7  2,685.8  3,050.7 

                    

The statement of financial position is presented in order of liquidity in accordance with IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements.   
                    
The notes on pages 21 to 101 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
                    
Further details on the restatement required upon adoption of IFRS 17 are included in note 2. 
                    
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 4 April 2024 and were signed on its behalf by: 
                    

 
           
Jonathan Price               
Chief Financial Officer               
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Statement of changes in equity       
For the year ended 31 December 2023           
                    
               Other reserves   

              Insurance     

         Share  Share Retained finance Fair value  Total 

         capital  premium earnings reserve reserve 

       Note £m  £m £m £m £m £m 
                    
As at 31 December 2021, as previously 
reported  277.8  3.9  229.3  -  11.1  522.1 
                    
Impact of initial application of IFRS17 2 -  -  (54.4)  (13.2)  -  (67.6) 
Impact of initial application of IFRS 9 2 -  -  -  -  -  - 
                    
Restated balance as at 1 January 2022  277.8  3.9  174.9  (13.2)  11.1  454.5 
                    
Profit for the year restated   -  -  47.0  -  -  47.0 
Other comprehensive (expense)/income  
restated  -  -  (12.9)  37.6  (63.6)  (38.9) 
Total comprehensive income restated  -  -  34.1  37.6  (63.6)  8.1 
                    
Dividend paid 27 -  -  (76.3)  -  -  (76.3) 
                    
Restated balance as at 31 December 2022  277.8  3.9  132.7  24.4  (52.5)  386.3 
                    
Balance as at 1 January 2023  277.8  3.9  132.7  24.4  (52.5)  386.3 
                    
Profit for the year   -  -  36.1  -  -  36.1 
Other comprehensive (expense)/income  -  -  (1.8)  (13.9)  25.8  10.1 
Total comprehensive income  -  -  34.3  (13.9)  25.8  46.2 
                    
Other movements       (0.2)    0.1  (0.1) 
Dividend paid 27 -  -  -  -  -  - 
                    
Balance as at 31 December 2023  277.8  3.9  166.8  10.5  (26.6)  432.4 

 

The impact of initial recognition of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 shows the impact of the restatement to opening balances as at the 
transition date. 
   
The insurance finance reserve represents the impact of changes in market discount rates on the insurance contract liabilities. 
For further details on insurance finance income and expenses see note 1. 
   
The fair value reserve includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income until the investment is derecognised. Taxation is provided on the net change at the prevailing rates 
when the changes are booked. 
   
Retained earnings include the defined benefit pension scheme remeasurements.  
   
The Company has presented its statement of changes in equity net of tax. 
   
The notes on pages 21 to 101 form an integral part of these financial statements.      
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Statement of cash flows       
For the year ended 31 December 2023       
                    
               Note  2023  2022 
                 £m £m 
                 Restated 
Cash flows from operating activities      
Profit before tax   48.1  61.0 
Adjustments for:      
Investment income 7  (38.9)  (19.8) 
Other finance costs relating to financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 22  9.9  5.8 
Other finance costs relating to lease liabilities 23(a)  1.0  1.0 
Defined benefit pension income 30  (0.9)  (0.4) 
Depreciation of investment property 10, 14  0.3  0.3 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10, 15  3.0  3.3 
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 10, 15  2.2  - 
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 10, 16  6.2  1.9 
Loss/(profit) on sale of line of business 9  4.3  (52.5) 
Operating profit before working capital changes   35.2  0.6 
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets   (36.6)  79.0 
Decrease/(increase) in reinsurance contract assets   104.6  (59.2) 
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables   (77.7)  51.5 
Increase/(decrease) in insurance contract liabilities   12.6  (14.2) 
(Decrease) in other payables and deferred income 26  14.6  (36.5) 
(Decrease)/increase in financial liabilities 22, 23  (3.5)  0.4 
(Decrease)/increase in provisions 24  (0.9)  0.1 
Cash flows generated from operations    48.3  21.7 
Defined benefit pension contributions paid 30  -  (0.3) 
Interest received   38.7  35.4 
Income taxes paid   -  (2.0) 
Net cash flows generated from operating activities   87.0  54.8 
                    
Cash flows used in investing activities      
(Payments in relation to)/proceeds from sale of line of business   (1.2)  49.1 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 15  (2.2)  (1.6) 
Purchase of intangible assets 16  (43.5)  (19.6) 
Net cash (used in) / generated from investing activities   (46.9)  27.9 
                    
Cash flows used in financing activities      
Dividends paid 27  -  (76.3) 
Interest paid on subordinated debt 22  (9.9)  (5.8) 
Repayment of lease liabilities 23(a)  (1.0)  (1.0) 
Net cash used in financing activities   (10.9)  (83.1) 
                    
Net change in cash and cash equivalents   29.2  (0.4) 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January   100.6  101.0 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 20  129.8  100.6 

                    
Cash available to the Company 20  129.8  100.6 
      
The notes on pages 21 to 101 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1     Accounting policies 
 

Ageas Insurance Limited is a private company, limited by shares, domiciled and incorporated in England. The Company 
is primarily involved in motor and property related insurance products in the UK. 
 

(a) Statement of compliance  
The financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 4 April 2024. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards and 
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
In accordance with IFRS 8, the Company is not required to present segmental information as the equity of the Company 
is not publicly traded. 
 

(b) Basis of preparation 
The Company has elected not to prepare consolidated financial statements. The financial statements as prepared are 
separate financial statements and the exemption from consolidation has been based on the provisions of CA 2006 
s401(2). Consolidated financial statements including the results of the Company are prepared by the ultimate holding 
company, ageas SA/NV, a company incorporated in Belgium, and copies can be obtained from the Company Secretary, 
Avenue du Boulevard 21, 1210 Brussels.  

 
This is the first set of the Company’s annual financial statements in which IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts and IFRS 9: 
Financial Instruments have been applied, retrospectively from 1 January 2023. As a result, certain comparative figures 
have been restated following the implementation of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 as detailed in note 2. The related changes to 
material accounting policies are described further below. 
 
The financial performance and position of the Company, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowings are set out in 
the primary statements on pages 17 to 20, and in the subsequent notes on pages 21 to 101. Further analysis of the 
objectives and policies for mitigating risk can be found within note 4. 
 
Having considered the position of the Company as above, the approved budget for the next 12 months from the approval 
date of these financial statements and reviewing the potential risks to the Company, the directors have concluded that 
the Company has sufficient resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the directors 
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 
 
The Company presents its statement of financial position in order of liquidity in accordance with IAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements. For each asset and liability line item in the statement of financial position that details amounts 
expected to be recovered or settled within twelve months, or more than twelve months after the statement of financial 
position date, a classification at the statement of financial position date is included within the notes. The disclosures in 
the notes for these classifications are distinguished as follows: 

 amounts expected to be settled in less than one year are referred to as current; and  
 amounts expected to be settled in more than one year are referred to as non-current.  
 
(i) Basis of measurement          
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis with the exception of financial instruments 
classified as fair value through profit or loss and other comprehensive income, which are stated at their fair value. 
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1     Accounting policies (continued) 
 

(b)     Basis of preparation (continued) 

(ii) Functional and presentation currency  
The financial statements are presented in millions of Pounds Sterling, which is the Company's functional currency. All 
financial information presented in millions of Pounds Sterling has been rounded to one decimal place. 
 
(iii) Use of estimates and judgements 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with international accounting standards requires management to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. These form the basis of judgements 
concerning carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates. 
 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year, or in the year of the revision 
and future years if the revision affects both current and future years. 
 
Judgements made by the directors in the application of international accounting standards that have a material effect on 
the financial statements and estimates with a material risk of material adjustment in the following year, are discussed in 
notes 3 and 4. 
 
(iv) New Standards and Interpretations     
All new standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that have been issued and endorsed by the 
UK Endorsement Board, have been considered. The following new and amended standards that came into effect in the 
year have been adopted by the Company during the period as appropriate: 
 IAS 1 amendments: Presentation of Financial Statements: Disclosure of Accounting Policies – January 2023. 
 IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies – January 2023. 
 IAS 8 amendments: Definition of accounting estimates – January 2023. 
 IAS 12 amendments: Deferred Tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction – January 2023. 
 IAS 12 amendments: International Tax Reform - Pillar Two Model Rules – May 2023. 
 IFRS 17: Insurance contracts – January 2023. 
 IFRS 17 amendments: Initial application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 – comparative information – January 2023. 
 
In these financial statements, the Company has applied IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts (‘IFRS 17’) and IFRS 9: Financial 
instruments (‘IFRS 9’) for the first time, which has resulted in material changes compared to the previously applied 
accounting policies. The Company has applied IFRS 9 for the first time as from 1 January 2023 because the amendments 
to IFRS 4 on ‘Extension of the temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9’ permitted the Company to apply IFRS 9 
‘Financial instruments’ and IFRS 17 ‘Insurance contracts’ at the same time. IFRS 17 materially impacts the measurement 
and presentation of insurance contracts, reinsurance contracts. The adoption of IFRS 9 has had no impact on the 
measurement of the Company’s financial instruments. The impact of the adoption of both IFRS 9 and IFRS 17 is detailed 
in note 2. 
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1     Accounting policies (continued) 
 

(b)     Basis of preparation (continued) 

(iv)  New Standards and Interpretations (continued) 
In addition, the following is a list of standards that are in issue but are not effective in 2023, together with the effective 
date of application to the Company: 
 IAS 1 amendments: Classification of liabilities as current or non-current – January 2024. 
 IAS 1 amendments: Non-current liabilities with covenants – January 2024. 
 IAS 7 and IFRS 7 amendments: Supplier Finance Arrangements – January 2024. 
 IFRS 16 amendments: Lease liability in a sale and leaseback – January 2024. 
 IAS 21 amendments: Lack of Exchangeability – January 2025. 
 
The standards effective from 2024 have been reviewed and are not expected to have a material impact on the Company. 
The implications of the remaining standards are under review. The material accounting policies adopted are listed below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.   
 

(c) Insurance revenue 
The Company recognises the majority of its insurance revenue in a reporting period based on the consideration that it 
expects to receive in that period for the provided insurance contract services. The Company allocates the premium it 
expects to receive for a group of contracts to insurance revenue based on the passage of time over the coverage period 
of the group of insurance contracts. However, if the expected pattern of release of risk during the coverage period 
significantly differs from the passage of time, then the expected premiums are allocated to the respective periods of 
service based on the expected timing of incurred insurance service expenses. 
 

(d) Insurance service expense 
Insurance service expense arises from a group of insurance contracts are recognised in the statement of profit or loss 
as incurred, where permitted. Insurance service expense includes: 
 Claims incurred during the year; 
 Insurance acquisition cash flows that are immediately expensed during the year; 
 Losses on onerous contracts and reversals of such losses; and 
 Other incurred insurance service expenses, which include attributable expenses for the fulfilment of the insurance 

contract. 
 
Expenses not meeting the above categories and not being part of insurance finance income and expense are included 
in other operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss. 
 

(e) Net result from reinsurance contracts 
The Company presents separately on the face of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income the net 
result from reinsurance contracts, and it is part of the Insurance service result. The Company recognises reinsurance 
expenses in its statement of profit or loss in a similar way as insurance revenue and is represented by an allocation of 
ceding premiums paid, as it receives services under groups of reinsurance contracts. The Company recognises 
reinsurance income, in a similar way as the insurance service expense, which is represented by the amounts that the 
Company recovered from the reinsurers for incurred claims. Reinsurance income and expense excludes insurance 
finance income and expenses. The net result from reinsurance contracts also includes the initial recognition of a loss 
component on an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts and subsequent measurement movements in that 
loss-recovery component. 
 

  



Ageas Insurance Limited 
Company registration number 354568 
 

Notes to the financial statements 
 

24 

1     Accounting policies (continued) 
 
(f) Net investment income 

Investment income comprises interest income, dividend income, investment property income, net realised gains on debt 
securities, net unrealised gains or losses on financial assets designated as fair value through profit or loss, foreign 
exchange movements on derivatives, and other investment expense. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in the 
statement of profit or loss, using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised in the statement of profit 
or loss on the date that the Company’s right to receive payment is established. 

 
(g) Net insurance finance income and expenses  

Net insurance finance income and expenses comprise changes in the carrying amount of a group of insurance and 
reinsurance contracts that arise from the effects of the time value of money, financial risk and changes therein, unless 
such changes are allocated to any loss component and are included in insurance service expenses for groups of 
insurance contracts. Income and expenses from groups of reinsurance contracts held are presented separately from 
income and expenses from groups of insurance contracts issued.  
 
Insurance finance income and expenses from insurance contracts issued relate to accreted interest on the fulfilment 
cash flows in the Liability for Incurred Claims and the effects of changes in interest rates and other financial variables. 
The Company has elected to recognise the changes to the discount rate for the calculation of the Insurance Liabilities 
and Reinsurance Assets, specifically in relation to the liability for incurred claims, in other comprehensive income. 

 
(h) Insurance acquisition cash flows 

Insurance acquisition cash flows are cash flows that arise from the costs of selling, underwriting and starting a group of 
insurance contracts (issued or expected to be issued) and that are directly attributable to the portfolio of insurance 
contracts to which the group belongs. The Company recognises insurance acquisition cash flows as an expense when 
it incurs those costs where the coverage period is no more than 12 months. Where the coverage is more than 12 months, 
insurance acquisition cash flows are included in the liability for remaining coverage. 

 
(i) Other finance costs 

Other finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate method, and 
interest in respect of lease liabilities, and investment management fees, all of which are expensed in the statement of 
profit or loss in the period to which they relate. 
 

(j) Income tax 
Income tax in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year comprises current and deferred 
tax. Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable profit for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the statement of financial position date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
 
Deferred tax is provided in full, using the statement of financial position liability method, providing for temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes, and the amounts used 
for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: 
 goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, 
 the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit; and 
 differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable 

future.  
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1     Accounting policies (continued) 
 

(j)  Income tax (continued) 
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount 
of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, 
and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, 
but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised 
simultaneously. 
 
A deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that future profits will be available against which 
the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. 
 
Pillar II – Global minimum taxation 
Pillar II arose out of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development’s (‘OECD’) Base Erosion and Profit 
Shifting (‘BEPS’) project. It applies to large multinational groups and aims to ensure that large multinational businesses 
pay a minimum effective tax rate of at least 15% on profits in all countries. 
 
The Company has assessed its exposure to the Pillar II Model rules and does not expect any impact to arise. 
 
On 23 May 2023, the International Accounting Standards Board issued Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes in respect 
of the Pillar II model rules, which have been endorsed by the UK Endorsement Board. A mandatory temporary exception 
to the accounting for deferred taxes arising from the implementation of the Pillar II rules is to be applied whilst further 
consideration is undertaken in respect of the rules on the accounting for income taxes applying under IAS 12. 
 

(k) Foreign currency transactions 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Company at the foreign exchange rate 
ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the statement 
of financial position date are translated to the presentational currency (pounds sterling) at the foreign exchange rate 
ruling at that date. 
 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to pounds sterling at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the 
fair value was determined. 
 
Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The foreign 
exchange differences arise from the translation of both opening claims reserves and financial instruments from their 
functional currency. 
 

(l) Investment in group undertakings 
Investments in group undertakings are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
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1     Accounting policies (continued) 
 
(m) Investment property 

 
(i) Owned assets 
Investment properties are recognised, using the cost model, at cost (or deemed cost) less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses (see accounting policy (v)). Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of 
the asset. 
 
(ii) Depreciation 
Depreciation is charged to the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 
part of an item of investment property.  
 
The estimated useful lives of buildings are fifty years. Land is not depreciated. 

 
(n) Property, plant and equipment 

 
(i) Owned assets 
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost (or deemed cost) less accumulated depreciation (see below) 
and impairment losses (see accounting policy (v)). Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the asset. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that 
equipment. Borrowing costs related to the acquisition of qualifying assets are recognised as part of the cost of those 
assets in the statement of financial position. 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the costs of the 
item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and 
maintenance costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss during the financial year in which they are incurred.  
 
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 
items of property, plant and equipment. 
 
(ii) Leased assets 
Leases under which the Company is a lessee are recognised as a right-of-use asset and measured at the amount equal 
to the present value of the minimum lease payments, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments 
relating to that lease, plus any dilapidation provision required. The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using 
the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is 
periodically reduced by any impairment and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. Low value and 
short-term leases are not recognised in the Company’s statement of financial position as payments made under such 
leases are recorded in the statement of profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred. 
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1     Accounting policies (continued) 
 
(n) Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

(iii) Depreciation 
Depreciation is charged to the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 
part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Land is not depreciated. Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed at each reporting date. The estimated useful lives of assets are as follows: 
 
Buildings      Fifty years 
Equipment and motor vehicles   Two to ten years 
IT equipment     Two to five years 
Right-of-use assets     Lease term 
 
The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount. The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference 
between the sale proceeds and the carrying value of the asset and is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 
 

(o) Intangible assets 
An intangible asset is defined as an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance. Intangible assets are 
stated at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses (see accounting policy (v)). 
Cost is defined as its purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade 
discounts and rebates; and any directly attributable cost of preparing the asset for its intended use. 
 
An internally generated intangible asset is recognised if, and only if, all of the following conditions have been 
demonstrated: 
 
 the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; 
 the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 
 the ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 
 how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits; 
 the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell 

the intangible asset; and 
 the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 
 
The amount initially recognised for internally generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the 
date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally generated intangible 
asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. 
 
Amortisation is charged to the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 
intangible asset. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 
Software and licences   Three to five years 
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1     Accounting policies (continued) 
 
(p)  Employee benefits 

 
(i) Defined contribution pension plans 
A defined contribution pension plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which a company pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions 
to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in the statement of profit or loss 
when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in 
future payments is available. 
 
(ii) Defined benefit pension plan 
A defined benefit pension plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Company’s 
net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior years, discounting that benefit to determine its 
present value, and deducting the fair value of any plan assets. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using 
the projected unit credit method. 
 
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability/asset, which comprises actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan 
assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest) are immediately recognised in 
other comprehensive income. The Company determines the net interest expense/(income) on the net defined benefit 
liability/asset for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning 
of the reporting period to the net defined benefit liability/asset at that time, taking into account any changes in the net 
defined benefit liability/asset during the period from contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense and other 
expenses related to the defined benefit pension scheme are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
Where the calculation results in a potential asset for the Company, the recognised asset is limited to the present value 
of economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the 
plan with deferred taxation being recognised at the rate relevant to the expected form of recovery. Consideration is also 
given to any applicable minimum funding requirements. 
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1     Accounting policies (continued) 
 

(q) Financial assets 
 
(i) Initial recognition 
The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and the business model 
for managing the instruments. Financial instruments are initially recognised on the trade date measured at their fair value. 
Except for financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are added 
to this amount. 
 
(ii) Measurement categories 
The Company classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for managing the assets and the asset’s 
contractual terms. The categories include the following: 
 
 Amortised cost (‘AC’); 
 Fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVOCI’); 
 Fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL’). 

 
Debt instruments measured at amortised cost 
Debt instruments are held at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 
 
 the instruments are held within a business model with the objective of holding the instrument to collect the 

contractual cash flows; and 
 the contractual terms of the debt instrument give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest (‘SPPI’) on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
The details of these conditions are outlined below. 
 
The Company classifies cash, short term deposits and other receivables, including amounts due from related companies, 
as debt instruments measured at amortised cost.  
 
The Company determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets to 
achieve its business objective. 
 
The Company holds financial assets to generate returns and provide a capital base to provide for settlement of claims 
as they arise. The Company considers the timing, amount, and volatility of cash flow requirements to support insurance 
liability portfolios in determining the business model for the assets as well as the potential to maximise return for 
shareholders and future business development. 
 
The Company's business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level of 
aggregated portfolios that is based on observable factors such as: 
 
 how the performance of the classes of financial assets held are evaluated, monitored against expectation and 

reported to the Company's key management personnel; 
 how the risks relating to the classes of financial assets affect the performance of those assets and, in particular, the 

way those risks are managed; and 
 how the fund managers that the Company engages choose to invest within the classes of financial assets, how the 

fund managers perform and how the fund managers are compensated.  
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1     Accounting policies (continued) 
 

(q) Financial assets (continued) 
 
(ii) Measurement categories (continued) 
The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking 'worst case' or 'stress case’ 
scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way that is different from the Company's 
original expectations, the Company does not change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that 
business model but incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or newly purchased financial assets 
going forward. 
 
As a second step of its classification process the Company assesses the contractual terms to identify whether they meet 
the SPPI test. 
 
‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and may 
change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortisation of the 
premium/discount). 
 
The most significant elements of interest within a debt arrangement are typically the consideration for the time value of 
money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Company applies judgement and considers relevant factors 
such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest rate is set. 
 
Debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
The Company applies the new category under IFRS 9 for debt instruments measured at FVOCI when both of the 
following conditions are met: 
 
 the instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is both collecting contractual cash flows and 

selling financial assets; and 
 the contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test. 
 
These instruments largely comprise debt instruments that had previously been classified as available-for-sale under IAS 
39. Debt instruments in this category are those that are intended to be held to collect contractual cash flows and which 
may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market conditions. The Company classifies 
UK Government bonds, quasi Government bonds and corporate bonds as debt instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income. 
 
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets in this category are those that are managed in a fair value business model, or that have been designated 
by management upon initial recognition, or are mandatorily required to be measured at fair value under IFRS 9. This 
category includes debt instruments whose cash flow characteristics fail the SPPI criterion or are not held within a 
business model whose objective is either to collect contractual cash flows, or both to collect contractual cash flows and 
sell. The Company classifies property funds and derivatives as debt instruments measured at fair value through profit or 
loss. 
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1     Accounting policies (continued) 
 
(q) Financial assets (continued) 

 
(iii) Subsequent measurement 
Debt instruments at amortised cost 
After initial measurement, debt instruments are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, 
less allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fee or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Expected credit losses are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss when the investments are impaired. 
 
Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income 
FVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising due to changes in fair 
value recognised in other comprehensive income. Interest income is recognised in profit or loss. The expected credit 
loss calculation for debt instruments at FVOCI is explained in accounting policy (v). Where the Company holds more 
than one investment in the same security, they are deemed to be disposed of on a first–in first–out basis. On 
derecognition, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified from 
other comprehensive income to profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets at FVPL are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value are 
recorded in profit or loss. Interest earned on assets mandatorily required to be measured at FVPL is recorded using 
contractual interest rate. Dividend income from equity instruments measured at FVPL is recorded in profit or loss when 
the right to the payment has been established. 
 
(i) Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities 
The Company does not reclassify its financial assets subsequent to their initial recognition, apart from the exceptional 
circumstances in which the Company acquires, disposes of, or terminates a business line. 
 
(ii) Derecognition of financial assets 
Further information relating to the derecognition of financial assets can be found in accounting policy (y). 
 

(r) Reinsurance contracts held 
 
(i) Classification of reinsurance contracts held 
The Company cedes reinsurance in the normal course of business for the purpose of limiting its net loss exposure 
through the diversification of its risks. Reinsurance arrangements do not relieve the Company from its obligations to 
policyholders. 
 
(ii) Aggregation 
The Company measures and presents groups of reinsurance contracts it has purchased (‘reinsurance contracts held’) 
separately from groups of insurance contracts it has issued. Groups of reinsurance contracts held are measured using 
the same accounting policies as those applied to groups of insurance contracts issued. The carrying amount of a group 
of reinsurance contracts held at the reporting date is the sum of the Asset for Remaining Coverage (‘ARC’) and the Asset 
for Incurred Claims (‘AIC’). The carrying amount of the ARC of a group of reinsurance contracts held is measured 
depending on the contract boundary using the Premium Allocation Approach (‘PAA’) or the General Measurement Model 
(‘GMM’). 
 
The carrying amount of the AIC of a group of reinsurance contracts held represents the risk-adjusted present value of 
the fulfilment cash flows of the incurred claims that the Company has not yet received from the reinsurer. 
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1     Accounting policies (continued) 
 

(r)  Reinsurance contracts held (continued) 
 

(iii) Recognition 
The Company recognises groups of reinsurance contracts held in its statement of financial position on the following 
dates:  
 quota-share or other reinsurance contracts held that provide proportionate coverage, are recognised at the later of 

the date that any underlying insurance contract is initially recognised and the beginning of the coverage period of 
the group of reinsurance contracts purchased. 

 other reinsurance contracts held, such as excess-of-loss and stop-loss reinsurance contracts, are recognised at the 
date that the coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts purchased begins. However, if the Company 
recognises an onerous group of insurance contracts before the date that the coverage period of the group of 
reinsurance contracts purchased begins, and the related reinsurance contract was purchased before that earlier 
date, then the group of reinsurance contracts purchased is recognised on that earlier date. 
 

(iv) Contract boundary 
Cash flows are within the contract boundary of a group of reinsurance contracts held if they arise from substantive rights 
and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the Company has the substantive obligation to pay amounts 
to the reinsurer and has a substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer. 
 
The substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer ends when: 
 the reinsurer has the practical ability to reassess the risks that are transferred to the reinsurer and the reinsurer can 

set a price or level of benefits for the contract that fully reflects those reassessed risks; or 
 the reinsurer has a substantive right to terminate the coverage. 
 
(v) Significant insurance risk 
Only contracts that give rise to a significant transfer of insurance risk are accounted for as reinsurance contracts. 
Amounts recoverable under such contracts are recognised in the same year as the related claim. Contracts that do not 
transfer significant insurance risk (i.e. financial reinsurance), are accounted for as financial assets (see accounting policy 
(q)). 
 

(s) Insurance contracts issued 
 

(i) Classification of insurance contracts issued 
Contracts under which the Company accepts significant insurance risk from another party (the policyholder) by agreeing 
to compensate the policyholder or other beneficiary if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely 
affects the other party are classified as insurance contracts. These contracts remain insurance contracts until all rights 
and obligations are extinguished or expire. Insurance contracts may also transfer some financial risk. The core products 
sold by the Company are motor related insurance and property related insurance. 
 
(ii) Significant insurance risk 
For accounting purposes, a contract is classified and measured as an insurance contract if it transfers significant 
insurance risk from the holder to the issuer of the contract. The Company assesses on initial recognition of a contract 
whether significant insurance risk is transferred. No reassessment is performed subsequently, unless the terms of the 
contract are modified. In assessing whether significant insurance risk is transferred, the Company considers all 
substantive rights and obligations arising from the contract, including those arising from law or regulation. 
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1     Accounting policies (continued) 
 

(s) Insurance contract liabilities (continued) 
 
(ii)   Significant insurance risk (continued) 
The Company determines whether a contract contains significant insurance risk by assessing if an insured event could 
cause the Company to pay to the policyholder additional amounts that are significant in any single scenario with 
commercial substance even if the insured event is extremely unlikely or the expected present value of the contingent 
cash flows is a small proportion of the expected present value of the remaining cash flows from the insurance contract.  
 
The Company assesses this by comparing, on a present value basis, the benefits payable after the insured event 
occurred with the benefits payable if the insured event does not occur. 
 
The assessment of significant insurance risk is made only once, and a contract that qualifies as an insurance contract 
remains an insurance contract until all rights and obligations are extinguished (i.e., discharged, cancelled or expired), 
unless the contract is derecognised because of a modification.  

 
(iii) Level of aggregation 
The Company identifies portfolios and groups of insurance contracts. A portfolio of insurance contracts includes contracts 
that are subject to similar risk and that are managed together. The Company considers both the insurance risk and 
financial risk that is transferred from the policyholder. When identifying the portfolios and groups of insurance contracts, 
the Company does not consider lapse risk and expense risk (for example, unexpected increases in policy maintenance 
expense and claims handling expense). 
 
For measurement purposes, the Company identifies portfolios of contracts which are not issued more than one year 
apart. A portfolio of insurance contracts includes contracts that are subject to similar risk and that are managed together. 
The Company further divides portfolios of insurance contracts into groups of insurance contracts, based on the underlying 
profitability of the contract, as follows: 
 a group of insurance contracts that are onerous at initial recognition, if any; 
 a group of insurance contracts that at initial recognition have no significant possibility of becoming onerous 

subsequently, if any; and 
 a group of the remaining insurance contracts, if any. 

 
In its statement of financial position, the Company presents separately the carrying amount of the following portfolios of 
insurance contracts: 
 Insurance and reinsurance contracts issued/held that are in an asset position, and 
 Insurance and reinsurance contracts issued/held that are in a liability position. 
 
The carrying amount of a portfolio of insurance contracts includes any asset or liability recognised for cash flows that 
arise before the recognition of any contracts that are part of the portfolio. 
 
(iv) Recognition 
The Company recognises groups of insurance contracts issued in its statement of financial position from the earliest of 
the date of the beginning of their coverage period, the date when the first payment from a policyholder in the group 
becomes due, or, when there is no due date, when the first payment from the policyholder is received; and when facts 
and circumstances indicate that the group of insurance contracts becomes onerous. 
 
Where risk is not transferred from intermediaries to the Company, premiums due from these intermediaries have been 
recognised in insurance contract liabilities. Where risk transfer does exist, premiums due are recognised within other 
receivables.  
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1     Accounting policies (continued) 
 

(s) Insurance contract liabilities (continued) 
 
(iv)  Recognition (continued) 
Premiums receivable from intermediaries can be recognised within the scope of IFRS 9 or IFRS 17. The Company has 
opted to recognise these receivables within the scope of IFRS 9 if the intermediary is acting on behalf of the Company, 
assessed by reference to whether a formal risk transfer agreement exists between the Company and the intermediary. 
In line with IFRIC interpretation, this best reflects the discharge of rights and obligations between the policyholder and 
the insurer under the insurance contract. If no such agreement exists, these receivables are recognised as future cash 
flows within the scope of IFRS 17. 
 
(v) Investment components 
Investment components exist where the structure of an insurance or reinsurance contract is such that repayments are 
due to the policyholder or cedant even if an insured event does not occur. Where investment components are identified, 
they are recognised using IFRS 9 only if they are 'distinct' from the insurance contract as defined by IFRS 17. If they are 
not distinct, they will continue to be recognised using IFRS 17 but will be excluded from insurance revenue and insurance 
service expense if they originate from an insurance contract, or reinsurance revenue and amounts recoverable from 
reinsurers if they originate from a reinsurance contract. 
 
(vi) Contract boundary 
The Company includes in the measurement of a group of insurance contracts all the future cash flows within the boundary 
of each contract in the group. Cash flows are within the boundary of an insurance contract if they arise from substantive 
rights and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the Company can compel the policyholder to pay the 
premiums, or in which the Company has a substantive obligation to provide the policyholder with services. 
 
The substantive obligation to provide insurance contract services to the policyholder ends when: 
 the Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the particular policyholder and, as a result, can set a 

price or level of benefits that fully reflects the risks of that policyholder; or 
 the Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the portfolio of insurance contracts that contains the 

particular contract and, as a result, can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects the risks of that portfolio. The 
pricing of premiums up to the date when the risks are reassessed does not reflect the risks that relate to periods 
after the reassessment date. 

 
In assessing its ability to reassess the risks, the Company only considers insurance and/or financial risks that are 
transferred from the policyholder to the Company. 
 
(vii) Initial measurement 
The Company’s insurance contracts issued and the majority of reinsurance contracts held are measured applying the 
Premium Allocation Approach (‘PAA’) as the PAA can be applied to short term duration contracts and to longer duration 
contracts that meet the PAA eligibility, including coverage arising from all premiums within the contract boundary. The 
PAA is a policy choice if the eligibility criteria are met, and it simplifies the measurement of the Liability for Remaining 
Coverage and provides other policy choices that are not available under the General Measurement Model (‘GMM’). The 
Loss Portfolio Transfer (‘LPT’) contracts held are measured applying the GMM. 
 
The measurement of the insurance contract liability, which comprises both the Liability for Incurred Claims (‘LIC’) and 
the Liability for Remaining Coverage (‘LRC’), is determined on a probability-weighted expected value basis. It is adjusted 
for the time value of money and includes an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk.  
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1     Accounting policies (continued) 
 

(s) Insurance contract liabilities (continued) 
 
(vii)  Initial measurement (continued) 
A “top-down” approach (aligned to Pillar II Solvency II reporting) is used by the Company to derive the discount rate. The 
Company has elected to recognise the changes to the discount rate in other comprehensive income (rather than in the 
statement of profit or loss). The risk adjustment for non-financial risk reflects the compensation that the Company requires 
for bearing the uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash flows of the group of insurance contracts that arise 
from non-financial risk. It covers insurance risk and other non-financial risks, such as lapse and expense risk. 
 
For groups of insurance contracts that are measured using the PAA and that are not onerous on initial recognition, the 
Company measures the carrying amount of the LRC on initial recognition at an amount equal to: 
 the amount of premiums received on initial recognition; 
 adjusted for any insurance acquisition cash flows that are not expensed as incurred and that are allocated to the 

group of insurance contracts at that date; and 
 adjusted for amounts arising from the derecognition of any asset for pre-recognition insurance acquisition cash 

flows that are not expensed as incurred and any other pre-recognition cash flows that relate to the group at that 
date. 

 
The Company assesses whether such a group of insurance contracts could be onerous on initial recognition or could 
become onerous subsequently using information provided by its internal reporting system, including amongst others a 
combined ratio that is modified based on the requirements in IFRS 17 and that excludes the effect of reinsurance. 
 
If the assessment above reveals that a group of insurance contracts could be onerous, the Company increases the 
carrying amount of the LRC to the amount of the discounted fulfilment cash flows. The Company also recognises a loss 
in the statement of profit or loss equal to the increase in the carrying amount of the LRC. 
 
(viii) Subsequent measurement 
In subsequent reporting periods, the carrying amount of the LRC of a group of insurance contracts is the amount at the 
beginning of that reporting period, adjusted for: 
 any premiums received during the reporting period; 
 any insurance acquisition cash flows that are not expensed as incurred and that are allocated to the reporting period; 
 amounts arising from the derecognition of any asset for pre-recognition insurance acquisition cash flows that are 

not expensed as incurred and any other pre-recognition cash flows allocated to the reporting period; 
 any adjustments to the financing component, if applicable; 
 the amount of insurance revenue recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the reporting period, reflecting the 

insurance contract services provided during that period; and 
 any investment component paid or transferred to the LIC. 
 
At the end of a subsequent reporting period, the Company assesses whether the group of insurance contracts has 
become or still is onerous, applying the same methodology as on initial recognition. If necessary, the carrying amount of 
the LRC is adjusted. This assessment may result in a (partial) reversal of a previously recognised loss component. The 
carrying amount of the LIC of a group of insurance contracts includes the amount of the risk-adjusted discounted 
fulfilment cash flows, discounted at current rates, relating to the incurred claims and the expenses that have not yet been 
paid. 
 

(t) Other receivables 
Other receivables are stated at their cost less impairment losses (see accounting policy (v)). 
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1     Accounting policies (continued) 
 
(u) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and money market funds. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on 
demand and form an integral part of the Company’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash 
equivalents for the purpose only of the statement of cash flows. 
 

(v)  Impairment 
 

(i) Financial assets 
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is 
impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had 
a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. 
 
The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (‘ECL’) for all debt instruments not held at fair value 
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the 
contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at the appropriate effective interest rate. 
 
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the 
next 12-months (12-month ECLs). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, 
irrespective of the timing of the default (lifetime ECLs). 
 
The Company’s debt instruments primarily comprise investment grade bonds and, therefore, are considered to be low 
credit risk investments. It is the Company’s policy to measure ECLs on such instruments on a 12-month basis. Where 
the credit risk of any bond deteriorates, the Company will sell the bond and purchase bonds meeting the required 
investment grade. 
 
The Company considers a financial asset to be in default (credit impaired) when contractual payments are 90 days past 
due. However, in certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or 
external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts. A financial 
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. 
 
The calculation of ECLs 
The Company calculates ECLs based on scenarios to measure the expected cash shortfalls, discounted at an 
appropriate effective interest rate. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due to the Company 
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive. 
 
When estimating the ECLs, the Company considers three scenarios (an internal base case scenario, an internal base-
negative scenario, and an internal base-positive scenario). 
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1     Accounting policies (continued) 
 

(v)  Impairment (continued) 
 

(i) Financial assets (continued) 
 
The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows: 
 The Probability of Default (‘PD’) is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. It is estimated 

with consideration of economic scenarios and forward-looking information. 
 The Exposure at Default (‘EAD’) is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected 

changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, whether scheduled 
by contract or otherwise, and accrued interest from missed payments. 

 The Loss Given Default (‘LGD’) is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time. 
It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the Company would expect to 
receive. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD. 

 
The Company allocates its assets subject to ECL calculations to one of these categories, determined as follows: 
 The 12-month ECL is calculated as the portion of lifetime ECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default 

events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. The Company calculates 
the 12-month ECL allowance based on the expectation of a default occurring in the 12 months following the reporting 
date. These expected 12-month default probabilities are applied to a forecast EAD and multiplied by the expected 
LGD and discounted by an appropriate effective interest rate. This calculation is made for each of the four scenarios, 
as explained above. 

 When an instrument has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Company records an 
allowance for the lifetime ECLs. The mechanics are similar to those explained above, including the use of multiple 
scenarios, but PDs and LGDs are estimated over the lifetime of the instrument. The expected losses are discounted 
by an appropriate effective interest rate. 

 For debt instruments considered credit-impaired, the Company recognises the lifetime ECLs for these instruments. 
The method is similar to that for lifetime ECLs assets, with the PD set at 100%. 

 
Debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
The ECLs for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the carrying amount of these financial assets in the 
statement of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that would arise 
if the assets were measured at amortised cost is recognised in other comprehensive income with a corresponding charge 
to profit or loss. The accumulated gain recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to the profit or loss upon 
derecognition of the assets. 
 
In its ECL models, the Company relies on a broad range of forward-looking information as economic inputs. 
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1     Accounting policies (continued) 
 

(v)  Impairment (continued) 
 

(i) Non-financial assets 
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs 
to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For 
the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash 
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the 
“cash-generating unit”). 
 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised 
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units 
and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. Impairment 
losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased 
or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount.  
 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
 

(w) Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities include payables to related parties, lease liabilities, interest-bearing loans and borrowings and bank 
overdrafts and other payables. Financial liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position when the 
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Lease liabilities are initially measured 
at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date of the lease, discounted using 
the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing 
rate. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference 
between cost and redemption value being recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the period of the borrowings 
on an effective interest basis. 
 

The directors have determined that the carrying amounts of bank overdrafts and other payables reasonably approximate 
their fair values because these liabilities are typically either short term in nature or are repriced frequently. 
 
The subordinated debt is held at amortised cost and the directors have determined that the carrying value of the 
subordinated debt approximates the fair value. 
 

(x) Provisions 
A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a 
present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

  



Ageas Insurance Limited 
Company registration number 354568 
 

Notes to the financial statements 
 

39 

1     Accounting policies (continued) 
 

(y) Derecognition and offset of financial assets and liabilities 
A financial asset (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised where: 
 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 
 the Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 

received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either: 
a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or 
b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 

transferred control of the asset. 
 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is 
a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 

(z) Share capital and dividends 
Ordinary and deferred shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary 
and deferred shares and share options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 
 
Dividends payable on ordinary shares are recognised when they are approved by the Board. 
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2     Changes in accounting policies and disclosures  
 

In these financial statements, the Company has applied IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts (‘IFRS 17’) and IFRS 9: Financial 
instruments (‘IFRS 9’) for the first time, which has resulted in significant changes compared to the previously applied 
accounting policies. The Company has recognised the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 17 in equity at the 
transition date of 1 January 2022.  
 
IFRS 17 requires an entity to restate information in respect of the reporting period ending on 31 December 2022 in its 
financial statements for the reporting period ending on 31 December 2023. In view of this requirement, the Company has 
also restated comparative information for the year ended 31 December 2022 on financial instruments, applying the 
requirements in IFRS 9 on ‘classification and measurement’ and on ‘impairment’ to all its financial assets, using 
reasonable and supportable information available on 1 January 2022.  
 
The Company has not early-adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet 
effective. Except for the changes below, the Company has consistently applied the accounting policies as set out in note 
1 to all periods presented in these financial statements. The table below presents the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 
and IFRS 17 on the consolidated statement of financial position of Ageas as at 1 January 2022: 

 

             1 Jan  Impact of 
IFRS 9 

Impact of 
IFRS 17 

 1 Jan 
            2022  2022 
            £m  £m £m £m 
As reported   Restated  As reported Restated 
Investment property Investment property  19.1  -  -  19.1 
Property, plant and equipment Property, plant and equipment  41.6  -  -  41.6 
Intangible assets Intangible assets  15.3  -  -  15.3 
Employee benefits Employee benefits  48.3  -  -  48.3 
Deferred acquisition costs -  139.2  -  (139.2)  - 
Deferred tax assets Deferred tax assets  36.1  -  22.6  58.7 
Financial assets Financial assets  1,255.5  -  -  1,255.5 
Reinsurance assets -  1,028.3  -  (1,028.3)  - 
- Reinsurance contract assets  -  -  1,106.6  1,106.6 
Current tax asset Current tax asset  2.0  -  -  2.0 
Insurance and other receivables Other receivables  384.9  -  17.7  402.6 
Cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents  101.0  -  -  101.0 
Total assets Total assets  3,071.3  -  (20.6)  3,050.7 

Share capital Share capital  277.8  -  -  277.8 
Share premium Share premium  3.9  -  -  3.9 
Retained earnings Retained earnings  229.3  -  (54.4)  174.9 
Other reserves Other reserves  11.1  -  (13.2)  (2.1) 
Total shareholders’ equity Total shareholders’ equity  522.1  -  (67.6)  454.5 

Insurance contract provisions -  2,189.0  -  (2,189.0)  - 
Insurance contract liabilities Insurance contract liabilities  -  -  2,333.1  2,333.1 
Reinsurance contract liabilities Reinsurance contract liabilities  -  -  0.2  0.2 
Financial liabilities Financial liabilities  124.5  -  -  124.5 
Other provisions Other provisions  19.8  -  -  19.8 
Deferred tax liability Deferred tax liability  16.9  -  -  16.9 
Reinsurance payables -  6.6  -  (6.6)  - 
Insurance payables, other payables 
and deferred income 

Other payables and deferred 
income 

 
192.4 

 
-  (90.7) 

 
101.7 

Total liabilities Total liabilities  2,549.2  -  47.0  2,596.2 
Total equity and liabilities Total equity and liabilities  3,071.3  -  (20.6)  3,050.7 
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2     Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued) 
 

IFRS 17: Insurance contracts 
 
IFRS 17: Insurance contracts (‘IFRS 17’) replaces IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts for annual periods on or after 1 January 
2023. The Company has restated comparative information for 2022 applying the transitional provisions in Appendix C to 
IFRS 17.  
 
Reclassifications and adjustments arising from the adoption of IFRS 17 have been recognised in the opening statement 
of financial position on 1 January 2022. The new accounting policies are disclosed in note 1. 
 
The nature of the changes in accounting policies can be summarised, as follows: 
 
Changes to classification and measurement 
IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts (‘IFRS 4’) for annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2023, 
which is also the date of initial application of IFRS 17 for the Company. The adoption of IFRS 17 did not change the 
classification of the Company’s insurance contracts. 
 
Scope 
In relation to the Company, IFRS 17: Insurance contracts applies to insurance contracts issued; and reinsurance 
contracts held. 

 
All references below to insurance contracts equally apply to reinsurance contracts held unless stated otherwise. 
 
Level of aggregation 
For measurement purposes, the Company identifies portfolios of contracts which are divided into underwriting year to 
ensure that contracts within each group are not issued more than one year apart. A portfolio of insurance contracts 
includes contracts that are subject to similar risk and that are managed together. The Company further divides portfolios 
of insurance contracts into groups of insurance contracts, based on the underlying profitability of the contract, as follows: 
 a group of insurance contracts that are onerous at initial recognition, if any; 
 a group of insurance contracts that at initial recognition have no significant possibility of becoming onerous 

subsequently, if any; and 
 a group of the remaining insurance contracts, if any. 

 
Recognition – insurance contract liabilities/assets 
The Company recognises groups of insurance contracts issued on its statement of financial position from the earliest of 
the beginning of their coverage period, the date when the first payment from a policyholder in the group becomes due, 
or, when there is no due date, when the first payment from the policyholder is received; and when facts and 
circumstances indicate that the group of insurance contracts becomes onerous. 
 
The Company includes in the measurement of a group of insurance contracts all the future cash flows within the boundary 
of each contract in the group. Cash flows are within the boundary of an insurance contract if they arise from substantive 
rights and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the Company can compel the policyholder to pay the 
premiums, or in which the Company has a substantive obligation to provide the policyholder with services. 
 
The substantive obligation to provide insurance contract services to the policyholder ends when: 
 the Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the particular policyholder and, as a result, can set a 

price or level of benefits that fully reflects the risks of that policyholder; or 
 the Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the portfolio of insurance contracts that contains the 

particular contract and, as a result, can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects the risks of that portfolio. The 
pricing of premiums up to the date when the risks are reassessed does not reflect the risks that relate to periods 
after the reassessment date.  
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2     Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued) 
 
Recognition – reinsurance contract assets/liabilities 
The Company recognises groups of reinsurance contracts held in its statement of financial position on following dates:  
 quota-share or other reinsurance contracts held that provide proportionate coverage are recognised at the later of 

the date that any underlying insurance contract is initially recognised and the beginning of the coverage period of 
the group of reinsurance contracts purchased. 

 other reinsurance contracts held, such as excess-of-loss and stop-loss reinsurance contracts, are recognised at the 
date that the coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts purchased begins. However, if the Company 
recognises an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts before the date that the coverage period of the 
group of reinsurance contracts purchased begins, and the related reinsurance contract was purchased before that 
earlier date, then the group of reinsurance contracts purchased is recognised on that earlier date. 

 
Cash flows are within the contract boundary of a group of reinsurance contracts held if they arise from substantive rights 
and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the Company has the substantive obligation to pay amounts 
to the reinsurer and has a substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer. 
 
The substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer ends when: 
 the reinsurer has the practical ability to reassess the risks that are transferred to the reinsurer and the reinsurer can 

set a price or level of benefits for the contract that fully reflects those reassessed risks; or 
 the reinsurer has a substantive right to terminate the coverage. 

 
Changes to measurement 
IFRS 17 establishes specific principles for the recognition and measurement of insurance contracts issued and 
reinsurance contracts held by the Company. 
 
Under IFRS 17 the measurement of the insurance liability, which comprises both the Liability for Incurred Claims (‘LIC’) 
and the Liability for Remaining Coverage (‘LRC’), is determined on a discounted probability-weighted expected value 
basis, and includes an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk. 
 
A “top-down” approach (aligned to Pillar II Solvency II reporting) is used by the Company to derive the discount rate. The 
Company has elected to recognise the changes to the discount rate in other comprehensive income (rather than in the 
statement of profit or loss). The risk adjustment for non-financial risk reflects the compensation that the Company requires 
for bearing the uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash flows of the group of insurance contracts that arise 
from non-financial risk. It covers insurance risk and other non-financial risks, such as lapse and expense risk. 
 
When restating the opening balance sheet, the risk adjustment for non-financial risk was calculated using a confidence 
level approach, targeting the 75th percentile in line with the Company’s risk appetite. Subject to appropriate management 
level approval, the risk adjustment should include an allowance to adequately reflect emerging risks and 
uncertainties. During 2023, the Company’s discounting methodology within the risk adjustment calculation has been 
refined, allowing for the fact that the level of discounting varies across the percentiles of the distribution. This refined 
methodology allows for a higher proportion of longer-tailed claims (for example, large losses), resulting in proportionately 
higher discounting at these higher percentiles.  
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2     Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued) 
 
Premium Allocation Approach 
The Company’s insurance contracts issued and the majority of reinsurance contracts held are measured by applying the 
Premium Allocation Approach (‘PAA’) as the PAA can be applied to short term duration contracts and to longer duration 
contracts that meet the PAA eligibility. The PAA is a policy choice if the eligibility criteria are met, and it simplifies the 
measurement of the LRC and provides other policy choices that are not available under the General Measurement Model 
(‘GMM’). The Loss Portfolio Transfer (‘LPT’) reinsurance contracts held are measured applying the GMM. 
 
Under the PAA, the LRC reflects premiums received less amounts recognised in revenue for insurance services 
provided. If facts and circumstances indicate that a group of contracts may be onerous, the LRC is measured using GMM 
principles and losses for onerous contracts are recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss. 

 
In applying the PAA, the Company has elected to make the following policy choices: 
 the Company expenses its insurance acquisition cash flows immediately. No separate asset is recognised for 

deferred acquisition costs. 
 the LRC is not discounted for the time value of money because the contracts coverage is less than a year. 
 the election to not discount LIC cashflows expected to be settled within 12 months has been taken. 
 the Company has elected to recognise the changes to the discount rate for the calculation of the Insurance Liabilities 

and Reinsurance Assets, specifically in relation to the liability for incurred claims, in other comprehensive income. 
 
General Measurement Model 
The Company’s LPT reinsurance contracts cover events that have already occurred but the financial effect of which is 
still uncertain. In such contracts, the insured event is the determination of the ultimate cost of those claims. 
 
Consequently, the coverage period for LPT contracts extends until the last claim that is reinsured has been settled, 
meaning the coverage period is greater than 12 months, therefore the contracts are not automatically eligible for the 
PAA. In applying the GMM to the LPT contracts: 
 No contractual service margin (‘CSM’) arises in line with the standard, paragraph B5. 
 The ARC is calculated using the same principles as under the PAA. 
 The AIC including Risk Adjustment calculated using the same principles as under the under the PAA. 
 
For the above reasons the LPT contracts have been disclosed with the contracts eligible for the PAA within these financial 
statements, including note 21. 
 
Changes to presentation and disclosure in the statement of financial position 
For presentation in the statement of financial position, the Company will aggregate insurance contracts issued and 
reinsurance contracts held, respectively and presents separately: 
 groups of insurance contracts issued that are assets; 
 groups of insurance contracts issued that are liabilities; 
 groups of reinsurance contracts held that are assets; and 
 groups of reinsurance contracts held that are liabilities. 

 
Recognition and presentation in the statement of profit or loss 
The Company will present insurance service result (comprising insurance revenue less insurance service expense and 
less net result from reinsurance contracts) separately from insurance finance income and expenses. The presentation 
of insurance revenue and insurance service expense in the statement of comprehensive income is based on the concept 
of insurance contract services provided during the reporting period.  
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2     Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued) 
 
Transition 
At the transition date of 1 January 2022, the Company has identified, recognised and measured each group of insurance 
contracts as if IFRS 17 had always applied, derecognised any existing balances that would not exist had IFRS 17 always 
applied and recognised any resulting net difference in opening equity. 
 
At the transition date, the Company applied the full retrospective approach to measure the LRC of groups of insurance 
contracts in its non-life business. The LIC of those groups of insurance contracts has been measured applying the full 
retrospective approach for the most recent accident years and the modified retrospective approach for claims prior to 
2016. 
 
In some situations, the Company was not able to measure a group of insurance contracts at the transition date applying 
the full retrospective approach, for example when: 
 the information in the existing reporting systems of the Company about historical cash flows is based on 

assumptions that were developed using hindsight; or 
 some reasonable and supportable information about historical cash flows is not available in the existing reporting 

systems of the Company, or only available at a higher or at different levels of aggregation than the requirement on 
grouping of contracts under IFRS 17. 

 
In these instances, those groups of insurance contracts were measured applying the ‘modified retrospective approach’. 
The objective of those alternative transition measurement approaches is to achieve the closest outcome possible to the 
full retrospective approach, using reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort 
at the transition date.  

 
Modified retrospective approach 
The Company applied the modified retrospective approach to measure: 
 the liability for settlement of claims incurred before an insurance contract was acquired in a transfer of insurance 

contracts; and 
 the liability for incurred claims for groups of contracts issued prior to 2008. The other comprehensive income balance 

at transition for these groups of contracts at was nil. 
 
Different groupings were applied for contracts that were issued more than one year apart, depending on the availability 
of the relevant discount rates. If these discount rates were available for the different years, the relevant locked-in rates 
of those different years have been applied. Otherwise, all contracts were grouped into one group and the relevant locked-
in rate at the transition date has been applied. This resulted in different discount rates used at the transition date, 
differences in future accretion rates and differences in the amounts recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 
IFRS 9: Financial instruments 
 
IFRS 9 replaced IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018. However, the Company elected, under the amendments to IFRS 4, to apply the temporary exemption 
from IFRS 9 on the basis that the percentage of its liabilities connected with insurance relative to the total amount of 
liabilities is greater than 90%. The initial application date of IFRS 9 has therefore been aligned with the effective date of 
IFRS 17 for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The Company has applied IFRS 9 retrospectively and restated 
comparative information for 2022 for financial instruments in the scope of IFRS 9. Differences arising from the adoption 
of IFRS 9 were recognised in retained earnings as of 1 January 2022. Reclassifications and adjustments arising from 
the adoption of IFRS 9 have been recognised in the opening statement of financial position on 1 January 2022. The new 
accounting policies are disclosed in note 1. 
 
The nature of the changes in accounting policies under IFRS 9 can be summarised, as follows: 
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2     Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued) 
 
Changes to classification and measurement 
To determine their classification and measurement category, IFRS 9 requires all financial assets to be assessed based 
on a combination of the Company’s business model for managing the assets and the instruments’ contractual cash flow 
characteristics. 
 
The IAS 39 measurement categories for financial assets of fair value through profit or loss, available for sale, held-to 
maturity and loans and receivables at amortised cost will be replaced by: 
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL’), including equity instruments and derivatives; 
 Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVOCI’), with gains or losses recycled to profit 

or loss on derecognition; 
 Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income, with no recycling of gains or losses to profit 

or loss on derecognition (not used by the Company); and 
 Debt instruments at amortised cost (‘AC’). 
 
Changes to the impairment calculation 
Under IAS 39, the Company assessed at each reporting date whether there was any objective evidence that a financial 
asset was impaired. A financial asset was considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicated that one or more 
events had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. 
 
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost was calculated as the difference between 
its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest 
rate. An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset was calculated by reference to its fair value. 
 
Individually significant financial assets were tested for impairment on a stand-alone basis. The remaining financial assets 
were assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics. 
 
Following the adoption of IFRS 9 from 1 January 2023, the Company will adopt a forward looking ‘expected credit loss’ 
(‘ECL’) model. The Company will measure loss allowances on either of the following bases: 
 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting 

date; and 
 Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 

instrument. 
 
The table below presents the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 on the statement of financial position of the Company on 
1 January 2022. Certain assets classified as AC under IAS 39 are now classified as FVPL under IFRS 9 as they do not 
pass the SPPI test. 

               1 Jan Impact of 
IFRS 9 

 1 Jan 
              2022 2022 
              £m £m £m 
As reported  Restated      As reported  Restated 

           

Cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents    101.0  -  101.0 
  

  
      

Financial instruments Financial instruments         
Available-for-sale FVOCI        - 
 - Debt securities  - Debt securities    1,117.2  -  1,117.2 
Other financial assets (AC) Other financial assets (FVPL)    30.2  -  30.2 
Other financial assets (FVPL) Other financial assets (FVPL)    108.1  -  108.1 

  
  

      

Other receivables (AC) Other receivables (AC)    384.9  -  384.9 
                    

Total          1,741.4  -  1,741.4 
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3     Accounting estimates and judgements  
 
In preparing these financial statements, the Company has made certain judgements, estimates and assumptions, which 
are reflected in the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses and in the amounts reported in 
the notes to these financial statements. 
 
The judgements, estimates and assumptions used are based on experience and on supportable information that is 
reasonably available at the time these financial statements are prepared. Estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are recognised prospectively. Each judgement, estimate and 
assumption carries by its nature some degree of uncertainty and a risk of material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities during future reporting periods. The most critical judgements and estimates made by the Company 
are as follows: 
 
Insurance and reinsurance contract assets and liabilities 
 
Premium allocation approach 
The Standard allows for contracts with a coverage period of longer than one year to be measured using the Premium 
Allocation Approach if it is reasonably expected that the liability for remaining coverage for the group of contracts does 
not differ materially from that produced applying the General Measurement Model. Significant judgment is required to: 
 decide what a material difference means in the context of the Standard. 
 decide what scenarios the Company should reasonably expect for the group of contracts. 
 What assumptions should be used to forecast those scenarios. 
 
The Company has assessed all of its insurance contracts and determined that all contracts qualify for the PAA. 
 
Best estimate of future cashflows to fulfil insurance contracts 
The process for setting the best estimate claim reserves is as follows: 
 the Company establishes reserves in respect of the anticipated losses incurred in respect of business it has written. 

These reserves reflect the expected ultimate cost of settling claims occurring prior to the statement of financial 
position date, but remaining unsettled at that time, and take into account any related reinsurance recoveries. 

 reserves for reported claims are established on a case-by-case basis and are based largely on past experience of 
settlements on similar claims. Such reserves are established separately for each line of business written by the 
Company. 

 reserves for claims incurred but not reported are calculated separately for each line of business written and take 
into account trends in settlement costs in arriving at the final estimates. 

 the personal injury discount rate (‘Ogden rate’) is set by the Ministry of Justice. It is reviewed periodically with the 
current rate of -0.25% being in effect from August 2019. It is used by the courts to calculate lump sum personal 
injury payments and is based on a reference investment portfolio. Reserves have principally been assessed at the 
current Ogden discount rate of -0.25%. 

 
Discount rates 
A “top-down” approach has been applied in the determination of discount rates across all portfolios. Under this approach, 
the Company determines the discount rates based on a yield curve of a reference portfolio adjusted for credit risk. The 
reference portfolio consists primarily of investment grade bonds. The yield curves that were used to discount the 
estimates of future cash flows are as follows:  

 2023  2022 

 
1 

year 
5 

years 
10 

years 
20 

years 
30 

years  
1 

year 
5 

years 
10 

years 
20 

years 
30 

years 

            

All groups of contracts 
4.93

% 
3.55

% 
3.47

% 
3.62

% 
3.54

%  
4.61

% 
4.21

% 
3.86

% 
3.69

% 
3.51

% 
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3     Accounting estimates and judgements (continued) 
 
Insurance and reinsurance contract assets and liabilities (continued)  
 
Disaggregation of insurance finance income or expenses 
The Company has elected to disaggregate insurance finance income or expenses into amounts presented in profit or 
loss and amounts presented in other comprehensive income. Amounts of insurance finance income or expenses 
recognised in profit or loss represent the impact of unwinding the discounting applied to the liability for incurred claims 
over the period until payment. 
 
Methods used to measure the risk adjustment for non-financial risk 
The risk adjustment is the compensation that is required for bearing the uncertainty about the amount and timing of cash 
flows that arises from non-financial risk as the insurance contract is fulfilled. As the risk adjustment represents 
compensation for uncertainty, estimates are made on the degree of diversification benefits and expected favourable and 
unfavourable outcomes in a way that reflects the Company’s degree of risk aversion. The Company estimates an 
adjustment for non-financial risk separately from all other estimates. 
  
Applying a confidence level technique, the Company estimates the probability distribution of the present value of the 
future cash flows from insurance and reinsurance contracts at each reporting date and calculates the risk adjustment for 
non-financial risk as the excess of the value at risk at the target confidence level over the expected present value of the 
future cash flows.  
  
The target confidence level for the risk adjustment is set at the 75th percentile. The total risk adjustment is allocated to 
groups of contracts based on their contribution to the undiversified 75th percentile. 
 
For further details on insurance contract assets and reinsurance contract liabilities see note 21. 
 
Transition 
At the transition date of 1 January 2022, the Company has identified, recognised and measured each group of insurance 
contracts as if IFRS 17 had always applied, derecognised any existing balances that would not exist had IFRS 17 always 
applied and recognised any resulting net difference in opening equity. 
 
At the transition date, the Company applied the full retrospective approach to measure the LRC of groups of insurance 
contracts in its non-life business. The LIC of those groups of insurance contracts has been measured applying the full 
retrospective approach for the most recent accident years and the modified retrospective approach for claims prior to 
2016. 
 
In some situations, the Company was not able to measure a group of insurance contracts at the transition date applying 
the full retrospective approach, for example when: 
 the information in the existing reporting systems of the Company about historical cash flows is based on 

assumptions that were developed using hindsight; or 
 some reasonable and supportable information about historical cash flows is not available in the existing reporting 

systems of the Company, or only available at a higher or at different levels of aggregation than the requirement on 
grouping of contracts under IFRS 17. 

 
In these instances, those groups of insurance contracts were measured applying the ‘modified retrospective approach’. 
The objective of those alternative transition measurement approaches is to achieve the closest outcome possible to the 
full retrospective approach, using reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort 
at the transition date.  
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Defined benefit pension plan 
 
The Company’s liability for defined benefit pension obligations is based on various estimates including discount rates, 
future salary increases, future pension increases, mortality rates and future staff turnover. Differences in future actual 
experience may result in the balance recorded in the Company’s statement of financial position ultimately proving to be 
either too high or too low. Such differences will be accounted for as they arise. 
 
For further details on defined benefit plan obligations see note 30.  
 
Deferred tax asset 
 
The Company has unutilised tax losses which it acquired from Groupama Insurance Company Limited (‘GICL’) (renamed 
GICL 2013 Limited) (now dissolved) under the Part VII Scheme of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 on 1 
October 2013. These can be carried forward to offset income tax liabilities arising on taxable profits of the Company. 
These losses were supplemented in 2016 by an additional loss due to the change in the Ogden rate. The Company must 
judge the extent that future taxable profits will arise such that any deferred tax asset is based on profits that are more 
likely to arise than not based on tax rates that have been substantively enacted at the statement of financial position 
date. The Company has calculated the deferred tax asset based on the Company's budgets and forecasts, adjusting for 
any material known tax differences that will arise in that period. 
 
For further details on deferred tax asset see note 17. 
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4 Risk management 
 
Objectives and policies for mitigating business risk 
 
The Company's primary activity, the acceptance of risk of loss from individuals or businesses, exposes it to a number of 
risks which may adversely affect the Company's ability to meet its business objectives. The Company has identified the 
following risk areas: insurance, regulation, market, credit, liquidity, operational, sustainability and climate change, 
pension and capital management.  
 
The Company has various procedures in place to manage these exposures. These procedures have been embedded 
into decision making processes and the culture of the business. They include an overall risk management framework 
together with a set of clearly defined risk policies which articulate the Company’s risk appetite. The Company also 
maintains a comprehensive risk register which identifies the individual risks faced in each area of the business and the 
controls in place to mitigate these. The risk framework includes an event notification procedure which enables focus on 
preventing a similar incident occurring in addition to managing the impact of the event, thereby ensuring a proactive 
control environment. 
 
The Ageas UK Board Risk Committee established by the Boards of the Company, Ageas (UK) Limited, Ageas Retail 
Limited and Ageas Services (UK) Limited meets regularly to review both the risk policies and the risk register, to ensure 
they are up-to-date, reflecting the risks currently facing the business and that corresponding control issues and risk 
mitigation actions are being addressed in a timely manner. The findings of the Board Risk Committee are reported to the 
Boards.  
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Insurance risk  
 
The Company assumes insurance risk by issuing contracts of insurance to compensate the policyholder or other 
beneficiary if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) affecting the policyholder occurred. The risk under 
any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurred and the uncertainty of the amount of the 
resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is uncertain and therefore unpredictable. The 
classification of insurance risks are underwriting, claims reserving, claims management and reinsurance. 
 
(i) Underwriting risk 
Underwriting risk occurs when the underwriter binds a policy at a given price and obliges the Company to pay claims 
under certain specified conditions, thus exposing the Company to the risk that the policy was not priced correctly due to 
underestimating the frequency and/or severity of the claims. Underwriting risk is at the core of the Company’s business 
and is a major source of exposure for the Company’s capital. The systems and controls required to manage and control 
this area of risk are therefore of critical importance. 
 
The Company’s business lines are generally characterised by large numbers of policyholders with homogeneous 
exposures, such as motor, household and travel. The approach to pricing these products is based on the Company’s 
knowledge and the price is given to the market not to individuals. Therefore underwriting is tightly controlled. The main 
technique to determine the price to be charged is to use past exposures, historical losses and external data sources as 
a basis for developing proposed premiums. Appropriate adjustments are made to reflect anticipated future conditions, 
expenses and the required profit margin. The performance of each business line is constantly monitored to identify new 
trends caused by distribution and cause or value of loss so that corrective pricing action can be implemented. 
 
The Company reinsures a portion of the risks it underwrites in order to control its exposures to losses and protect capital 
resources. The Company’s largest reinsurance arrangement is in respect of a 40% loss portfolio transfer agreement and 
quota share treaty with ageas SA/NV, the ultimate holding company, of both prior and future claim liabilities respectively. 
The Company also buys excess of loss (i.e. non-proportional) reinsurance treaties to reduce its net exposure to agreed 
levels for each line of business in accordance with the Company’s risk appetite. In addition, the Company will buy 
facultative reinsurance on individual risks in certain specified circumstances. There are also occasions when other quota 
share reinsurance or stop loss treaties are put in place as part of a larger overall transaction.  
 
Concentrations of insurance risk  
A key aspect of the insurance risk faced by the Company is the degree of concentration of insurance risk, which may 
exist where a particular event or series of events could impact significantly upon the Company’s liabilities. Such 
concentrations may arise from a single insurance contract or through a small number of related contracts, and relate to 
circumstances where significant liabilities could arise. Concentrations of risk can arise in both high severity, low frequency 
events, such as natural and other disasters and in situations where underwriting is biased towards a particular group, 
such as a particular geographical concentration or demographic trend. 
 
High severity, low frequency concentrations 
The timing and frequency of high severity events are, by their nature, uncertain. They represent a material risk as the 
occurrence of such an event would have a significant adverse impact on the Company’s cash flows and profitability. The 
Company manages these risks by making appropriate allowance within the price calculated by underwriters and by 
purchasing a reinsurance programme that reduces the impact of these events. The Company uses non-proportional 
reinsurance treaties to manage retention levels and the limits of protection.   
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4 Risk management (continued) 
    

(a) Insurance risk (continued)  
  
(i) Underwriting risk (continued) 
 
Geographic and demographic concentrations 
Material geographical concentrations of risk can exist in property portfolios such that natural perils of windstorm and 
floods may give rise to a large number of material damage and business interruption claims. The Company models its 
exposure to this risk to estimate its probable maximum loss and purchases reinsurance to significantly reduce its 
exposure to such events. Material concentrations of risk may be created by specific distribution channels that target 
certain age ranges, affinity groups or underwriting strengths in certain geographic locations. These risks are managed 
through underwriting and use of reinsurance contracts. The Company provides general insurance in the United Kingdom, 
with a small proportion written in the Channel Islands. 
 
Economic downturn 
The Company’s insurance portfolio exposes it to a potential accumulation of different risks in the event of an economic 
recession. The Company’s strategy in a recession is to ensure that premiums reflect the additional risks and exposures 
to those areas that could be adversely impacted by an economic downturn. It also monitors economy related claims 
closely to identify any that may be exaggerated or fraudulent. 
 
Total aggregate exposure 
The Company identifies the total aggregate exposure that it is prepared to accept in relation to concentrations of risk. It 
monitors these exposures on a regular basis by reviewing reports which show the key aggregations to which the 
Company is exposed. The Company uses a number of modelling tools to monitor aggregation and to simulate 
catastrophe losses in order to measure the effectiveness of the reinsurance programmes, and to quantify the net 
exposure for the Company. Additional stress and scenario tests are run using these models during the year. 
 
Delegated underwriting authorities 
The Company has a number of delegated underwriting authorities with third parties. There is a risk that the third party 
might not have the controls, management information, quality of staff and technical skills to charge an appropriate price 
for the risk underwritten. Prior to contract the third party is subject to a due diligence process and is subsequently audited 
on a regular basis to ensure compliance with the contractual obligations and that the required levels of profitability are 
being achieved.  
 
Third party injury claims  
In recent years, the Company and the insurance market in general have experienced an increase in the frequency and 
value of third party injury claims, arising mainly in the private and commercial motor accounts. These increases have 
been driven by an increased propensity for the population to be litigious and the extensive activities of companies actively 
persuading potential victims to instigate claims. The Company has recognised this trend and monitors its development 
closely, adjusting the prices of its products accordingly.   
 
(ii) Lapse risk 
Lapse risk is related to future premium included in the premium provision where an expected profit is foreseen. Lapse 
risk is the risk that more lapses will occur than expected ones, generating less potential profit. 
 
(iii) Premium risk 
Premium risk is the risk that the premium will not be sufficient to cover all liabilities including claims and expenses 
resulting from fluctuations in frequency, severity of claims, timing of claim settlements or adverse changes in expenses.  
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4 Risk management (continued) 
    
(a) Insurance risk (continued)  

 
(iv) Claims reserving risk  
The aim of the reserving policy of the Company is to produce estimates of outstanding claims that are accurate and 
reliable across each line of business and are consistent over the time period required to settle all the claims. Reserving 
and the ultimate cost of claims risk occurs where the Company’s estimates of its outstanding claims prove to be 
insufficient through inaccurate forecasting, additional expenses or reinsurance bad debts. The methods used to estimate 
the insurance liabilities in respect of outstanding claims and provisions are detailed in note 1 to the financial statements. 
In addition an external independent actuary undertakes an annual review of large elements of the Company’s claims 
reserves.  
 
(v) Claims management risk 
Claims management risk could arise in the event of inaccurate or incomplete case reserving or settlement, poor customer 
service or excessive costs of handling claims. The Company’s approach to claims management focuses upon creating 
a successful balance between satisfying the needs of the customer against control of the overall cost of providing the 
service that meets those needs. Customer includes both insured as well as others that believe our insured has breached 
a duty of care. The Company’s philosophy is based upon the following principles: 
 
 manufacturing claims – production commences at first notification of a loss where the components to satisfy a 

customer's claim are taken; 
 predicament management – tailoring our service to meet the individual customer’s needs; and 
 reducing failure demand – failure demand is caused by a failure to do something right for the customer.  
   
These principles support the Company’s objectives to:     
 
 create empathy with the customer and to offer processes that successfully deal with the resolution of their individual 

predicament not just their damaged assets; 
 provide claims settlement that treats customers fairly, reflects policy and legal liability and complies fully with all 

other regulatory requirements; 
 exercise control over claims reserves, indemnity claims costs, subrogated recoveries and payments to other parties; 

and 
 exercise control over the expense costs associated with handling and settling claims.  
 
(vi) Reinsurance risk     
Reinsurance is placed to reduce the Company's exposure to specific risks, events and accumulations. The risk is that 
the reinsurance contracts fail to perform as planned and do not reduce the gross cost of claims in terms of the limits 
purchased, either by risks not being appropriately covered or because there are gaps in the programme. The reinsurance 
programme is subject to considerable scenario planning, including by the Company’s various reinsurance brokers, and 
is approved by the Company’s Reinsurance Committee and in accordance with the wider reinsurance strategy set by 
the Company’s Board. The failure of a reinsurer to pay a claim is categorised as a credit risk.  
 

(b) Regulatory risk 
 
The Motor and Home insurance markets have undergone substantive change, with new rules for General Insurance 
pricing following the Financial Conduct Authority’s Pricing Review coming into effect on 1 January 2022. This has 
reshaped the market and whilst it should lead to a more stable market in the medium-term, it has made the acquisition 
of new customers increasingly challenging. 
 
Additionally, the Ogden rate which was last reviewed and revised in 2019 from -0.75% to -0.25% is due for review before 
August 2024 and, although there is no current indication of imminent revision, it is not currently clear as to what the future 
direction of change in this rate might be.  
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4 Risk management (continued) 
    
(c) Market risk  

 
Market risk can be described as the risk of change in the fair value of financial assets due to changes in interest rates, 
foreign exchange rates and market prices, whether specific to the individual asset or its issuer, or to factors affecting all 
assets traded in the market.  
   
Interest rate risk  
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of future cash flows of a financial instrument could have fluctuated because of 
a change in interest rates. The Company’s exposure to changes in interest rates is primarily concentrated in its 
investment portfolio. To mitigate changes in interest rates the Company holds a material proportion of its investments in 
fixed rate debt securities. It will normally hold these securities until their maturity. This reduces the variation in future 
cash flows and provides security over future income and redemption values. The market value of fixed interest securities 
is inversely correlated to movements in interest rates, that is the market value of fixed interest securities rises if interest 
rates fall and vice versa. The Company regularly monitors its investment strategy to minimise the risk of a fall in the 
portfolio’s market value which could affect the amount of business that the Company is able to underwrite or its ability to 
settle claims as they fall due. The Company’s risk is limited to interest rate risk on the £119.6m (2022: £119.5m) 
subordinated debt it has issued, as the interest rate is based on SONIA. 
 
Most insurance contract liabilities are not directly sensitive to the level of market interest rates as they are undiscounted 
and contractually non-interest bearing. Payment protection orders take account of likely increases in payments due to, 
for example, inflation, and are discounted using a rate of interest based on the same indexing factors. 
 
Foreign exchange risk 
The Company is not exposed to material foreign currency risks on assets and liabilities as a result of changes in exchange 
rates. The majority of the Company’s premiums are currently received in Pounds Sterling.  
    
The Company invests in United States dollar (‘USD’), Euro and Australian dollar (‘AUD’) denominated infrastructure 
equity funds and so has foreign currency risk exposure on those assets. The Company holds derivative financial 
instruments in order to mitigate the exchange risk arising from its foreign currency denominated infrastructure equity 
funds. 
 
The Company is exposed to current travel policy claims that require settlement in USD and Euros. These are normally 
settled within a short period from notification of the loss. Purchases of currency are made to cover the estimated 
requirement for current liabilities. 
 
Debt security price risk 
The Company is exposed to changes in the market values of debt securities for reasons other than changes in interest 
rates. This may be due to the credit rating changes, anticipated future interest rate changes, trading performance or 
market sentiment relating to the issuer. The Company mitigates this risk by investing in high quality issuers in line with 
its investment strategy and normally holding debt securities until their maturity. 
 
Property price risk 
The Company is exposed to changes in market value due to its investment in property. To mitigate this risk the Company 
has invested in property funds as well as holding direct investments. Property funds allow investors to achieve greater 
diversification across multiple types of property and location, and to gain access to the expertise of specialist managers. 
  



Ageas Insurance Limited 
Company registration number 354568 
 

Notes to the financial statements 
 

54 

4 Risk management (continued) 
 

(d) Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not be able to pay amounts in full when due in accordance with the items of 
the contract, causing the Company to incur a financial loss. The main sources of credit risk are: 
 
 Investments  
 Receivables from intermediaries 
 Reinsurance contract assets  
 Other financial assets 
 
The Company has a Credit Risk Forum that monitors the exposure, rating and accumulation risks. It will make 
recommendations on actions to reduce risk. The maximum exposure is equal to the carrying amount of those assets.  
 
Investments 
The risk is managed within the Company's investment guidelines by the Investment Committee who regularly update the 
Board. The investments are held in a high quality, fixed income portfolio and are normally held until maturity. 
   
The analysis based on the second highest credit ratings of debt securities is as follows: 
   

  2023 2023 2022 2022 

        Note  £m % £m % 

          

AAA          214.1  21.4 204.5  22.4 

AA          149.4  14.9 168.7  18.4 

A          454.3  45.3 366.2  39.9 

BBB          185.0  18.4 177.3  19.3 

Total        18  1,002.8  100.0 916.7  100.0 
   
 
The second highest credit rating is used because it gives a better overall assessment of credit risk by avoiding any rating 
agency anomalies. 
 
The financial assets designated as fair value through profit or loss do not have a credit rating. The investments are in 
five property funds and two infrastructure equity funds, both of which are managed by specialist investment managers. 
Hence, risk is mitigated through this selection. 
 
An analysis of debt securities, derivative financial assets and other financial assets is shown in note 18. 
 
Under IFRS 9, where there has been no significant increase in credit risk in a reporting period, the impairment provision 
for investments will represent the 12-month expected credit loss. The Company only holds investment grade 
investments. 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
    

(d) Credit risk (continued) 
 
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2023 was determined as follows for investments: 

          Stage 1 

          £m 

              

As at 31 December 2022          0.2 

Increase/(decrease) in loss allowance          0.5 

Allowance utilised in the year          - 

Allowance released in the year          (0.1) 

As at 31 December 2023          0.6 
 
 
Receivables from intermediaries 
The Company trades only through intermediaries who have been subject to a rigorous credit risk assessment and 
appointment procedure. All intermediaries are authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority ('FCA') (with 
the exception of those located on the Isle of Man and the Channel Islands). Credit insurance is purchased as part of the 
credit risk strategy. The levels of debt are regularly monitored and appropriate action is taken in respect of slow and non-
payment within the terms of credit. The level of bad debts in the current and prior year was negligible. 
  

 2023 2023 2022 2022 

Balances due:     Note  £m % £m % 

       Restated

       

Within terms       310.8 98.1 238.6 97.4 

Up to 1 month overdue       4.4 1.4 3.4 1.4 

Between 1 and 3 months overdue      1.3 0.4 1.7 0.7 

More than 3 months overdue      0.3 0.1 1.2 0.5 

Total     19  316.8 100.0 244.9 100.0 
   
Reinsurance contract assets 
The Company is exposed to credit risk through its reinsurance arrangements, where amounts due under a reinsurance 
contract may not be paid. The Company manages this risk by only placing reinsurance with reinsurers who are rated A- 
or above (AM Best or Standard & Poor’s), although ratings may subsequently fluctuate after original placement. The only 
exception to this relates to a small number of proportional treaties where captive reinsurers are used in specific 
circumstances. Any alternative reinsurance arrangements are required to be agreed by the Company’s Board. The 
ratings of reinsurers are monitored by the Credit Risk Forum.  
   
Other financial assets 
The credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Company - comprising cash and cash equivalents, instalments 
and other receivables, but excluding related party balances - is from the default of the counterparty. Cash and cash 
equivalents are predominantly held in money market funds which have a rating of AAA, with the balance held with a 
counterparty rated A. Default on instalment payments results in the Company cancelling the underlying policy in order to 
reduce its exposure. An analysis of other receivables is shown in note 19. 
 
Under IFRS 9, the Company applies the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance for receivables from intermediaries, reinsurance contract assets and other financial assets. 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 

(d)  Credit risk (continued) 
 
On that basis, the loss allowances as at 31 December 2023 were determined as follows: 
 

Intermediaries
Intermediaries 

instalments 
Claims 

floats 
Loans to 

customers  Total 
   £m £m £m £m  £m 

As at 31 December 2022  0.8 0.1 0.9 0.4  2.2 
Increase in loss allowance  - - 0.2 -  0.2 
Allowance released in the year  (0.1) (0.1) - -  (0.2) 
As at 31 December 2023  0.7 - 1.1 0.4  2.2 

 
(e) Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company, although solvent, either does not have available sufficient financial resources 
to enable it to meet its obligations as they fall due, or can secure them only at excessive cost. The Company is exposed 
to liquidity risks arising from daily calls on its cash resources, notably from claims arising on its insurance contracts. 
There is therefore a risk that cash will not be available to settle liabilities when due. 
   
The liquidity risk needs to be balanced against the aim to match the maturity of financial assets with the estimate of the 
settlement of insurance liabilities and also optimise the yield on the investment portfolio.  
 
The Company manages its liquidity risk by having investment guidelines and maintains sufficient liquidity to be able to 
realise its financial assets at short notice if required. The Company may also make use of borrowing facilities if required. 
There are no significant amounts of insurance payables or reinsurance payables that fall due for payment by the 
Company other than within one year. 
 
Financial assets and insurance and reinsurance contracts 
The following tables provide a maturity analysis of the Company’s financial assets (including other financial assets, other 
receivables, and cash and cash equivalents) and insurance and reinsurance contracts which reflects the dates on which 
the cash flows are expected to occur. Liabilities for remaining coverage measured under the PAA have been excluded 
from this analysis. See notes 18 to 21. The tables below represent the contractual undiscounted cash flows for the 
disclosed financial assets: 

2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 
Assets Assets Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities 

Financial 
assets 

Other 
receivables 

Cash and cash 
equivalents

Reinsurance 
contracts 

Reinsurance 
contracts 

Insurance 
contracts 

 £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Within 1 year 211.6 358.9 129.8 250.9 - 478.6 

Between 1 and 2 years 262.0 70.0 - 123.6 - 235.7 

Between 2 and 3 years 290.8 - - 76.9 - 146.6 

Between 3 and 4 years 136.9 - - 45.2 - 86.2 

Between 4 and 5 years 31.4 - - 24.9 - 47.4 

Later than 5 years 214.9 - - 232.1 - 442.7 
Total 1,147.6 428.9 129.8 753.6 - 1,437.2 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
  
(e)  Liquidity risk (continued)  

 
2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 

Assets Assets Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities 

Financial 
assets 

Other
receivables

Cash and cash
equivalents

Reinsurance 
contracts 

Reinsurance 
contracts 

Insurance 
contracts 

 £m £m £m £m £m £m 
  Restated Restated Restated Restated

Within 1 year  215.0  258.5 100.6 299.6 0.7 595.5 
Between 1 and 2 years  191.3  95.8 - 130.3 0.3 259.0 
Between 2 and 3 years  221.4 - - 73.1 0.2 145.3 
Between 3 and 4 years  166.5 - - 38.9 0.1 77.4 
Between 4 and 5 years  47.5 - - 20.7 - 41.1 
Later than 5 years  236.6 - - 232.1 0.6 461.2 
Total 1,078.3 354.3 100.6 794.7 1.9 1,579.5 

 
Subordinated debt 
Liquidity risk can also have an impact on the Company’s ability to pay interest on and ultimately repay the subordinated 
debt of £119.6m. Below is a table which discloses the contractual cash flows for both interest and repayment of capital. 
The following table outlines the contractual cashflow maturities represented in the undiscounted cashflows of 
subordinated debt. 
 
The subordinated debt incurs interest at 3.94% above SONIA per annum, with the SONIA being reviewed quarterly 
 
From 2026 the interest rate will increase to 4.94% above SONIA per annum and will remain at this rate until maturity. 
Accrued interest is payable quarterly. The subordinated debt has a maturity date of 5 November 2046. This has been 
reflected in this calculation. The following table outlines the contractual cash flow for the subordinated debt: 
 

   2023 2022 

  Payment period         £m £m 

             

Within 1 year           10.4  8.1 

Between 1 and 5 years           41.6  32.3 

Later than 5 years           327.9  281.3 

Total           379.9  321.7  
 
Infrastructure equity funds 
The Company has investments in illiquid securities in line with the Company’s liquidity risk appetite. The Company is 
committed to investing a total of £6.1m (2022: £5.5m) in EUR denominated funds and £3.1m (2022: £2.2m) in USD 
denominated funds.  
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 
(e)  Liquidity risk (continued)  
    

Lease liabilities 
The amounts disclosed in the following table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows for lease liabilities. Liquidity 
risk can have an impact on the Company’s ability to pay the contractual cashflows as and when they fall due. 
 

    2023 2022 

Payment period        Note £m £m 

             

Within 1 year           0.5  0.9 

Between 1 and 5 years           1.1  2.7 

Later than 5 years           0.3  1.0 

Total undiscounted cashflows        1.9  4.6 

Total discounted cashflows         23, 29  1.8  4.3 

 
Other payables and deferred income 
All other payables and deferred income are payable within one year, see note 26. 

 
(f) Operational risk 

 
Operational risk arises from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, or from external events. It is 
diverse in nature and permeates all business activities but remains a distinct form of risk. 
   
The identification, assessment and evaluation, management, monitoring and reporting of risks rests with business 
managers. Risks are identified, and regularly assessed; the Board Risk Committee reviews the risks on a regular basis 
and for those falling outside the Company’s risk appetite monitors the remedial action to ensure compliance with the 
Company’s risk appetite. 
 

(g) Sustainability and Climate Change risk 
 
Sustainability risks relate to uncertain environmental, social or governance (‘ESG’) events which, if they occur, could 
have a significant impact on Ageas. These risks include the opportunities that may be available to Ageas because of 
changing environmental or social factors. Environmental risk relates to the quality and functioning of the natural 
environment and natural systems and our positive contribution towards it, including, for example, biodiversity loss, 
greenhouse gas emissions, climate change and renewable energy. Social risk relates to the rights, well-being and 
interests of people and communities, including human rights, labour standards, workplace health and safety, diversity 
and other elements. Governance relates to the Company’s Board structure, size, diversity, skills & independence, as 
well as executive pay, shareholder rights, disclosure of information, business ethics, bribery and corruption, an internal 
controls and risk management. 
 
Climate change is a cross-cutting risk with the potential to impact on all areas of the business. There are two widely 
recognised channels through which climate change risk can manifest: 
 
Physical risks 
The risks that arise from the physical effects of climate change. Physical risks can be broken down into two categories: 
 Acute physical risks: those which arise from certain events, especially weather-related events (e.g. floods and 

storms); 
 Chronic physical risks: those which arise from longer-term shifts in climate patterns (e.g. temperature changes, 

rising sea levels and changing soil moisture).  
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4 Risk management (continued)        
  

(g)  Sustainability and Climate Change risk (continued) 
 
Transition risks 
Financial risks which could arise from the transition to a low-carbon economy (net-zero emissions), including changes in 
policy risk, legal risk, technology risk, market sentiment risks and reputational risks. These changes will prompt a 
reassessment of a wide range of asset values, a change in energy prices, and a fall in income and creditworthiness of 
some borrowers. In turn, this entails potential credit losses for lenders and market losses for investors. 
 
There are also liability (litigation) risks that can arise from people or businesses seeking compensation for losses they 
may have suffered from the physical or transition risks from climate change outlined above or legal challenges taken to 
require a course of action. Whilst liability risks were previously identified as a separate channel, they are increasingly 
considered as a sub-category of physical and transition risks. 
 
The Company has in place a climate change strategy that aims to appropriately integrate climate risk considerations into 
the business and decision-making. The strategy serves to meet regulatory obligations, including embedding the 
Company’s approach to managing climate-related financial risks, whilst remaining sufficiently flexible to adapt to evolving 
regulatory guidance and scientific understanding. Execution of this strategy has continued during the year to fully embed 
the Company’s approach to managing climate-related financial risks with a number of actions taken to date. 
 

(h) Pension risk   
 
The Company is exposed to a number of risks through the Ageas Insurance Staff Pension Scheme, a defined benefit 
pension plan. The scheme is closed to new members and existing members ceased to accrued further benefits from 31 
December 2020.  
    
Volatility in market conditions 
The year end result under IAS 19 accounting can vary considerably depending on market conditions. The liabilities are 
measured by reference to bond yields whilst the assets of the scheme are invested in debt securities, equities and 
property. Changing investment markets together with the variable discount rate will lead to volatility in the net pension 
liability/asset in the balance sheet and in other comprehensive income.  
   
Selection of accounting assumptions 
The calculation of the defined benefit pension obligation is based on projecting future cash flows for many years into the 
future until all obligations have been settled. This means that the assumptions used can have a material impact on the 
liability and amount reported in the statement of financial position and in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. In practice the future experience may not be in line with the assumptions adopted in the 
valuation. 
    
Inflation rate risk 
Pensions accrued are linked to various inflation measures. Higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities. 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
 
(i) Capital management 

 
Aims of capital management policy  
The Company has established standards for the efficient management of capital, to meet the needs of the business and 
return on capital requirements of shareholders. This includes the capital required to support the risk appetite identified 
in the Company's Risk Policies including an additional risk margin, in full compliance with the requirements of the 
Prudential Regulation Authority ('PRA'). 
    
Definitions of capital management (and supporting terms) 
Capital Management is the collection of processes and activities undertaken to ensure that sufficient capital is maintained 
to ensure the organisation’s ability to meet its liabilities and ultimately ensure its survival, particularly in the case of 
significant losses arising from adverse events. 
   
Capital Management includes the assessment of capital required to support the Company's plans and objectives, the 
structure of its shareholders’ funds, arrangements to secure capital, and the ongoing monitoring of capital against 
business requirements. The Company is authorised by the PRA and regulated by the FCA and PRA. 
 
The Company is required to report to the PRA two measures of capital adequacy, a minimum capital requirement (‘MCR’) 
and a solvency capital requirement (‘SCR’).  
 
The MCR seeks to ensure that the Company has at least the minimum amount of capital to meet future expected claims 
obligations. The SCR reflects a level of eligible own funds that enables the Company to absorb a 1 in 200 event and 
provides reasonable assurance to policyholders that payments will be made as they fall due. 
 
The Company uses a Partial Internal Model to calculate its SCR, approval for which was given by the PRA in December 
2015. The solvency ratio at 31 December 2023 was 159% of the solvency capital requirement (‘SCR’) (2022: 157%). 
 
All regulatory capital requirements have been complied with during the year. 
 
Approach to capital management 
The Company provides input into the Ageas UK Business Plan which is reviewed and revised each year and then formally 
approved by the Company’s Board. A factor in the formulation of the Business Plan is the assessment of the capital 
required to support the business objectives (i.e. growth and profit targets) and the appropriateness of the supporting 
capital structure.   
 
Overall capital requirements and structure are assessed taking account of the following: 
 
 capital required to support the planned growth in new business and renewal premiums and profit targets;  
 the required rate of return on capital employed;  
 the required dividend; 
 Solvency II capital requirements; and 
 capital required to support the desired credit rating.        
  
In the event of failure to meet the capital requirements, the Company would expect to revert to its shareholders for an 
injection of funds or look to alternative methods for ensuring compliance.  
 
For pricing/underwriting purposes, capital is allocated to different classes of business using a risk-based methodology.  
Where product lines do not have the potential to achieve the required return on capital within the plan period the Company 
will consider discontinuing the products.  
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4 Risk management (continued) 
    
(j) Sensitivity to key business drivers  

 
The impact of the changes in key business drivers is each assumed to be a discrete change. All other factors will be 
unchanged. Some of these changes cannot be guaranteed to have a linear effect and as a range of other factors will 
impact the results they cannot be guaranteed to predict the detailed result. In addition, the risk management process 
that the Company operates will ensure that corrective action is implemented to mitigate or reverse the changes. 
    
The sensitivities below have been selected based on the significant effect they have on the profitability of the Company.
  
   
Interest yields change by 1.0% 
The Company will be exposed to the impact of interest yield changes on its assets and liabilities. Forecasting the impact 
on the market values of fixed interest debt securities will not be linear due to other factors including credit rating 
movement, anticipation of future interest rate changes, trading performance or market sentiment of the issuers. The 
impacts shown below are based on the premise that there will be a parallel shift of all interest rates for short and long 
term.  
   
For a decrease in yields there would be an increase in the market value of fixed interest debt securities. As the Company 
will normally hold its fixed interest debt securities to maturity, it will not suffer any reduction in its future cash flows. It will 
suffer a reduction in the yield on any future fixed interest debt securities that it purchases from surplus funds and the 
maturity of current investments. The financial assets designated as fair value through profit or loss have no maturity date 
and will not be directly impacted by changes in the interest rate. Further, the Company intends to hold the subordinated 
debt to maturity and the rate is a floating rate of interest. Hence, the impact of interest rate changes is minimal over the 
term of the debt. 
 

    2023 2022 

    £m £m 

      Restated

      

Decrease of 1% would cause an increase in net assets before tax    6.2 5.7 

Increase of 1% would cause a decrease in net assets before tax    (7.4) (7.2) 
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4 Risk management (continued) 
    
(k)   Sensitivity to key business drivers (continued) 

 
Expenses increase by 5.0%  
If all three expense areas (acquisition, administration and claims handling) were to increase by 5.0%, in addition to the 
impact on profit of the additional costs it would also increase the claims handling provision and result in the deferral of 
additional acquisition costs to the extent that these will be recovered by insurance revenues. 
 

    2023 2022 

    £m £m 

      Restated

      

Total impact on profit before tax      (16.7) (19.9) 

Total impact on net assets before tax      (16.7) (19.9) 
  
 
 
Gross loss ratio increases by 1.0%  
If the cost of claims were to increase the gross loss ratio (gross incurred claims as a proportion of insurance revenue) 
by 1.0% there would be a reduction in profits. It is assumed that a similar portion of claims costs would be recoverable 
from reinsurers. There would also be an increase in claims handling reserve as a proportion of the claims would be 
unpaid at the statement of financial position date. 
  

    2023 2022 

    £m £m 

     Restated 

      

Total impact on profit before tax      (7.3) (7.1) 

Total impact on net assets before tax      (7.3) (7.1) 
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5 Insurance service expense               
                 2023  2022 
               Note  £m  £m 
 Contracts measured under the PAA     
  - Change in estimates related to current service  21  927.7  1,021.6 
  - Change in estimates related to past service  21  (184.3)  (151.6) 
 Insurance acquisition cash flows immediately expensed  10  183.1  244.7 
 Total insurance service expense    926.5  1,114.7 

 

6 Net result from reinsurance contracts         
                 2023  2022 
               Note  £m  £m 
 Contracts measured under the PAA and GMM     
 Allocation of reinsurance premiums    282.1  298.7 
  - Recoveries of incurred claims and other insurance service expenses    (170.5)  (289.6) 
 Net result from reinsurance contracts  21  111.6  9.1 
                    
 Excluded from reinsurance revenue and amounts recoverable from reinsurers for incurred claims are non-distinct 

investment components relating to profit commission on reinsurance contracts of £124.0m (2022: £130.2m) generated 
from contractual terms that do not meet the definition of insurance but are nevertheless within the scope of IFRS 17. 
See note 21. 

 
 
 
 

7 Net investment Income           
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
                   Restated 
 Interest income:     
  - Debt securities interest income    25.1  16.7 
  - Fair value through profit or loss interest income    5.1  4.8 
  - Interest income on loans receivable from fellow group subsidiary    4.8  2.5 
  - Bank and other interest receivable    4.2  1.0 
 Investment property income    1.3  1.3 
 Foreign exchange movement on derivatives    (0.5)  1.0 
 Dividend income    0.2  0.5 
 Net realised gains on debt securities    0.1  - 
 Net unrealised loss on financial assets designated as fair value through profit or loss  (0.8)  (7.9) 
 Other investment (expense)/income  (0.6)  (0.1) 
 Total investment income  38.9  19.8 
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8 Net insurance finance result           
                 2023  2022 
               Note  £m  £m 
                    
 Insurance finance income/(expense) from insurance contracts issued     
 Interest accreted and changes in financial assumptions recognised in profit or loss  (38.0)  (19.8) 
 Effect of changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions recognised in OCI  (37.4)  241.6 
 Total insurance finance (expense)/income from insurance contracts issued  21  (75.4)  221.8 
                    
 Reinsurance finance income/(expense) from reinsurance contracts held     
 Interest accreted and changes in financial assumptions recognised in profit or loss  20.2  11.2 
 Effect of changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions recognised in OCI  19.6  (192.0) 
 Total reinsurance finance income/(expense) from reinsurance contracts  21  39.8  (180.8) 
                    
 Net insurance finance result  (35.6)  41.0 

 Analysed as:       
 Amounts recognised in profit or loss    (17.8)  (8.6) 

 Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income    (17.8)  49.6 

 

9    Profit on sale of line of business 
 
On 15 February 2022, the Company announced the sale of its Commercial Lines business to AXA Insurance UK PLC 
(‘AXA’), recognising initial consideration of £47.5m and contingent deferred consideration of £5m, realising a profit of 
£52.5m. The Company’s Commercial lines business transferred to AXA throughout 2022, while existing back book 
policies will remain with the Company in run-off.  
 
During 2023, the net consideration receivable in respect of this transaction was reduced by £4.3m to £0.7m, which was 
received during the year. 
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10 Total operating expenses             
                 2023  2022 
               Note  £m  £m 
                 Restated 
 Depreciation and amortisation:       
 - Investment property  14  0.3  0.3 
 - Right of use land and buildings  15  0.6  0.7 
 - Right of use cars  15  0.2  0.4 
 - Buildings  15  0.6  0.7 
 - Equipment and motor vehicles  15  0.6  0.4 
 - IT equipment  15  1.0  1.1 
 - Intangible assets  16  2.6  1.9 
 Impairment of intangible assets  16  3.6  - 
 Personnel expenses:       
 - Wages and salaries  28  90.0  85.9 
 - Social security costs  28  9.5  9.2 
 - Other pension costs  28  5.6  5.3 
 - Personnel expenses recharged to a fellow group subsidiary  28  (25.6)  (22.6) 
 Commission expenses    141.8  199.8 
 Other costs    77.8  87.5 

 Total operating expenses    308.6  370.6 
                    

 Analysed as:     
 Allocated to incurred claims and other expenses    95.9  92.6 
 Allocated to insurance acquisition expenses  5  183.1  244.7 
 Allocated to insurance service expense    279.0  337.3 
 Allocated to other operating expenses    29.6  33.3 

 Total operating expenses    308.6  370.6 
                    
 Auditors' remuneration    2023  2022 
 Auditors' remuneration is included within other costs above.  £m £m 
   
 Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s Annual report: 
 - in respect of the current year  0.5  0.3 
 - in respect of the prior year  0.1  0.2 
 Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for other services:     
 - Audit-related assurance services                                                                                      0.1  0.1 
 - Other services pursuant to regulation                                                                            0.1  0.1 
                 0.8  0.7 

 

11 Other finance costs             
                 2023  2022 
               Note  £m  £m 
                   Restated 
                    
 Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  22  10.3  6.4 
 Interest expense relating to lease liabilities  23, 29  0.1  0.1 
 Investment management fees    0.9  0.8 
 Total other finance costs    11.3  7.3 
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12 Income taxes           
                    
(a)  Amounts recognised in profit or loss    2023  2022 

                 £m  £m 
                 Restated 

 Current tax       
 UK corporation tax on profits of the year    1.5  1.5 
 Prior year over provision in respect of current tax    -  (0.4) 
                 1.5  1.1 

 Deferred tax       
 Origination and reversal of temporary differences    10.0  10.4 
 Effect of change in rate on deferred tax    0.4  2.3 
 Prior year over provision in respect of deferred tax    0.1  0.2 
                 10.5  12.9 
                    

 Total income tax charge    12.0  14.0 

 

(b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate       
 The tax assessed on the year is higher (2022: higher) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the United Kingdom 

of 23.5% (2022: 19.0%).  The differences are explained below:  
                    
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
                 Restated 
                    
 Profit before tax    48.1  61.0 
 Standard rate of corporation tax in year    23.5% 19.0% 
                    
 Expected tax charge based on the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK    11.3  11.6 
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes    0.3  0.4 
 Effect of variable tax rates    0.4  2.3 
 Income receivable not taxable    (0.1)  (0.1) 
                 11.9  14.2 
 Prior year (under)/over provision in respect of current tax    -  (0.4) 
 Prior year (under)/over provision in respect of deferred tax    0.1  0.2 
 Total income tax charge    12.0  14.0 

 

(c)  Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income       
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
                 Restated 
                    
 Deferred tax on change in fair value of debt securities    (7.1)  18.8 
 Deferred tax on change in fair value of insurance and reinsurance contracts held    3.9  (12.0) 
 Deferred tax on remeasurement of defined benefit pension obligation    0.9  6.9 
                 (2.3)  13.7 
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13 Investment in group undertakings           
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
 Investments in group undertakings are stated at cost       
 At 1 January and 31 December    -  - 
                    
 The Company has the following investment in group undertakings: 
                    
 Company      Activity     % Owned Ownership 
 HCP (Estate Management) Limited  Estate management    51 Control 
 

The registered address of HCP (Estate Management) Limited (‘HCP’) is Ageas House, Hampshire Corporate Park, 
Templars Way, Eastleigh, Hampshire, SO53 3YA. 
   
The Company has a 51% share (2022: 51%) in HCP, a company limited by guarantee with no share capital and is 
incorporated in the United Kingdom. HCP is structured as a separate vehicle for the maintenance and upkeep of shared 
real estate and the Company has only a residual interest in the net assets of HCP.  

 

14 Investment property             
          Land Buildings  Total 
          £m  £m  £m 
 Cost      
 Balance at 1 January 2022 5.3  15.9  21.2 
 Balance at 31 December 2022 5.3  15.9  21.2 
 Balance at 31 December 2023 5.3  15.9  21.2 
                    
 Accumulated depreciation      
 Balance at 1 January 2022 -  2.1  2.1 
 Depreciation charge for the year  -  0.3  0.3 
 Balance at 31 December 2022 -  2.4  2.4 
 Depreciation charge for the year  -  0.3  0.3 
 Balance at 31 December 2023 -  2.7  2.7 

              
 Carrying amounts      
 Balance at 31 December 2022 5.3  13.5  18.8 

 Balance at 31 December 2023 5.3  13.2  18.5 

 

The property relates to Deansleigh House, Bournemouth, and is let to a fellow group undertaking under an operating 
lease (details are included in note 32, Related party transactions). See also note 29, Operating leases, for the terms of 
the operating lease. 
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15 Property, plant and equipment    

         Right of use assets  Own use assets Total 

       Land and 
buildings 

Motor 
vehicles 

Land and 
buildings 

Equipment 
and motor 

vehicles 

IT 
equipment 

       
       
        £m  £m  £m £m  £m  £m 
 Cost         
 Balance at 1 January 2022   6.2  1.3  36.5 1.9  12.4  58.3 
 Acquisitions   -  0.3  - 0.7  0.6  1.6 
 Disposals   - (0.5) - - - (0.5) 
 Balance at 31 December 2022   6.2 1.1 36.5 2.6 13.0 59.4 
 Acquisitions   0.1 0.1 - 0.9 1.1 2.2 
 Disposals   (3.9) (0.1) - - - (4.0) 
 Balance at 31 December 2023   2.4 1.1 36.5 3.5 14.1 57.6 

          
 Accumulated depreciation     
 Balance at 1 January 2022   1.4  0.7  4.9  0.8  8.9  16.7 
 Depreciation charge for the year  0.7  0.4  0.7  0.4  1.1  3.3 
 Disposals   - (0.5) - - - (0.5) 
 Balance at 31 December 2022   2.1 0.6 5.6 1.2 10.0 19.5 
 Depreciation charge for the year  0.6 0.2 0.6 0.6 1.0 3.0 
 Disposals   (1.7) (0.1) - - - (1.8) 
 Balance at 31 December 2023   1.0 0.7 6.2 1.8 11.0 20.7 

        
 Carrying amounts   
 Balance at 31 December 2022   4.1 0.5 30.9 1.4 3.0 39.9 

 Balance at 31 December 2023   1.4 0.4 30.3 1.7 3.1 36.9 
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16 Intangible assets    
             

Software Licences Total              
              £m  £m £m 
 Cost        
 Balance at 1 January 2022       17.3  0.9 18.2 
 Acquisitions       19.6  - 19.6 
 Balance at 31 December 2022       36.9  0.9 37.8 
 Acquisitions       43.5  - 43.5 

 Balance at 31 December 2023       80.4  0.9 81.3 

               
 Accumulated amortisation        
 Balance at 1 January 2022       2.3  0.6 2.9 
 Amortisation charge for the year       1.8  0.1 1.9 
 Balance at 31 December 2022       4.1  0.7 4.8 

 Amortisation charge for the year       2.6  - 2.6 

 Impairment       3.6  - 3.6 

 Balance at 31 December 2023      10.3 0.7 11.0 

            
 Carrying amounts     
 Balance at 31 December 2022      32.8 0.2 33.0 
 Balance at 31 December 2023      70.1 0.2 70.3 
 

The carrying amount of software at 31 December 2023 includes externally purchased software of £0.2m (2022: £0.5m) 
comprising the cost of £1.9m (2022: £1.9m) less accumulated depreciation of £1.7m (2022: £1.4m). 
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17  Deferred tax 
   

A change to the main UK corporation tax rate, announced in the Budget on 3 March 2021, was substantively enacted on 
24 May 2021. This resulted in the rate increasing from 19% to 25% from 1 April 2023. The deferred tax asset recognised 
as at 31 December 2023 has been calculated using all substantively enacted rates. Deferred tax recognised in relation 
to trading losses is supported by future expected profits. 
  

 Recognised deferred tax         
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:         
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 

                  Restated 
 Property, plant and equipment      0.3  0.5 
 Provisions and other timing differences      0.5  0.8 
 Recognised losses      33.4  43.0 
 Debt securities      9.1  16.2 
 Insurance liabilities      (3.6)  (7.5) 
 Deferred tax asset      39.7  53.0 
                    
 Defined benefit pension plan      9.7  10.3 
 Deferred tax liability      9.7  10.3 
                    
 The 2022 figures have been restated to reflect the upfront expensing of its insurance acquisition cash flows and the 

movement in insurance liabilities.  

 
 

The balance is all non-current (2022: all non-current). There is no unrecognised deferred tax in respect of any 
unrecognised losses (2022: none). 

 

 Movement in temporary differences during the year         
            1 Jan Recognised 

in profit 
Recognised 

in OCI 

 31 Dec 

             2023  2023 

             £m  £m  £m  £m 
             Restated    
 Property, plant and equipment    0.5  (0.2)  -  0.3 
 Provisions and other timing differences    0.8  (0.3)  -  0.5 
 Recognised losses    43.0  (9.6)  -  33.4 
 Debt securities    16.2  -  (7.1)  9.1 
 Insurance liabilities    (7.5)  -  3.9  (3.6) 
 Defined benefit pension scheme    (10.3)  (0.3)  0.9  (9.7) 
 Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)    42.7  (10.4)  (2.3)  30.0 
           

Recognised 
in profit 

Recognised 
in OCI 

31 Dec 
2022 

            1 Jan 
            2022 
            £m  £m  £m  £m 
            Restated  Restated  Restated  Restated 

 Property, plant and equipment   1.1  (0.6)  -  0.5 
 Provisions and other timing differences   0.9  (0.1)  -  0.8 
 Recognised losses   59.3  (16.3)    43.0 
 Debt securities   (2.6)  -  18.8  16.2 
 Insurance liabilities   -  4.5  (12.0)  (7.5) 
 Defined benefit pension scheme   (16.9)  (0.3)  6.9  (10.3) 

 Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)   41.8  (12.8)  13.7  42.7 
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18 Financial assets             
               2023  2023  2023 
              Fair value 

through 
profit or 

loss 

Fair value 
through 

OCI 

Total 

              
              
              
               £m  £m  £m 
                    
 Debt securities  -  1,002.8  1,002.8 
 Derivative financial assets  0.2  -  0.2 
 Other financial assets  144.6  -  144.6 
 Total financial assets  144.8  1,002.8  1,147.6 
                    
               2022  2022  2022 
              Fair value 

through 
profit or 

loss 

Fair value 
through 

OCI 

Total 

              
              
              
               £m  £m  £m 
                    
 Debt securities  -  916.7  916.7 
 Derivative financial assets  -  -  - 
 Other financial assets  161.6  -  161.6 
 Total financial assets  161.6  916.7  1,078.3 

 

(a) Debt securities           
                 2023  2022 
               Note  £m  £m 
 Debt securities - fixed rate         
 UK Government bonds      72.6  96.2 
 Quasi Government bonds      196.0  194.8 
 Corporate bonds      734.2  625.7 
               4  1,002.8  916.7 
  

 The movements in fair value through OCI financial assets are as follows:       
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
                    
 Balance at 1 January     916.7  1,117.2 
 Foreign exchange/translation differences    -  0.3 
 Additions    280.8  220.0 
 Sales and redemptions    (230.7)  (335.9) 
 Fair value unrealised gains and losses    32.5  (82.6) 
 Amortisation of premiums and discounts    3.5  (2.3) 
 Balance at 31 December    1,002.8  916.7 
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18  Financial assets (continued) 
 
(a)  Debt securities (continued) 

 
The Company has a reinsurance agreement with ageas SA/NV, the ultimate parent holding company, to cede 40% of 
both prior and future claim liabilities under a loss portfolio transfer agreement and quota share treaties. The arrangement 
includes collateral from Ageas SA/NV in the form of investments that the Company retains legal ownership of the financial 
assets supporting the claims liabilities but transfers the risks and rewards of ownership to ageas SA/NV. Consequently, 
these financial assets are not recognised in the Company’s statement of financial position. The carrying amounts of the 
collateral are £635.5m (2022: £608.3m). 
 
As at 31 December 2023 the current portion of debt securities is £211.6m (2022: £215.0m) and the non-current portion 
is £791.2m (2022: £701.7m). 
     
The effective interest rate at the statement of financial position date on sterling debt securities is 3.11% (2022: 1.98%). 
      
The Company does not have direct exposure to sovereign debt other than to the UK government, and indirect exposure 
is carefully managed through conservative investment guidelines. 
      

 

(b)  Derivative financial assets           
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
                    
 Gross inflow          49.5  - 
 Gross outflow          (49.3)  - 
 Currency forward contracts          0.2  - 

 Notional amount          49.5  - 
                    

                 £m  £m 

 Current derivative assets      0.2  - 

 

The Company holds derivative financial instruments in order to mitigate the exchange risk arising from its USD, AUD 
and Euro denominated infrastructure equity investments. Currency forward contracts are contractual agreements to sell 
currency and buy sterling at a specific price and date in the future. The contracts are rebased monthly. See note 23(b) 
for details of derivative financial liabilities for prior year. 
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18 Financial assets (continued)             
                    
(c) Other financial assets       
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
                    
 Infrastructure equity    55.6  53.6 
 Property funds    62.6  80.4 
 Real estate debt    26.4  27.6 
 Other financial assets    144.6  161.6 
                    
 

Other financial assets are designated as fair value through profit or loss as it is the Company’s intention to manage the 
investments and evaluate performance on a fair value basis. The returns on these financial assets are the key 
performance measures against which they will be measured. 
 
The real estate debt consists of 18 underlying loans (2022: 18 underlying loans) with an average unexpired term of 3.3 
years (2022: 4.3 years) and average internal rate of return of 3.9% (2022: 3.9%). 
 

Other financial assets are non-current. 
  
 

(d)  Valuation of financial instruments          
    
The Company measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs 
used in making the measurements:           
         

 Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument. 
 Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived 

from prices). This category includes instruments valued using quoted market prices in active markets for similar 
instruments, quoted prices for similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active, or other 
valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data. 

 
The fair value for level 2 financial instruments is based upon quotes from pricing services where available. These pricing 
services derive prices based on an average of quotes provided by brokers. Where multiple quotes are not available, the 
fair value is based upon evaluated pricing services, which typically use proprietary cash flow models and incorporate 
observable market inputs, such as credit spreads, benchmark quotes and other trade data. If such services do not 
provide coverage of the asset, then fair value is determined manually using indicative broker quotes, which are 
corroborated by recent market transactions in similar or identical assets. 
 

 Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments 
where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have 
a significant effect on the instrument's valuation. The category includes instruments that are valued based on 
quoted prices for similar instruments where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required 
to reflect differences between the instruments. 

 
All financial assets designated as level 3 use unobservable inputs to measure fair value as relevant observable inputs 
are unavailable. The valuation is performed by the fund, either using its own internal valuation process, or is outsourced 
to an independent expert. The Company has adequate controls and processes in place to be satisfied that the valuations 
of these financial assets are materially correct at the reporting date as fund valuation policies are reviewed for 
reasonableness. Significant increases/(decreases) in any of the unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement 
of the entity’s property funds would result in a significantly lower/(higher) fair value measurement.   
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18 Financial assets (continued)               
                    
(d) Valuation of financial instruments (continued)           
 The table below analyses financial instruments, measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period, by the level in 

the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised:  
                    
 2023      Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
             £m  £m  £m  £m 
                    
 Debt securities      72.5  930.3  -  1,002.8 
 Derivative financial instruments      -  0.2  -  0.2 
 Other financial assets  -  68.3  76.3  144.6 
             72.5  998.8  76.3  1,147.6 
                    
 2022      Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
             £m  £m  £m  £m 
                  
 Debt securities      96.2  820.5  -  916.7 
 Derivative financial instruments      -  -  -  - 
 Other financial assets  -  76.9  84.7  161.6 
             96.2  897.4  84.7  1,078.3 
                    
 The classification and measurement of all assets and liabilities is detailed in note 31.   
                    
 The presentation of the 2022 figures includes real estate debt in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. 
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18 Financial assets (continued)       
                    
(e) Solely payments of principle and interest credit risk exposure       
                    
 The following table highlights the credit risk exposure, including significant credit risk concentrations, inherent in financial 

assets which meet the SPPI test as at 31 December 2023:  
                    
        

Gross carrying 
amount 
applying 
IFRS 9 

Loss allowance is measured 

Purchased or 
originated 

credit-impaired 
financial 
assets 

        

At an amount 
equal to 12-

month 
expected 

credit losses 
('ECL') 

At an amount equal to lifetime ECL 

        
Financial 

instruments for 
which credit 

risk has 
increased 

significantly 
since initial 

recognition but 
that are not 

credit-impaired 
financial 
assets 

Financial 
assets that are 
credit-impaired 
at the reporting 
date (but that 

are not 
purchased or 

originated 
credit-

impaired) 

Trade 
receivables, 

contract assets 
or lease 

receivables for 
which the loss 
allowances are 

measured in 
accordance 
with IFRS 9 
(paragraph 

5.5.15) 

        
        
        
        
        
        
        
        
        £m £m £m £m £m £m 
                    
 AAA        214.1  214.1  -  -  -  - 

 AA    149.4  149.4  -  -  -  - 

 A    454.3  454.3  -  -  -  - 

 BBB    185.0  185.0  -  -  -  - 

 Total investment grade    1,002.8  1,002.8  -  -  -  - 
 Below investment grade    -  -  -  -  -  - 

 Unrated    428.9  428.9  -  -  -  - 

 Total    1,431.7  1,431.7  -  -  -  - 
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18 Financial assets (continued)             
                    

(f) Unrealised gains and losses in fair value on debt securities through other comprehensive income 

                    
             2023  2022 

             Fair value 

Unrealised 
(loss) or 

gain Fair value 
Unrealised 

gain 

             £m  £m  £m  £m 
                    
 Debt securities           
 Assets fair valued at below amortised cost    735.9  (43.1)  869.9  (69.0) 
 Assets fair valued at or above amortised cost    266.9  6.6  46.8  - 
 Total    1,002.8  (36.5)  916.7  (69.0) 

                    

 

Gross unrealised loss position for various 
percentages of amortised cost           

 Between 90% and 100%    940.7  (17.5)  714.0  (29.3) 
 Below 80% and 90%    14.8  (2.1)  202.7  (39.7) 
 Below 80%    47.3  (16.9)  -  - 
 Total    1,002.8  (36.5)  916.7  (69.0) 

 

(g)  Unrealised gains and losses in fair value on assets designated as fair value through profit or loss 

                    
             2023  2022 

             Fair value 
Unrealised 

(loss) Fair value 
Unrealised 

(loss) 

             £m  £m  £m  £m 

                  
 Assets designated as fair value through profit or loss    144.8  (0.8)  161.6  (7.9) 
 Total    144.8  (0.8)  161.6  (7.9) 
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19 Other receivables             
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
               Note   Restated 
                  
 Receivables from intermediaries    4  316.8  244.9 
 Amounts due from group undertakings      89.7  81.2 
 Accrued interest income      14.1  12.5 
 Deferred other charges      7.5  12.7 
 Other receivables      0.8  3.0 
 Total other receivables      428.9  354.3 

 

Other receivables include amounts owed from intermediaries in line with the accounting policy choice outlined in note 1 
(s). Insurance receivables (such as broker debt and salvage) are now reported within the relevant insurance contract 
line within note 21. 
 
Amounts due from group undertakings include an outstanding loan due from Ageas Retail Limited of £70.0m (2022: 
£70.0m). There are currently no amounts outstanding on the loan facility to Ageas (UK) Limited (2022: £nil). 
 
The Company has issued loans to Ageas (UK) Limited and Ageas Retail Limited, with maximum capacities of £15.0m 
and £100.0m respectively. On 20 March 2023 the Company restated both loans to extend the maturity dates to 7 
September 2025. Both loans bear interest at 1.75% above the Bank of England base rate. There is also a non-utilisation 
charge at 0.56% of the undrawn portion of each loan facility.  
 
Except for the loans issued to Ageas (UK) Limited and Ageas Retail Limited mentioned above, amounts due from group 
undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand in cash. 
 
All remaining balances are receivable within one year (2022 restated: £258.5m current, £25.8m non-current). 

  

 

20 Cash and cash equivalents             
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
                    
 Cash at bank      129.8  100.6 

 

The effective interest rate for the year 2023 on short term bank deposits was 3.25% per annum (2022: 1.0% per annum), 
with an average maturity of one day. 
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21 Insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance contract assets         
                    
 The amounts disclosed within this note include LPT reinsurance contracts held measured under the GMM, which is 

further explained in Note 2 and does not result in different results under GMM and PAA.  
                    
         2023  2022 

         Assets Liabilities Net Assets Liabilities Net 

       Note  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

                    

  - Liability for incurred claims 4  -  1,437.2  1,437.2  -  1,579.5  1,579.5 

  - Liability for remaining coverage  -  690.1  690.1  -  497.8  497.8 
 Insurance contracts issued  -  2,127.3  2,127.3  -  2,077.3  2,077.3 
                    
  - Asset for incurred claims 4  753.6  -  753.6  794.7  1.9  792.8 
  - Asset for remaining coverage  135.1  0.1  135.0  180.9  0.1  180.8 
 Reinsurance contracts held  888.7  0.1  888.6  975.6  2.0  973.6 
 

The Company has a reinsurance agreement with ageas SA/NV, the ultimate parent holding company, to cede 40% of 
both prior and future claim liabilities under a loss portfolio transfer agreement and quota share treaty. See note 32 for 
more information. 
 
Excluded from reinsurance revenue and amounts recoverable from reinsurers for incurred claims are non-distinct 
investment components relating to profit commission on reinsurance contracts of £124.0m (2022: £130.2m) generated 
from contractual terms that do not meet the definition of insurance but are nevertheless within the scope of IFRS 17. See 
note 21 iii) and iv). 
 
Total insurance contracts issued is split £478.6m current and £958.6m non-current (2022: £595.5m current, £984.0m 
non-current). Reinsurance contracts held is split £250.9m current and £502.7m non-current (2022: £299.6m current, 
£495.1m non-current). 
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21 Insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance contract assets (continued)       
                    

(i) Roll-forward of net asset or liability for insurance contracts issued showing the liability for remaining coverage 
and the liability for incurred claims as at 31 December 2023 

           2023 

         Note 
Liabilities for remaining 

coverage 
Liabilities for incurred 

claims 
Total 

           

Excluding 
loss 

component  
Loss 

component  

Estimates 
of the 

present 
value of 

future cash 
flows  

Risk 
adjustment  

 

     £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 
               
Portfolios of insurance contracts which are liabilities  497.8  -  1,484.6  94.9  2,077.3 
Net insurance contract liabilities as at 1 January 2023  497.8  -  1,484.6  94.9  2,077.3 
                    
Insurance revenue    (1,109.3)  -  -  -  (1,109.3) 
                    
Incurred claims and other insurance service expense  5  -  -  905.3  22.4  927.7 
Changes to liabilities for incurred claims  5  -  -  (139.8)  (44.5)  (184.3) 
Insurance service expenses    -  -  765.5  (22.1)  743.4 
                    
Insurance service result    (1,109.3)  -  765.5  (22.1)  (365.9) 
                    
Insurance finance income  8  -  -  69.8  5.6  75.4 
                    
Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and OCI  (1,109.3)  -  835.3  (16.5)  (290.5) 
                    
Premiums received  1,301.6  -  -  -  1,301.6 
Claims and other insurance service expense paid   -  -  (961.1)  -  (961.1) 
Total cash flows  1,301.6  -  (961.1)  -  340.5 
                    
Net insurance contract liabilities as at 31 December 2023  690.1  -  1,358.8  78.4  2,127.3 
                    
Portfolios of insurance contracts which are liabilities  690.1  -  1,358.8  78.4  2,127.3 
Net insurance contract liabilities as at 31 December 2023  690.1  -  1,358.8  78.4  2,127.3 
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21 Insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance contract assets (continued) 
                    

(ii) Roll-forward of net asset or liability for insurance contracts issued showing the liability for remaining coverage 
and the liability for incurred claims as at 31 December 2022 

           2022 

         Note 
Liabilities for remaining 

coverage 
Liabilities for incurred 

claims 
Total 

           

Excluding 
loss 

component  
Loss 

component  

Estimates 
of the 

present 
value of 

future cash 
flows  

Risk 
adjustment  

 

     £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 
               
Portfolios of insurance contracts which are liabilities  572.9  -  1,644.7  115.5  2,333.1 
Net insurance contract liabilities as at 1 January 2022  572.9  -  1,644.7  115.5  2,333.1 
                    
Insurance revenue  (1,159.6)  -  -  -  (1,159.6) 
                    
Incurred claims and other insurance service expense  5  -  -  991.1  30.5  1,021.6 
Changes to liabilities for incurred claims  5  -  -  (116.0)  (35.6)  (151.6) 
Insurance service expenses  -  -  875.1  (5.1)  870.0 
                    
Insurance service result  (1,159.6)  -  875.1  (5.1)  (289.6) 
                    
Insurance finance income  8  -  -  (206.3)  (15.5)  (221.8) 
                    
Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and OCI  (1,159.6)  -  668.8  (20.6)  (511.4) 
                    
Premiums received  1,084.5  -  -  -  1,084.5 
Claims and other insurance service expense paid   -  -  (828.9)  -  (828.9) 
Total cash flows  1,084.5  -  (828.9)  -  255.6 
                    
Net insurance contract liabilities as at 31 December 2022  497.8  -  1,484.6  94.9  2,077.3 
                    
Portfolios of insurance contracts which are liabilities  497.8  -  1,484.6  94.9  2,077.3 
Net insurance contract liabilities as at 31 December 2022  497.8  -  1,484.6  94.9  2,077.3 
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21 Insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance contract assets (continued) 
                    

(iii) Roll-forward of net asset or liability for reinsurance contracts held showing the asset for remaining coverage 
and the asset for incurred claims as at 31 December 2023 

           2023 

         Note 
Assets for remaining 

coverage 
Assets for incurred 

claims 
Total 

           

Excluding 
loss 

component  
Loss 

component  

Estimates 
of the 

present 
value of 

future cash 
flows  

Risk 
adjustment   

     £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 
               
Portfolios of reinsurance contracts which are assets  180.9  -  746.4  48.3  975.6 
Portfolios of reinsurance contracts which are liabilities  (0.1)  -  (1.8)  (0.1)  (2.0) 
Net reinsurance contract assets as at 1 January 2023  180.8  -  744.6  48.2  973.6 
                    
Reinsurance revenue  6  (282.1)  -  -  -  (282.1) 
                    
Amounts recoverable for incurred claims and other expenses  -  -  220.6  9.9  230.5 
Changes to amounts recoverable for incurred claims  -  -  (40.8)  (19.1)  (59.9) 

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers for incurred 
claims 6  -  -  179.8  (9.2)  170.6 
                    
Effect of changes in non-performance risk of reinsurers  -  -  (0.1)  -  (0.1) 
Net result from reinsurance contracts held  6  (282.1)  -  179.7  (9.2)  (111.6) 
           
Reinsurance finance income  8  4.1  -  31.9  3.8  39.8 
                    
Investment components  8  (124.0)  -  124.0  -  - 
                    
Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and OCI  (402.0)  -  335.6  (5.4)  (71.8) 
                    
Premiums paid  356.2  -  -  -  356.2 
Amounts received from reinsurance  -  -  (369.4)  -  (369.4) 
Total cash flows  356.2  -  (369.4)  -  (13.2) 
                    
Net reinsurance contract assets as at 31 December 2023  135.0  -  710.8  42.8  888.6 
                    
Portfolios of reinsurance contracts which are assets  135.1  -  710.8  42.8  888.7 
Portfolios of reinsurance contracts which are liabilities  (0.1)  -  -  -  (0.1) 
Net reinsurance contract assets as at 31 December 2023  135.0  -  710.8  42.8  888.6 
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21 Insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance contract assets (continued) 
                    

(iv) Roll-forward of net asset or liability for reinsurance contracts held showing the asset for remaining coverage 
and the asset for incurred claims as at 31 December 2022 

           2022 

         Note 
Assets for remaining 

coverage 
Assets for incurred 

claims 
Total 

           

Excluding 
loss 

component  
Loss 

component  

Estimates 
of the 

present 
value of 

future cash 
flows  

Risk 
adjustment   

     £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 
               
Portfolios of reinsurance contracts which are assets  256.9  -  787.7  61.9  1,106.5 
Portfolios of reinsurance contracts which are liabilities  (0.2)  -  -  -  (0.2) 
Net reinsurance contract assets as at 1 January 2022  256.7  -  787.7  61.9  1,106.3 
                    
Reinsurance revenue  6  (298.7)  -  -  -  (298.7) 
                    
Amounts recoverable for incurred claims and other expenses  -  -  262.4  11.2  273.6 
Changes to amounts recoverable for incurred claims  -  -  25.4  (9.5)  15.9 

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers for incurred 
claims 6  -  -  287.8  1.7  289.5 
                    
Effect of changes in non-performance risk of reinsurers  -  -  0.1  -  0.1 
Net result from reinsurance contracts held  6  (298.7)  -  287.9  1.7  (9.1) 
                    
Reinsurance finance income  8  (18.4)  -  (147.0)  (15.4)  (180.8) 
                    
Investment components  8  (130.2)  -  130.2  -  - 
                    
Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and OCI  (447.3)  -  271.1  (13.7)  (189.9) 
                    
Premiums paid  371.4  -  -  -  371.4 
Amounts received from reinsurance  -  -  (314.2)  -  (314.2) 
Total cash flows  371.4  -  (314.2)  -  57.2 
                    
Net reinsurance contract assets as at 31 December 2022  180.8  -  744.6  48.2  973.6 
                    
Portfolios of reinsurance contracts which are assets  180.9  -  746.4  48.3  975.6 
Portfolios of reinsurance contracts which are liabilities  (0.1)  -  (1.8)  (0.1)  (2.0) 
Net reinsurance contract assets as at 31 December 2022  180.8  -  744.6  48.2  973.6 
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21 Insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance contract assets (continued) 
                          
(v) Analysis of claims development – gross of reinsurance - as at 31 December 2023 
                          
     Accident Year 
     2014  2015  2016  2017  2018  2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total 
     £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m £m £m £m £m £m 
Estimates of undiscounted gross cumulative claims            
At end of accident year  780.1 913.8 1,095.0 980.5 855.6 877.0 793.2 801.5 958.2 883.9 883.9 
- one year later  793.3 1,172.0 1,179.0 945.7 946.5 864.3 751.7 795.3 937.2 937.2 
- two years later  817.5 968.4 1,101.8 952.5 876.3 891.7 734.3 762.5 762.5 
- three years later  840.0 928.8 1,024.0 922.3 848.3 846.1 690.3 690.3 
- four years later  812.1 891.0 1,016.2 911.1 809.2 760.6 760.6 
- five years later  780.0 899.6 1,002.8 875.4 815.0 815.0 
- six years later  777.2 892.4 995.9 877.5 877.5 
- seven years later  773.2 890.1 998.2  998.2 
- eight years later  769.5  889.7  889.7 
- nine years later  766.8    766.8 

Total undiscounted 
incurred claims  766.8  889.7  998.2 877.5 815.0 760.6 690.3 762.5 937.2 883.9 8,381.7 

Cumulative payments to 
date  (768.0) (854.8) (939.8)  (857.6) (781.2) (709.4) (601.5) (585.8) (622.1) (387.9) (7,108.1) 

Gross undiscounted best 
estimate liabilities  (1.2) 34.9 58.4  19.9 33.8 51.2 88.8 176.7 315.1 496.0 1,273.6 
                          
Effect of the risk adjustment for non-financial risk    78.4 
                          
Gross undiscounted liabilities for incurred claims for prior accident years    443.5 
Effect of discounting    (358.3) 
                          

Gross liabilities for incurred claims in the statement of financial position    1,437.2 
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21 Insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance contract assets (continued) 
                          
(vi) Analysis of claims development – net of reinsurance - as at 31 December 2023 
                          
     Accident Year 
     2014  2015  2016  2017  2018  2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total 
     £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m £m £m £m £m £m 
Estimates of undiscounted net cumulative claims            
At end of accident year  746.3  878.2  1,002.1 921.2 818.3 588.6 453.3 466.5 579.1 524.1 524.1 
- one year later  754.8  1,006.1  1,062.8 920.8 829.4 568.4 434.2 459.1 543.5 543.5 
- two years later  778.3  899.6  998.7 883.9 769.6 563.8 420.9 441.2 441.2 
- three years later  777.0  880.3  931.1 826.5 715.2 521.8 395.1 395.1 
- four years later  758.4  835.2  887.3 791.6 647.0 481.0 481.0 
- five years later  737.4  834.2  867.9 751.8 636.4 636.4 
- six years later  729.0  825.8  859.5 750.0 750.0 
- seven years later  725.1  823.3  849.5 849.5 
- eight years later  721.0  822.5  822.5 
- nine years later  716.9    716.9 

Total undiscounted 
incurred claims  

716.9 
 

822.5 
 

849.5 
 

750.0 
 

636.4 
 

481.0 
 

395.1 
 

441.2 
 

543.5 
 

524.1 
 

6,160.2 

                 

Cumulative payments to 
date  

(718.6) 
 

(792.2) 
 

(857.7) 
 

(760.7) 
 

(626.9) 
 

(452.5) 
 

(349.2) 
 

(348.0) 
 

(372.4) 
 

(229.6) 
 
(5,507.8) 

                 

Net undiscounted best  
estimate liabilities  

(1.7) 
 

30.3 
 

(8.2) 
 

(10.7) 
 

9.5 
 

28.5 
 

45.9 
 

93.2 
 

171.1 
 

294.5 
 

652.4 

                          

Effect of the risk adjustment for non-financial risk    35.6 
                          

Net undiscounted liabilities for incurred claims for prior accident years    96.6 
Effect of discounting    (101.0) 
                          
Net liabilities for incurred claims in the statement of financial position    683.6 
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22 Loans and borrowings from group companies           
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
 Non-current liabilities           

 Subordinated debt        119.6  119.5 

 

The subordinated debt incurs interest at 3.94% above SONIA per annum, with the SONIA rate being reviewed quarterly. 
From 2026 the interest rate will increase to 4.94% above SONIA per annum and will remain at this rate until maturity. 
Accrued interest is payable quarterly. During the year, the Company paid £9.9m (2022: £5.8m) in accrued interest. The 
subordinated debt has a maturity date of 5 November 2046.  
 
Interest charged to the statement of profit or loss during the year was £10.3m (2022: £6.4m). See note 11.  
 
Related party transactions are disclosed in note 32. 

 

23 Other financial liabilities           
                 2023  2022 
               Note  £m  £m 
                    
 Lease liabilities    29  1.8  4.3 

 Derivative financial liabilities      -  1.1 

 Total other financial liabilities      1.8  5.4 

 

(a)  Lease liabilities             
                    
 Future lease payments are due as follows:         
            Minimum 

lease 
payments 

 

Interest 

 

Present 
value 

 

Present 
value 

               
               
            2023  2023  2023  2022 
             £m  £m  £m  £m 
                    
 Current liabilities               
 No later than one year  0.5  -  0.5  0.8 
                    
 Non-current liabilities               
 Between one and five years  1.1  (0.1)  1.0  2.5 
 Later than five years  0.3  -  0.3  1.0 
             1.9  (0.1)  1.8  4.3 
                    
 During the year, the Company made £1.0m (2022: £1.0m) of minimum lease payments and £0.1m (2022: £0.1m) was 

recognised as interest expense in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in respect of leases.  
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23 Other financial liabilities (continued)           
                    
(b)  Derivative financial liabilities           
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
                    
 Gross inflow          -  46.6 
 Gross outflow          -  (47.7) 
 Currency forward contracts          -  (1.1) 

 Notional amount          -  46.6 
                    

                 £m  £m 

 Current derivative liabilities      -  1.1 

 

The Company holds derivative financial instruments in order to mitigate the exchange risk arising from its USD, AUD 
and Euro denominated infrastructure equity investments. Currency forward contracts are contractual agreements to sell 
currency and buy sterling at a specific price and date in the future. The contracts are rebased monthly. See note 18 for 
details of derivative financial assets. 

 

24 Other provisions               
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
                  
 Balance at 1 January           19.9  19.8 
 Released during the year          (0.8)  (1.5) 
 Provisions used during the year          (1.0)  (0.4) 
 Increase in provisions during the year          0.9  2.0 
 Balance at 31 December           19.0  19.9 

 

Included in the amounts above are provisions for expected future levy expenses in respect of the Motor Insurers’ Bureau 
of £17.2m (2022: £17.2m) and a liability in respect of expected dilapidation costs of £0.6m (2022: £0.6m). 
 
The balance is split £17.5m current and £1.5m non-current (2022: £18.2m current and £1.7m non-current). 
 
There is some uncertainty around the timing of outflows in relation to the future levy expenses provision as it is dependent 
on future events. The dilapidation cost provision will be utilised upon expiry of the specific lease to which it relates. 

 

25 Current tax             
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
                    
 Current tax asset        1.6  2.9 

                    

 The current tax balance represents the amount of income taxes receivable in respect of the current year as well as a 
residual balance in respect of prior years.  
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26 Other payables and deferred income         
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
                  Restated 
                    
 Other payables and accrued expenses      35.7  32.9 
 Amounts due to group undertakings      2.5  2.0 
 IPT, VAT and other taxes payable      41.6  30.3 
 Total Other payables and deferred income      79.8  65.2 

 

Amounts due to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand in cash. All amounts are 
payable within one year (2022: within one year). 
 
Restatement is due to directly attributable costs being recognised in the liability for incurred claims. 
  

 

27 Shareholders' equity               
                    
(a) Share capital                 
         Ordinary shares  Deferred shares  Total 
         2023  2022  2023  2022  2023  2022 
   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 
                    

 In issue at 1 January and 31 December  274.8  274.8  3.0  3.0  277.8  277.8 

 

At 31 December 2023, the issued and authorised share capital comprised 274,823,432 ordinary shares (2022: 
274,823,432) and 3,000,000 deferred shares (2022: 3,000,000). The ordinary and deferred shares have a par value of 
£1 each and are fully paid up. 
   
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one 
vote per share at meetings of the Company. Deferred shares do not carry the right to vote and holders are not entitled 
to participate in profits of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets, except 
that deferred shareholders participate only to the extent of the face value of the shares. On winding up, the deferred 
shares would rank second, repaying the holders the amount of capital paid up. 
 

(b)   Dividends 
 
The Company did not declare or pay dividends during the year (2022: two dividends totalling £76.3m, representing 
27.80 pence per ordinary share). 
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28 Staff numbers and costs           
                    

 

The following disclosure represents the total number of persons employed by the Company, excluding any employees 
seconded to any fellow group companies. 

                    
 The total number of employees at the year end, analysed by category, was as follows: 
                    
                 2023  2022 
                 No.  No. 
                    
 Business acquisition  663  544 
 Claims handling  692  660 
 Administration  503  597 
                 1,858  1,801 

 The full time equivalent number of employees was as follows: 
                 2023  2022 
                 No.  No. 
                    
 Business acquisition  634  516 
 Claims handling  633  603 
 Administration  480  572 

                 1,747  1,691 
 

 The average number of employees during the year was as follows: 
                 2023  2022 
                 No.  No. 
                    
 Total number of employees   1,830  1,898 

 Full time equivalent number of employees  1,719  1,784 
  

 The aggregate payroll costs in respect of these persons were as follows:     
                 2023  2022 
               Note  £m  £m 
                  
                    
 Wages and salaries  10  90.0  85.9 
 Social security costs  10  9.5  9.2 
 Other pension costs  10  5.6  5.3 
 Personnel expenses recharged to a fellow group subsidiary  10  (25.6)  (22.6) 

                 79.5  77.8 
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29 Operating leases              
                    

 Leases as lessor         

 The Company leases office premises to a fellow group undertaking under the terms of a lease which expires in 2029. 

 At 31 December, the future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases are as follows:  

                    

                 2023  2022 

                 £m  £m 

                    

 Less than one year    1.3  1.3 

 Between one and five years    5.2  5.2 

 More than five years    0.6  1.9 

 Total    7.1  8.4 

                    

 Leases as lessee         

 
The Company leases motor vehicles and land and buildings with the lease term depending on the underlying lease 
term. The amounts disclosed within the statement of profit or loss and statement of financial position is as follows:  

                    

                 2023  2022 

               Note  £m  £m 

                    

 Right-of-use assets  15  1.8  4.6 

 Lease liabilities  23  1.8  4.3 

 Amounts recognised in profit or loss  11, 23  0.1  0.1 
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30  Employee benefits 
 
Defined contribution pension plans 
The Company operates two defined contribution schemes. The Ageas Group Personal Pension scheme is for the 
majority of its employees and the Groupama Personal Pension Plan is in respect of a small number of employees. The 
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Company in independently administered funds. The pension 
costs in respect of members of these funds represents contribution payable by the Company to the funds and amounted 
to £5.6m (2022: £5.3m). The Company has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. 
 
Defined benefit pension plan 
The Company operates a funded defined benefit pension scheme, the Ageas Insurance Staff Pension Scheme, in 
respect of staff who were members of the scheme on 31 December 1997 and staff of group companies who had 
contractual rights to join the scheme after this date. In 2001 active members of the Northern Star Insurance Company 
Limited Superannuation Fund, whose employment transferred to the Company, joined the scheme for future service on 
a benefit structure mirroring that in their previous scheme and were granted past service benefits in respect of a bulk 
transfer payment received from that scheme. The scheme closed for future accrual with effective from 1 January 2021. 
 
The assets of the scheme are held in a separate trust fund. Assets are invested under trustee guidelines. Contributions 
are determined by a qualified actuary on the basis of triennial valuations using the projected unit method. A full actuarial 
valuation was carried out at 31 December 2020. At that date, the market value of the assets of the scheme amounted to 
£232.8m and was sufficient to cover 105.0% of the benefits that had accrued to members, after allowing for the expected 
future increases in earnings. As at 31 December 2021 the market value of the assets of the scheme amounted to 
£230.4m and was sufficient to cover 126.5% of the present value of the defined benefit obligation. As at 31 December 
2022 the market value of the assets of the scheme amounted to £144.7m and was sufficient to cover 125.5% of the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation. As at 31 December 2023 the market value of the assets of the scheme 
amounted to £143.2m and was sufficient to cover 124.0% of the present value of the defined benefit obligation. 
 
The expense recognised in the statement of profit or loss in respect of the defined benefit pension scheme in 2023 was 
£0.9m (2022 expense: £0.4m). 
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30 Employee benefits (continued)             
                    
 Defined benefit pension asset recognised in the statement of financial position     
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
                    
 Opening net asset  29.4  48.3 
 Income recognised in the statement of profit or loss  0.9  0.4 
 Contributions paid  -  0.3 
 Remeasurements recognised through other comprehensive income  (2.7)  (19.6) 
 Net defined benefit pension asset recognised in the statement of financial position  27.7  29.4 

 

Assumptions 
 
The formal valuation of the Ageas Insurance Staff Pension Scheme was updated by a qualified independent actuary on 
an IAS 19 (Revised) basis as at 31 December 2023. The major assumptions used by the actuary were: 
  

                 2023  2022 
 Valuation method        Projected Projected 
                 unit  unit 
                 %  % 
                    
 Pensions accrued before 1 October 2012 rate of increase:      
 - Post 1988 Non GMP (ex Bishopsgate members)      5.00 5.00 
 - Post 1988 Non GMP (ex Northern Star members)      5.00 3.55 
 Pensions accrued from 1 October 2012 rate of increase      2.50 2.50 
 Discount rate      4.45 4.75 
 RPI inflation assumption      3.30 3.40 
 

The future life expectancy assumption for a current male pensioner aged 65 is 22.1 years (2022: 22.3 years), for a current 
female pensioner aged 65 it is 24.5 years (2022: 24.8 years), for a future male pensioner aged 65 in 20 years from the 
accounting date it is 23.4 years (2022 restated: 23.7 years), and for a future female pensioner aged 65 in 20 years from 
the accounting date it is 25.9 years (2022: 26.2 years). 
 
The assumptions used by the actuary are considered to be the best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuarial 
assumptions, which, due to the timescale covered, may not necessarily be borne out in practice.  
 
The defined benefit scheme is closed to new members. Under the projected unit method of valuing the liabilities of the 
scheme, the current service cost will increase as the members of the scheme approach retirement. 
 
At 31 December 2023 the estimated duration of the defined benefit obligation was 13 years (2022: 14 years). 
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30 Employee benefits (continued)         
                    
 Changes in the present value of the obligations                
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
                    
 Present value of defined benefit obligation at 1 January    115.3  182.2 
 Interest expense    5.4  3.2 
 Current service cost    0.5  0.5 
 Benefits and other payments    (5.5)  (5.3) 
 Remeasurement on obligation    (0.1)  (65.3) 

 Present value of defined benefit obligation at 31 December    115.5  115.3 

 

 Changes in the fair value of scheme assets       
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
                    
 Fair value of scheme assets at 1 January    144.7  230.5 
 Interest on assets    6.8  4.1 
 Employer contributions    -  0.4 
 Benefits and other payments    (5.5)  (5.3) 
 Remeasurement on scheme assets    (2.7)  (85.0) 
 Fair value of scheme assets at 31 December    143.2  144.7 
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30 Employee benefits (continued)                
                                       

 Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position and      
 statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income     
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
                    
 Fair value of scheme assets at 31 December  143.2  144.7 
 Present value of the defined benefit obligation at 31 December  (115.5)  (115.3) 

 Net defined benefit asset recognised in statement of financial position  27.7  29.4 
                    
 Current service cost  (0.5)  (0.5) 
 Interest expense  (5.4)  (3.2) 
 Interest on assets  6.8  4.1 

 (Income)/expense recognised in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income  0.9  0.4 
                    
 Remeasurement on scheme assets during the year  (2.7)  (85.0) 
 Remeasurement on defined benefit obligations during the year  0.1  65.3 

 Total remeasurement during the year  (2.6)  (19.7) 
                  
 Opening remeasurements through OCI  34.7  54.5 
 Total remeasurement during the year  (2.6)  (19.8) 

 Closing remeasurements through OCI  32.1  34.7 
                                  
 Interest on scheme assets  (6.8)  (4.1) 
 Remeasurement on scheme assets  2.7  (85.0) 
 Actual return on scheme assets  (4.1)  (89.1) 
                    
 Remeasurement on defined benefit obligations due to change in assumptions     
  - Remeasurement on defined benefit obligations due to change in demographic assumptions  (3.5)  (1.8) 
  - Remeasurement on defined benefit obligations due to change in financial assumptions  4.2  (68.9) 
 Experience remeasurement on defined benefit obligation  (0.8)  5.4 
 Total remeasurement on defined benefit obligation  (0.1)  (65.3) 
                    
 Asset mix of scheme assets             
 Equity securities          -  20.9 
 Debt securities          109.1  101.1 
 Real estate          18.4  20.7 
 Other          15.7  2.0 
 Fair value of scheme assets at 31 December         143.2  144.7 
                    

 All assets are designated as level 2 financial instruments and are valued using inputs which are observable (i.e. 
developed using market data) for the asset, either directly or indirectly.  
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30 Employee benefits (continued)         
                    
 Sensitivity analysis     
                    
 The following potential changes to two of the key actuarial assumptions at the reporting date, holding other assumptions 

constant, would have affected the defined benefit pension scheme obligation by the amounts shown below:  
                    
             2023  2022 
             Increase Decrease  Increase Decrease 
             £m  £m  £m  £m 
                    
 Discount rate (1% movement)  14.1  (17.6)  14.4  (17.5) 
 Future pension growth (1% movement)  (5.8)  5.7  (5.6)  5.9 
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31 Assets and liabilities – classification and measurement   
                    
 Assets and liabilities have been classified and valued in accordance with the requirements of international accounting 

standards. For financial assets the basis of valuation is set out in note 1 and classification into Levels is detailed in note 
18. 

 
 
                    
 Other assets and liabilities valued at fair value are in accordance with the principles set out in IFRS 13: Fair Value 

Measurement. Where the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value is a 
reasonable approximation of fair value, then the fair value information is not disclosed. The basis applied is summarised 
below: 

 

 
                    
                    
                    
                    
               2023  2023  2023 
               £m  £m  £m 

               

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss/OCI 

Cost/ 
amortised 

cost 

Total 
carrying 

value 

 Assets       
 Investment in group undertakings  -  -  - 
 Investment property  -  18.5  18.5 
 Property, plant and equipment  -  36.9  36.9 
 Intangible assets  -  70.3  70.3 
 Employee benefits  27.7  -  27.7 
 Deferred tax assets  -  39.7  39.7 
 Financial assets  1,147.6  -  1,147.6 
 Reinsurance contract assets  (239.2)  1,127.9  888.7 
 Current tax asset  -  1.6  1.6 
 Other receivables  -  428.9  428.9 
 Cash and cash equivalents  -  129.8  129.8 
 Total assets  936.1  1,853.6  2,789.7 
                    
 Liabilities       
 Insurance contract liabilities  (280.0)  2,407.3  2,127.3 
 Reinsurance contract liabilities  -  0.1  0.1 
 Financial liabilities:       
  - Loans and borrowings from group companies  -  119.6  119.6 
  - Other  -  1.8  1.8 
 Other provisions  -  19.0  19.0 

 Deferred tax liability  -  9.7  9.7 
 Other payables and deferred income  -  79.8  79.8 
 Total liabilities  (280.0)  2,637.3  2,357.3 
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31 Assets and liabilities – classification and measurement (continued)   
                    
               2022  2022  2022 
               £m  £m  £m 

               

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss/OCI 

Cost/ 
amortised 

cost 

Total 
carrying 

value 

 Assets Restated Restated Restated 

 Investment in group undertakings  -  -  - 
 Investment property  -  18.8  18.8 
 Property, plant and equipment  -  39.9  39.9 
 Intangible assets  -  33.0  33.0 
 Employee benefits  29.4  -  29.4 
 Deferred tax assets  -  53.0  53.0 
 Financial assets  1,078.3  -  1,078.3 
 Reinsurance contract assets  (230.0)  1,205.6  975.6 
 Current tax asset  -  2.9  2.9 
 Other receivables  -  354.3  354.3 
 Cash and cash equivalents  -  100.6  100.6 

 Total assets  877.7  1,808.1  2,685.8 
                    
 Liabilities       
 Insurance contract liabilities  (270.7)  2,348.0  2,077.3 
 Reinsurance contract liabilities  -  2.0  2.0 
 Financial liabilities:       
  - Loans and borrowings from group companies  -  119.5  119.5 
  - Other  -  5.4  5.4 
 Other provisions  -  19.9  19.9 
 Deferred tax liability  -  10.3  10.3 
 Other payables and deferred income  -  65.2  65.2 
 Total liabilities  (270.7)  2,570.3  2,299.6 
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32 Related party transactions 
 
The Company has a related party relationship with the directors and other key management personnel of the Company. 
 
Transactions with directors and other key management personnel 
 
In addition to their salaries, the Company also provides non-cash benefits to directors and other key management 
personnel, and contributes to a post-employment defined benefit plan or a defined contribution scheme on their behalf.   

 

 The remuneration of the directors in respect of services to the Company consists of:  2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
                    
 Short-term employee benefits  0.6  0.6 

             0.6  0.6 
                    
 The remuneration of the key management personnel in respect of services to the 

Company consists of: 
  2023  2022 

   £m  £m 
                    
 Short-term employee benefits  1.1  0.9 

             1.1  0.9 

                  
 In respect of the highest paid director:  2023  2022 
                 £m £m 
                    
 Short-term employee benefits  0.3  0.3 
                 0.3  0.3 

 

One of the Company’s directors is not included in the disclosure above as no recharge is received for their services. 
 
Under the defined benefit scheme, the highest paid director’s accrued pension at the year end was £nil (2022: £nil). 
 
Benefits accrued for one key management person under the defined benefit pension scheme (2022: one). 
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32 Related party transactions (continued) 
 
Group reinsurance 
 
The Company has a reinsurance agreement with ageas SA/NV, the ultimate parent holding company, to cede 40% of 
both prior and future claim liabilities under a loss portfolio transfer agreement and quota share treaty. 
 
The transactions have been undertaken on a funds withheld basis and the premiums, claims and expenses which have 
been reinsured out of the Company under the arrangements during the year are: 

 

             2023 2022 
                 £m  £m 
                  Restated 
                    
 Net result from reinsurance contracts  (1.4)  50.6 
 Net investment income  (16.2)  (9.2) 
 Reinsurance finance income/(expense) from reinsurance contracts held  12.6  5.6 
 Other finance income/(expense)  0.4  0.4 
                    
 The balances in the statement of financial position relating to this arrangement are: 

                    
 Reinsurance contract assets  626.2  649.1 
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32 Related party transactions (continued) 
   
Other related party transactions 
   
In the ordinary course of business, the Company carries out transactions with related parties as defined in IAS 24, 
Related Party Disclosures. Material transactions are set out below. 
 
The Company's immediate parent undertaking is Ageas (UK) Limited. The Company has subordinated debt with Ageas 
Insurance International N.V., the Company’s intermediate parent undertaking, Ageas Insurance International N.V. also 
provides the Company with services in relation to Solvency II. 
 
The Company has issued loans to Ageas (UK) Limited and Ageas Retail Limited, with maximum capacities of £15.0m 
and £100.0m respectively. On 20 March 2023 the Company restated both loans to extend the maturity dates to 7 
September 2025. Both loans bear interest at 1.75% above the Bank of England base rate. There is also a non-utilisation 
charge at 0.56% of the undrawn portion of each loan facility. As at 31 December 2023 the outstanding loan due from 
Ageas Retail Limited was £70.0m (2022: £70.0m). There are currently no amounts outstanding on the loan issued to 
Ageas (UK) Limited (2022: £nil). See note 22. 
 
The majority of fellow subsidiary company transactions and balances are with Ageas Retail Limited, an insurance broker 
which is wholly owned by Ageas (UK) Limited. The Company pays Ageas Retail Limited commission in relation to 
premiums brokered by Ageas Retail Limited. The Company also receives rental income from Ageas Retail Limited as it 
is the sitting tenant within Deansleigh House, Bournemouth. In addition, the Company seconds employees to Ageas 
Retail Limited with the aggregate payroll costs in respect of these persons being £25.6m for 2023 (2022: £22.6m). 
 
The Company provides administration and claims settlement services to its fellow subsidiary, Ageas Services (UK) 
Limited. 
 
The Company holds a 51% controlling interest in HCP (Estate Management) Limited, which is limited by guarantee (the 
amount of the guarantee is £1) and has been formed without share capital. 

 

             2023 2023 2022 2022 
             Comp. Financial Comp. Financial 
             income Position income Position 
             £m  £m  £m  £m 
                    

            
(Expense)/ 

income 
(Liability)

/ asset 
(Expense)/ 

income 
(Liability)

/ asset 
                Restated Restated 
                
 Immediate parent and intermediate holding company   45.7  (117.2)  34.9  (139.2) 
 Fellow subsidiary company transactions and balances  24.7  89.5  13.8  81.4 
 Defined benefit pension scheme transactions and balances  1.4  27.7  0.9  29.4 
 Total  71.8  -  49.6  (28.4) 
                    
 Prior year comparatives have been restated due to valuation differences resulting from the implementation of IFRS 17. 

See note 2.  
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33 Capital commitments             
                 2023  2022 
                 £m  £m 
                    
 Authorised and contracted for        9.2  7.7 
                 9.2  7.7 
                    
 Authorised and contracted items relate to committed investments in infrastructure equity funds. 
 

34   Parent company 
 
The Company’s immediate parent company is Ageas (UK) Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales 
whose registered address is Ageas House, Hampshire Corporate Park, Templars Way, Eastleigh, Hampshire, SO53 
3YA. 
 
The Company’s results are consolidated into the financial statements of the ultimate holding company ageas SA/NV, a 
company incorporated in Belgium whose registered address is Avenue du Boulevard 21, 1210 Brussels.   
 
Copies of the above financial statements can be obtained from the Company Secretary, Ageas Insurance Limited, Ageas 
House, Hampshire Corporate Park, Templars Way, Eastleigh, Hampshire, SO53 3YA. 
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Opinion on the financial statements 
 

In our opinion: 

 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2023 and 
of its profit for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards; and 
 the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

 

We have audited the financial statements of Ageas Insurance Limited (the ‘Company’) for the year ended 31 December 2023 
which comprise the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of financial position, the 
statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements, including material 
accounting policy information. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and UK adopted international accounting standards. 
 

Basis for opinion 
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (‘ISAs (UK)’) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Audit Committee.  
 

Independence 
 

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed by the Board of Directors on 21 June 2021 to 
audit the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total 
uninterrupted engagement including retenders and reappointments is three years, covering the years ended 31 December 
2021 to 31 December 2023. We remain independent of Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’) Ethical 
Standard as applied to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. The non-audit services prohibited by that standard were not provided to the Company. The non-audit statutory 
services provided to the company that are not disclosed in the financial statements are: 

 Limited assurance services in respect of Data Provision under the Civil Liability Act 2018. 
 Solvency II UK audit.  
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Conclusions relating to going concern 
 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in 
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the Company’s 
ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included: 

 An evaluation of management’s going concern assessment. As a part of this we reviewed the Company’s capital 
position to the solvency capital ratio. 

 An inspection of the Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (‘ORSA’) to support our understanding of the key risks faced 
by the Company, its ability to continue as a going concern, 

 A review and challenge of the Company’s current plans and budgets included in its forecasts, assessing growth 
assertions against published market assumptions as well as other assumptions relating to overheads, commissions, 
investment income and claims. 

 An assessment of the impact of climate change on the Company’s activities and its financial position based on our 
knowledge of the Company. 

 A consideration the accuracy of the Directors forecasting ability by comparing previous reporting periods budgets to 
current year actuals. 

 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of 
at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant 
sections of this report. 
 

Overview 
 

 
Key audit 
matters 

 

 2023 2022 2021 

1. Valuation of net insurance contract provisions   

2. Adoption of IFRS 17 and restatement of comparatives  X X 

 
Materiality 

Company financial statements as a whole 
 
£16.6m (2022: £16m) based on 1.5% Insurance Revenue (2022: 1.5% of Gross Written Premium) 
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An overview of the scope of our audit 
Our audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Company and its environment, including the Company’s system 
of internal control, and assessing the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. We also addressed the risk 
of management override of internal controls, including assessing whether there was evidence of bias by the Directors that 
may have represented a risk of material misstatement. 
 
Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not 
due to fraud) that we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of 
resources in the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters. 
 

Key audit matter   How the scope of our audit addressed the 
key audit matter 

1. Valuation of Net 
Insurance contract 
provisions excluding 
the liability and assets 
for remaining 
coverage which are 
accounted for under 
IFRS 17 from 1 
January 2023. 
 
Gross Insurance 
contract provisions 
excluding liability for 
remaining coverage. 
On 31 December 2023 
amounted to £1,427m 
(31 December 2022: 
£1,558m).  
 
Reinsurance contracts 
held asset excluding 
asset for remaining 
coverage. 
On 31 December 2023 
amounted to £753.6m 
(31 December 2022: 
£794.7m). 

Net insurance contract provisions are made 
up of the liability and asset for incurred 
coverage (‘LIC’/’AIC’) and liability/asset of 
remaining coverage (‘LRC’/’ARC’). The key 
audit matter excludes the LRC and ARC 
elements.  
 
The valuation of LIC and AIC are key areas 
of estimation within the financial statements. 
There is a risk that inappropriate 
assumptions and judgements were made 
when determining the liability and asset 
amounts. 
 
The valuation of LIC and AIC is reliant on: 
 

 The accuracy and completeness of 
relevant claims data being input into 
actuarial models. 

 The application of appropriate actuarial 
techniques, judgements, and 
assumptions, including the consistency 
in development of paid to incurred ratios 
by peril and accident year. 

 Deriving a discount rate that is in line 
with the requirements of IFRS 17. 

 A risk adjustment amount consistent 
with the principles of IFRS 17. 

 
We have therefore determined the valuation 
of net insurance contract provisions 
excluding the liability and asset for 
remaining coverage to be a key audit 
matter. 
 

In assessing the valuation of the insurance 
contract provisions, we performed the following 
procedures: 
 

 Independent reprojections:  
We performed independent reprojections on the 
LIC using our own models for certain classes of 
business. The determination of which classes to 
reproject was based on a risk assessment as 
well as a consideration of the evidence available 
from other alternative data analysis procedures. 
 

 Methodology and assumptions:  
We performed a review of the methodology, 
significant judgements and assumptions applied 
by the Company’s in-house actuarial team in the 
booked amounts for perils not reprojected, 
including periodic payment and risk adjustment.  
 

 Challenge of key assumptions: 
Our audit approach responded to the increased 
uncertainty in the current economic 
environment, making explicit allowance for 
inflation in our independent re-projections. We 
applied our industry experience to support our 
consideration and challenge of the Company’s 
reserving methodology, key judgements, and 
assumptions for the most significant and 
subjective classes of business. 
 

 Tests of details:  
We tested the accuracy of the policy data 
elements relied upon within actuarial models in 
our independent actuarial reprojections of the 
LIC and AIC. We compared samples of claims 
case reserves to appropriate documentation, 
such as reports from loss adjusters to test the 
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valuation of individual claims reserves focused 
on portfolios deemed higher risk, whether that 
be due to size, complexity or uncertainty. From 
a completeness perspective, we reconciled the 
policy level claims listing subject to sampling, to 
the actuarial triangles used for our independent 
reprojections, with the output then reconciled to 
the financial statements. 
 

 Disclosure:  
We considered the adequacy of the Company’s 
disclosures in respect of the sensitivity of the 
valuation of LIC, and key assumptions applied 
to key areas of judgement and estimation 
uncertainty. 
 

 Asset for incurred claims:  
We tested the Company’s reinsurers’ share of 
the LIC by performing a re-calculation in line 
with the reinsurance agreements. We 
performed a methodology, and assumptions 
review on the risk adjustment included in the 
AIC. 
 
Key observations: 
We consider that the data used in the net 
insurance contract provisions, as well as 
assumptions and judgements made by 
management in valuing the net insurance 
contract provisions are appropriate. 
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Key audit matter  How the scope of our audit addressed the key 
audit matter 

2. Adoption of IFRS 
17 and restatement of 
comparatives.  

On 1 January 2023, the Company 
transitioned to IFRS 17 'Insurance 
Contracts' which replaced, IFRS 4 
'Insurance Contracts'.  
 
The impact of transition is disclosed in 
Note 2 to the financial statements in 
accordance with the requirements of IAS 
8 'Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors'. 
 
These are the first financial statements 
released under the new standard and we 
have deemed the transition including the 
adjustments, and the restated primary 
statements for 1 January 2022 and 31 
December 2022 to be a significant risk 
and therefore a key audit matter. The 
significant risk relates to: 
 
 The determination of the transition 

approach adopted. 
 The risk that management’s 

methodology and assumptions being 
out of line with the standard’s 
measurement models, in particular, 
managements’ use of the Premium 
Allocation Approach (‘PAA’) for 
groups that are not automatically 
eligible and the General 
measurement model (‘GMM’) for the 
loss transfer portfolio agreement. 

 
The Company adopted the fully 
retrospective approach with some areas 
using the modified retrospective approach 
on transition to IFRS 17. 
 
The Company applied the PAA to the 
measurement of groups of insurance 
contracts issued and groups of 
reinsurance contracts held at the 
transition date with the exception of a loss 
transfer portfolio agreement that was 
measured under the general 
measurement model.  
 
The Company determined the discount 
rates to apply to future cash flows using 
the “top-down” approach. The risk 
adjustment calculations are complex and 
based on actuarial techniques.                    
 
 

In assessing the transition and adjustments to the 
balances as at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 
2022, we performed the following procedures: 
 
 Process understanding:  
Obtained an understanding of management’s 
processes in generating IFRS 17 financial 
information, including for the comparative financial 
information disclosed in the financial statements. 
 
 Accounting Policies:  
Reviewed position papers prepared by 
management, including the key policy choices in 
the implementation of IFRS 17. We assessed 
whether the position papers were in line with the 
requirements of IFRS 17. 

 
 Transition:  
Reviewed the transition approach and the 
adjustments from IFRS 4 to IFRS 17 on 1 January 
2022 and 31 December 2022 against the 
requirements of IFRS 17.  
 
With the assistance of our actuarial specialists, we 
reviewed the adjustments relating to discounting 
and risk adjustment and checked if these were in 
line with the requirements of the standard.    
 
We reviewed management’s assessment for PAA 
eligibility criteria for contracts with terms of over 12 
months. We reviewed the application the standard 
for a loss transfer portfolio agreement under the 
general measurement model. 

 
 Data:  
We performed testing over key data flows within 
the IFRS 17 reporting processes. 
 
 Presentation and Disclosure:  
We tested the new disclosures including the 
disclosures related to the transition impact and 
reconciled the disclosures to underlying accounting 
records and supporting data. We also checked 
whether the disclosures were in line with IFRS 17. 
 
Key observations: 
As a result of the procedures performed, we have 
no matters to report related to the adoption of IFRS 
17 and restatement of comparatives. 



Ageas Insurance Limited 
Company registration number 354568 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Ageas 
Insurance Limited 
 

106 

Furthermore, the new standard introduced 
a number of significant changes, including 
new requirements regarding the 
presentation and disclosure of insurance 
contracts and related account balances 
and classes of transactions.  
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Our application of materiality 
 
We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect of misstatements. 
We consider materiality to be the magnitude by which misstatements, including omissions, could influence the economic 
decisions of reasonable users that are taken on the basis of the financial statements.  
 
In order to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that any misstatements exceed materiality, we use a lower 
materiality level, performance materiality, to determine the extent of testing needed. Importantly, misstatements below these 
levels will not necessarily be evaluated as immaterial as we also take account of the nature of identified misstatements, and 
the particular circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their effect on the financial statements as a whole.  
 
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole and performance 
materiality as follows: 
 

 Company financial statements 
 2023 

£m 
2022 
£m 

Materiality £16.6m £16m 
Basis for 
determining 
materiality 

1.5% of Insurance Revenue 1.5% of Gross Written Premiums 

Rationale for the 
benchmark applied 

A benchmark of Insurance Revenue was used 
as the Company’s principal activity is the 
provision of general insurance and thus the 
collection of premiums (insurance revenue) 
with an obligation to pay claims. We have 
determined insurance revenue as an 
appropriate benchmark as it is stable and a 
key performance indicator for the users of the 
financial statements.. 

A benchmark of Gross written premiums was 
used as the Company’s principal activity is the 
provision of general insurance and thus the 
collection of premiums with an obligation to 
pay claims. We have determined gross written 
premiums as an appropriate benchmark as it 
is stable and a key performance indicator for 
the users of the financial statements. 

Performance 
materiality 

£12.45m £12m 

Basis for 
determining 
performance 
materiality 

75% of Materiality 
 
 

75% of Materiality 
 
 

Rationale for the 
percentage applied 
for performance 
materiality 

This was reflective of our perceived risk of the 
financial statements containing 
misstatements. 

This was reflective of our perceived risk of the 
financial statements containing 
misstatements. 
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Specific materiality 
 
The Company had in place a significant amount of quota share reinsurance in the year ended 31 December 2023, similar to 
the prior year, including a 40% overarching quota share agreement. These arrangements have the effect of transferring 
insurance revenue and claims to reinsurers. Due to the extent of these arrangements, we felt it was appropriate to set a level 
of materiality for the financial statements as a whole to determine the extent of audit procedures to be applied over insurance 
revenue and claims before these reinsurance arrangements. A lower, specific, level of materiality has been set for 
transactions and balances not affected by quota share reinsurance. We determined materiality for those items not affected 
by quota share reinsurance to be items £8.6m (2022: £7.7m) based on 2% of net assets. We further applied a performance 
materiality level of 75% of specific materiality to ensure that the risk of errors exceeding specific materiality was appropriately 
mitigated. 
 
Reporting threshold 
 
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all individual audit differences in excess of £830,000 
(2022: £800,000). We also agreed to report differences below this threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on 
qualitative grounds. 
 

Other information 
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the course 
of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements 
themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard.  
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Other Companies Act 2006 reporting 
 
Based on the responsibilities described below and our work performed during the course of the audit, we are required by the 
Companies Act 2006 and ISAs (UK) to report on certain opinions and matters as described below. 
 

Strategic report and 
Directors’ report  

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 
 the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors’ report for the 

financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements; and 

 the Strategic report and the Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance 
with applicable legal requirements. 

Matters on which we are 
required to report by 
exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the 
Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or 
 the Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting 

records and returns; or 
 certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 
 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 
As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do 
so. 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements. 
 
Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud. 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with 
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent 
to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below: 
 
Non-compliance with laws and regulations 
We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the financial 
statements from our general commercial and sector experience, and through discussion with the Directors and other 
management, and discussed with the Directors and other management the policies and procedures regarding compliance 
with laws and regulations. We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any 
indications of non-compliance throughout the audit. 
 
Legal and regulatory frameworks determined most significant are: 

 Companies Act of 2006. 
 Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) and Financial Conduct Authority (FCA). 
 UK adopted international accounting standards. 

 
Non-compliance could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the 
imposition of fines or litigation. We performed procedures including: 

 Obtaining an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the Company’s operations. 
 Obtaining an understanding of the control environment in monitoring compliance with laws and regulations. 
 Inspecting correspondence with the PRA and FCA.  
 Enquiring of the Directors and other management of instances of non-compliance. 
 Testing year end compliance with solvency requirements. 
 Assessing the adequacy of disclosures within the financial statements.  
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Fraud 
We assessed the susceptibility of the financial statements to material misstatement, including fraud. Our risk assessment 
procedures included: 

 Enquiring of those charged with governance, internal audit, and management as to whether they have knowledge of 
any actual, suspected, or alleged fraud. 

 Review of Board, and Audit Committee meeting minutes, as well as correspondence with regulatory authorities 
throughout the year. 

 Identifying any unusual journal entries based on criteria that are indicative of a high risk of fraud. 
 Discussion amongst the engagement team as to how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements. 
 Considered the Company’s processes to consider external policyholder fraud. 
 Obtain an understanding of the control environment in monitoring compliance with laws and regulations. 

 
Based on our risk assessment, we considered the area’s most susceptible to fraud to be valuation of insurance contract 
liabilities, valuation of reinsurance contract assets, transition to IFRS 17 including adjustments to 1 January 2022 and 31 
December 2022, management override of controls and manual journal entries related to revenue recognition.  
 
Our procedures in respect of the above included: 

 Engaged actuarial specialists to review the assumptions and methodology applied by the Company in the valuation 
of insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance contract assets and performed reprojections and methodology and 
assumptions reviewed for some lines of business on the balance of insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance 
contracts held to verify the methods utilised are appropriate and are not indicative of management bias. 

 Evaluating a sample of journal entries throughout the year, which met a defined risk criterion, by agreeing to supporting 
documentation. 

 Evaluating a sample of manual revenue journal entries to third party information to ensure that they are not indicative 
of management bias. 

 Engaged tax experts over the valuation, existence, and accuracy of deferred tax assets.  
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We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members 
who were all deemed to have appropriate competence and capabilities and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-
compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit. 
 
Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the financial statements, recognising 
that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery, misrepresentations or through collusion. There 
are inherent limitations in the audit procedures performed and the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations 
is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we are to become aware of it. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 

Use of our report 
 
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies 
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 
 
 
 
 
Alexander Barnes (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor 
London, UK  
Date:  
 
 
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number OC305127). 
 
 

08 April 2024
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